Molecular Characterization of the Tumor and Metastasis Suppressor Activity of Plakoglobin in Mutant p53 Expressing Carcinoma Cells

by

Mahsa Alaee

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Experimental Oncology

Department of Oncology University of Alberta

© Mahsa Alaee, 2018

Abstract

Plakoglobin (γ -catenin) is an Armadillo protein family member and a paralog of β catenin with similar dual cell-cell adhesion and signaling activities. These proteins interact with cadherins at the membrane and mediate cell-cell adhesion. In the cytoplasm, they interact with an array of cellular protein partners to regulate signaling pathways involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Recently, our laboratory identified p53 as one of the interacting partners of plakoglobin. p53 is a tumor suppressor and transcription factor that in response to various stress signals activates physiological pathways that regulate cell cycle arrest, DNA repair and apoptosis. More than half of all cancers harbor a mutant form of p53. In addition to the loss of tumor suppressor activity, a number of most frequent mutant p53 proteins acquire oncogenic properties and are known as gain of function mutants. Here, we first assessed the in vitro tumor and metastasis suppressive functions of plakoglobin in high-grade ovarian serous carcinoma cell lines expressing wild type or mutant p53 proteins with different adhesion profiles. We showed that plakoglobin-deficient ovarian cancer cells that express N-cadherin and mutant p53 were highly migratory and invasive, whereas those that express mutant p53 and plakoglobin were not. Exogenously expressed plakoglobin colocalized with cadherins in adhesion complexes, interacted with wild type and mutant p53 proteins and significantly reduced growth, migration and invasion of ovarian cancer cells expressing N-cadherin and mutant p53 in vitro.

Next, we mapped the interacting domain of p53 and plakoglobin and showed that p53/plakoglobin interaction was mediated by the DNA binding domain of p53 and

ii

the C-terminal transactivation domain of plakoglobin. We showed that wild type plakoglobin and wild type p53 acted synergistically to significantly reduce *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion of transfectants relative to parental cells. Additionally, the C-terminal of plakoglobin was necessary for its invasion suppressor activity.

We examined the effects of one of the most frequently expressed p53 mutations $p53^{R175H}$ (Arginine 175 to Histidine) on β -catenin accumulation and transcriptional activation and their modifications by plakoglobin co-expression. $p53^{R175H}$ expression in plakoglobin null cells increased total and nuclear levels of β -catenin and its transcriptional activity. Co-expression of plakoglobin in these cells promoted β -catenin's proteasomal degradation, and decreased its nuclear levels and transactivation. Wnt/ β -catenin targets, *c-MYC* and *S100A4* were upregulated in $p53^{R175H}$ cells and were downregulated when plakoglobin was co-expressed. The plakoglobin- $p53^{R175H}$ cells also showed significant reduction in their migration and invasion *in vitro*.

Taken together, the experimental evidence from this PhD project strongly suggest that underlying mechanisms for tumor and metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin may be its interaction with mutant p53 proteins and down-modulation of β -catenin-TCF axis.

Dedicated

to

My Mother and Father For their unconditional love and endless support

> My grandparents For being my first teachers

> > &

My love, Alireza

For his continuous encouragement

Acknowledgements

I would like to seize this opportunity to thank my supervisor, Dr. Manijeh Pasdar for her continuous support, guidance and mentorship during my Ph.D. studies. I truly appreciate her time and effort in training me, reviewing the results and answering my questions. I am grateful that she has provided me with the opportunity to learn and expand my knowledge. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members, Dr. Richard Fahlman and Dr. Jack Tuszynski for their guidance, advice and encouragement.

I am truly grateful to all the members of the Pasdar lab; Zhi Zhong Xu, Lucas Churchill, Ghazal Danesh, Vahedah Mehrabani, Amarjot Padda and Kristina Nool, for their assistance in performing the experiments and their constructive comments.

I would also like to thanks Dr. Lynn Postovit and Dr. Yangxin Fu for their generosity in providing us with ovarian cancer cell lines and Dr. Roger Leng for providing us with p53 constructs. I am also thankful to Dr. Alan Underhill and Dr. Roseline Godbout who have kindly supported my graduate scholarship applications by writing reference letters. Exceptional thanks to all the members of the Department of Oncology for all of their help. I sincerely thank Yvette Labiuk, Gweneta Mendoza, Jennifer Freund and Cathy Walsh for their continuous support. Special thanks to my dear graduate friends whom I have learned a lot from them.

My sincere gratitude goes to all the agencies that funded my research including: Alberta Cancer Foundation, The Cathy and Harold Roozen Endowment Entrance Award, Dr. Herbert Meltzer Memorial Fellowship, John & Rose McAllister Graduate Scholarship, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry 75th Anniversary Award, Charlotte Pokotilo Ovarian Cancer Research Award and Women and Children Health Research Institute (WCHRI) Graduate Studentship Grant.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my parents for their never-ending love, support and encouragement. Thanks for always being there for me. You are the very reason I breathe. I also am deeply grateful to my husband, Alireza, for being kind, patient and extremely supportive. It would not have been possible for me to continue without his advice.

Abstract	II
Dedication	IV
Acknowledgments	V
Table of contents	VII
List of tables	XIII
List of figures	XIV
Abbreviations	XVI
Chapter one – Introduction	1
1.1. Cancer	2
1.2. Cadherin mediated cell-cell adhesion	3
1.3. Plakoglobin (gamma-, γ-catenin)	5
1.3.1. Initial discovery of plakoglobin	5
1.3.2. Plakoglobin and regulation of cell-cell adhesion	6
1.3.3. Plakoglobin and regulation of epithelial to mesenchymal tran	sition7
1.4. Catenin-mediated signal transduction	8
1.5. Plakoglobin and regulation of cell signaling	9
1.5.1. Plakoglobin and the Wnt signaling pathway	11
1.5.2. Plakoglobin and Src signaling	14
1.5.3. Plakoglobin and Ras signaling	16
1.5.4. Plakoglobin and the Hippo signaling pathway	17
1.6. Tumor and metastasis suppressor activities of plakoglobin	
1.6.1. Plakoglobin and inhibition of the oncogenic signaling of β -ca	atenin18

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.6.2. Plakoglobin and modulation of intracellular growth and metastasis regulating	
molecules	20
1.6.3. Plakoglobin and regulation of gene expression	22
1.7. Plakoglobin and restoration of mutant p53 tumor suppressor function	23
1.7.1. Tumor suppressor protein p53	24
1.7.2. Mutant p53 proteins	28
1.8. Earlier studies and research hypothesis	31
Chapter two – Plakoglobin reduces the <i>in vitro</i> growth, migration and invasion of ova	rian
cancer cells expressing N-cadherin and mutant p53	42
2.1. Introduction	44
2.2. Materials and methods	46
2.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions	46
2.2.2. Transfection	46
2.2.3. N-cadherin knockdown	46
2.2.4. Immunoblot Analysis	47
2.2.5. Immunofluorescence	49
2.2.6. Immunoprecipitation	49
2.2.7. Growth, migration and invasion assay	50
2.2.8. Statistical analysis	51
2.3. Results	51
2.3.1. Protein expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers and p53 in var	ious
OVCA cell lines	51

2.3.2. Levels, localization and interaction of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in normal and carcinoma ovarian cell line
2.3.3. The absence of E-cadherin and plakoglobin expression and the presence of N-cadherin contribute to the migratory and invasive properties of ES-2 cells
2.3.4. Interaction of plakoglobin and p53 in normal and ovarian carcinoma cell lines60
2.4. Discussion
Chapter three – The Physical Interaction of p53 and Plakoglobin is necessary for Their
Synergistic Inhibition of Migration and Invasion73
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Materials and methods
3.2.1. Reagents, cells and culture conditions
3.2.2. Plasmid construction and transfection
3.2.3. Preparation of total cell extracts and immunoblotting
3.2.4. Immunoprecipitation
3.2.5. Immunofluorescence
3.2.6. <i>In vitro</i> growth, migration and invasion assays
3.2.7. Statistical analysis
3.3. Results
3.3.1. Reduced growth, migration and invasion of transfectants expressing p53, plakoglobin or p53 and plakoglobin
3.3.2. Generation and characterization of cell lines expressing wild-type p53 and plakoglobin, various p53 fragments and plakoglobin deletion mutants
3.3.4. Expression of HA-p53 and FLAG-plakoglobin proteins in H1299 double transfectants

3.3.5. DNA binding domain of p53 and the C-terminal domain of plakoglo p53/plakoglobin interactions	
3.3.6. Subcellular location of p53 and plakoglobin in H1299-HA-p53 and H1 PG transfectants	
3.3.7. Subcellular distribution of plakoglobin and p53 in H1299 double expressing FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT	
3.3.8. Subcellular distribution of plakoglobin and p53 in SCC9 double expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$ or $-\Delta C$	
3.3.9. Cooperation of p53 and plakoglobin in regulating growth, migration and of H199 cells	
3.4. Discussion	105
Chapter four – Plakoglobin Partially Restores <i>in Vitro</i> Tumor Suppressor A p53 ^{R175H} Mutant by Sequestering the Oncogenic Potential of β-catenin	
4.1. Introduction	120
4.2. Materials and methods REFERENCES	123
4.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions	123
4.2.2. Plasmid construction and transfection	123
4.2.3. Cell fractionation, preparation of cell extracts and immunoblot analysis	124
4.2.4. Immunoprecipitation	126
4.2.5. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy	126
4.2.6. RNA Isolation, RT-PCR and real-time PCR	127
4.2.7. Proteasome inhibition assay	
4.2.8. Luciferase reporter assay	

4.2.10. Statistical analysis
4.3. Results
4.3.1. Plakoglobin interacted with $p53^{R175H}$ and decreased β -catenin protein levels129
4.3.2. Expression of plakoglobin decreased β-catenin protein levels by promoting its proteasomal degradation
4.3.3. Plakoglobin expression decreased β -catenin interaction with TCF-4, reduced β -catenin/TCF-4 reporter activity and down-regulated target gene expression
4.3.4. Plakoglobin expression decreased migratory and invasive properties of p53 ^{R175H} expressing H1299 cells
4.4. Discussion
Chapter five – Conclusion and future directions156
5.1. Thesis overview
5.1.1. Tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin in ovarian cancer cell lines
5.1.2. Functional significance of plakoglobin and p53 interaction
5.1.3. Plakoglobin counteracts mutant p53 tumor promoting activity by suppressing β- catenin's oncogenic potential
5.2. Potential model for the tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin162
5.3. Future directions
5.3.1. Identifying the exact amino acids involved in plakoglobin/p53 interaction165
5.3.2. Identifying mutant p53 target genes regulated by Plakoglobin
5.3.3. Investigating the role of plakoglobin in modulating the oncogenic effects of p53
contact mutations

5.3.4. Assessing the role of plakoglobin in regulating mutant p53 interaction with p63
and p73167
5.3.5. Assessing the effects of plakoglobin/p53 interaction on <i>in vivo</i> tumorigenesis and metastasis
5.4. Concluding remarks
Bibliography174

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Antibodies and their respective dilutions in specific assays	
Table 3.1. Oligos/primers sequences used to create p53 constructs	79
Table 3.2. Antibodies and their respective dilutions in specific assays	80
Table 3.3. Summary of changes in the growth, migration and invasion of H1299	transfectants
expressing various combinations of p53 and PG constructs	104
Table 4.1. Antibodies and their respective dilutions in specific assays	125
Table 4.2. Oligos/primer sequences used for RT-qPCR	127

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Cell junctional complexes in epithelial tissues
Figure 1.2. Schematic structure of plakoglobin and β-catenin10
Figure 1.3. Regulation of β-catenin via the Wnt signaling pathway12
Figure 1.4. p53 domains and hotspot mutations
Figure 1.4. Mechanisms of oncogenic activities of gain of function mutant p53 proteins
Figure 2.1. Protein expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers and p53 in ovarian cancer cell lines
Figure 2.2. Levels, localization and interaction of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in normal and carcinoma ovarian cell lines
Figure 2.3. Migration and invasion of IOSE-364, OV-90, ES-2 cells - Expression, subcellular distribution and interaction of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in ES-2 transfectants expressing E-cadherin or plakoglobin or N-cadherin shRNAs
Figure 2.4. Migration, invasion and growth properties of normal and carcinoma ovarian cell lines
Figure 2.5. Interaction of plakoglobin and p53 in normal and ovarian carcinoma cell lines61
Figure 3.1. Growth, migration and invasion of H1299 cells expressing HA-p53, FLAG-PG or HA- p53 and FLAG-PG
Figure 3.2. Expression of p53 and plakoglobin proteins in H1299 and SCC9 cells
Figure 3.3. Domain structure of FLAG-tagged plakoglobin and HA-tagged p53 and expression of proteins in H1299 cells
Figure 3.4. Protein expression of WT and fragments of p53 and plakoglobin in double transfectants
Figure 3.5. DNA binding domain of p53 interacts with the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin92

Figure 3.6. Subcellular localization of HA-tagged p53 and FLAG-tagged plakoglobin proteins in H1299 cells
Figure 3.7. Subcellular localization of plakoglobin and p53 in H1299 double transfectants co- expressing FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT
Figure 3.8. Subcellular localization of plakoglobin and p53 in SCC9 double transfectants co- expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, -ΔN, -ΔArm or -ΔC
Figure 3.9. Contribution of various p53 and plakoglobin domains to their growth inhibitory function
Figure 3.10. Contribution of various p53 and plakoglobin domains to their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion
Figure 4.1. Plakoglobin interacts with the mutant p53R175H and decreases β -catenin levels131
Figure 4.2. Plakoglobin expression decreases cytoplasmic and nuclear β -catenin levels by promoting its proteasomal degradation in H1299-p53R175H cells
Figure 4.3. Subcellular localization of plakoglobin and β -catenin in H1299 transfectants135
Figure 4.4. Plakoglobin expression reduces β -catenin interaction with TCF-4, decreases β -catenin/TCF-4 reporter activity and target gene expression
Figure 4.5. Plakoglobin reduced <i>in vitro</i> migration and invasion of p53R175H expressing H1299 cells
Figure 4.6. Potential model for restoration of tumor suppressor activity of mutant p53 by plakoglobin

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACTB	Actin beta
Akt	Protein kinase B
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
Arm	Armadillo
Bak	BCL2 antagonist/killer 1
Bax	BCL2 associated X, apoptosis regulator
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma-2, antiapoptotic
Bcl-XL	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
BID	BH3 interacting domain, proapoptotic
CCND1	Cyclin D1
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
СКІ	Casein kinase 1
CKII	Casein kinase 2
c-Met	MET proto-oncogene, receptor tyrosine kinase,
	Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
Co-IP	Co-immunoprecipitation
Cox2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CSK	Cytoskeleton
СТ	C-terminal
CTNNB	Catenin (cadherin-associated protein), beta 1

DBD	DNA binding domain
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DP	Desmoplakin
DSC2	Desmocollins-2
E1b	Adenovirus E1B protein
E2F	E2F transcription factor
ECM	Extra cellular matrix
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMMPRIN	Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
EOC	Epithelial ovarian cancer
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
Fas	Fas cell surface death receptor; tumor necrosis
	factor receptor superfamily member 6
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GADD45	Growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible
45GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GOF	Gain of function
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta
HAI-1	Hepatocyte growth factor activator inhibitor type 1
HDAC4	Histone deacetylase 4
Hdm2	Human double minute protein2
HEK293T	Human embryonic kidney cell line

HGS	High grade serous
HGS-OVCA	High grade serous ovarian cancer
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IOSE	Immortalized ovarian surface epithelium
JUP	Junction plakoglobin
kDa	Kilodalton
Lats1/2	Large tumor suppressor kinase 1/2
LEF	Lymphoid enhancer factor
LRP	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCF-7	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line;
	derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion
MDA-MB-231	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line;
MDA-MB-231	
MDA-MB-231 MDCK	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line;
	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion
MDCK	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line
MDCK MDM2	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line Mouse double minute 2 homolog
MDCK MDM2 MET	Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line Mouse double minute 2 homolog Mesenchymal to epithelial transition
MDCK MDM2 MET MMP	 Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line Mouse double minute 2 homolog Mesenchymal to epithelial transition Matrix metalloproteinase
MDCK MDM2 MET MMP MOMP	 Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line Mouse double minute 2 homolog Mesenchymal to epithelial transition Matrix metalloproteinase Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
MDCK MDM2 MET MMP MOMP mp53	 Human breast (mammary gland) cancer cell line; derived from metastatic site: pleural effusion Madin Darby canine kidney; Canine kidney cell line Mouse double minute 2 homolog Mesenchymal to epithelial transition Matrix metalloproteinase Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization Mutant p53 protein

NES	Nuclear export signal
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
Nm23	Non-metastatic protein 23
Nm23-H1	NM23 nucleoside diphosphate kinase 1
Nm23-H2	NM23 nucleoside diphosphate kinase 2
NME1	Gene encoding the Nm23 protein
NOXA	Pro-apoptotic protein
NPM	Nucleophosmin
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung carcinoma
NT	N-terminal
OVCA	Ovarian cancer
p21	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor 1A; Cip1
p53	Tumor suppressor p53 protein
PAX	Paired box transcription factor
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PG	Plakoglobin (γ-catenin)
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РКР	Plakophilin
PML	Promyelocytic leukemia
pRb	Retinoblastoma
PrP(c)	The cellular prion protein

PSK	Penicillin, Streptomycin, Kanamycin
PUMA	p53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis
R175H	Arginine175 to Histidine p53 mutant
Ras	Sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
S100A4	S100 Calcium Binding Protein A4
SATB1	Special AT-Rich Sequence Binding Protein 1
SCC9	Tongue squamous carcinoma cell line
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
SFN	Stratifin; 14-3-3 σ
shN-cadherin	Short hairpin RNA against N-cadherin
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
Snail1	Snail family transcriptional repressor 1
SOX-4	SRY (Sex Determining Region Y)-Box 4
Src	SRC proto-oncogene, non-receptor tyrosine kinase
SV-40	Simian vacuolating virus 40; simian virus 40t
ТА	Transactivation
TAZ	Transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif
TCF	T-cell factor
TEAD	TEA domain family of transcription factors

THBS1	Thrombospondin 1
TOPFLASH	TCF luciferase reporter plasmid
TP53	Tumor suppressor p53 gene
uPA	Urokinase
WT	Wild type
YAP	Yes-associated protein

Chapter one

Introduction

1.1.Cancer

An estimated 206,200 new cases of cancer will be diagnosed in Canada in 2017 and 80,800 patients will die from the disease [1]. Cancer is not only a life-threatening illness but it imposes a huge financial burden on the health care system. Tumor development is a complex process resulting from an uncontrolled proliferation of cells [2]. Further complication occurs when cancer cells acquire the ability to dissociate from the primary site and spread to the other locations in the body, which is a fatal process called metastasis [3]. Defective cell-cell adhesion is one of the key contributing factors to both initiation and metastatic progression of different types of cancer [4-6].

Carcinomas are the most common type of cancer that originate from epithelial cells. Epithelial tissues cover the surface of the body and line the internal cavities [7]. The structural integrity and normal functions of these tissues is dependent on proper cell-cell adhesion and interactions mediated by adhesive complexes including adherens junctions and desmosomes [8]. Adherens junctions are ubiquitously formed in both epithelial and non-epithelial tissues [9], whereas desmosomes are intercellular adhesive complexes that hold epithelial cells together and impart tensile strength and resilience to non-epithelial cells that endure mechanical stress such as cardiac muscle and meninges [10]. Regardless of their differences, both adherens junctions and desmosomes are cadherin-based adhesion complexes.

Although originally identified as structural proteins with a "glue-like" function, cadherin-based cell adhesion complexes have subsequently been shown to regulate

signaling pathways through their interactions with an array of functionally diverse proteins, including receptor tyrosine kinases and phosphatases, tumor suppressors and transcription factors [11,12]. Consequently, elements of adhesive complexes play important roles in regulating tumor development and metastasis progression.

1.2. Cadherin mediated cell-cell adhesion

Both adherens junctions and desmosomes are cadherin-based junctional complexes. Adherens junctions are formed when the extracellular domain of Ecadherin dimers in one cell interacts with the extracellular domain of cadherin proteins on the neighboring cell [13,14]. E-cadherin interacts with p120-catenin via its juxtamembrane domain, which stabilizes the cadherin dimer at the membrane [13,14]. The extreme cytoplasmic tail of the E-cadherin interacts with β -catenin or plakoglobin in a mutually exclusive manner, which in turn interact with α -catenin, an actin-binding protein [15,16] (Figure 1.1). Recruitment of actin microfilaments by α -catenin stabilizes cadherin-catenin complex at the membrane [13,14]. Similarly, desmosomes are formed when two desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, form heterodimers that participate in homotypic interactions with desmosomal cadherin dimers on adjacent cells [17]. The cytoplasmic tail of desmosomal cadherins interacts with plakoglobin and plakophilin, which in turn associate with desmoplakin that recruits intermediate filaments to stabilize desmosomes at the membrane [17] (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Cell junctional complexes in epithelial tissues. Adherens junction and desmosomes are the two main cell-cell adhesion complexes in epithelial cells. At the adherens junction, the extracellular domain of the E-cadherin dimer interacts with E-cadherin proteins on the adjacent cells. E-cadherin interacts with p120catenin via its juxtamembrane domain whereas it interacts with β -catenin and plakoglobin in a mutually exclusive manner via its extreme cytoplasmic tail. In turn β -catenin and plakoglobin interact with α -catenin that binds to actin microfilaments. At the desmosomes, desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin form a heterodimer. The cytoplasmic tails of the heterodimers interact with plakoglobin and plakophilin, which in turn bind to desmoplakin that recruits the cytokeratin intermediate filaments. α -cat, α -catenin; β -cat, β -catenin; Cad, Ecadherin; CK, cytokeratin; Dsc, desmocollins; Dsg, desmoglein; DP, desmoplakin; p120, p120-catenin; PG, plakoglobin; PKP, plakophilin

Modified from Pasdar, M.

1.3. Plakoglobin (gamma-, γ-catenin)

Plakoglobin is an 83 kDa protein that is encoded by the *JUP* gene located on chromosome 17q21 [18]. Plakoglobin is an Armadillo protein family member and a paralogue of β -catenin with dual adhesive and signaling functions [19,20]. As a cell adhesion protein plakoglobin participates in the formation of adherens junctions and desmosomes [21,22]. Both cytoplasmic and membrane-associated pools of plakoglobin interact with different protein partners to regulate their levels and localization [21,22]. Furthermore, the soluble pool of plakoglobin can interact with other cellular proteins and regulate pathways involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis [21,22]. Plakoglobin also translocates to the nucleus and regulates gene expression [21,22].

1.3.1. Initial discovery of plakoglobin

Plakoglobin was first identified in the membrane-associated desmosomal plaques [23]. Further investigations showed that this protein was a cytoplasmic component of both desmosomes and adherens junctions [18,23]. Subsequent coimmunoprecipitation studies validated its role as an adhesion protein that associated with the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein [24]. Further studies demonstrated that plakoglobin had a cytoskeleton associated pool that interacted with desmoglein and E-cadherin, as well as a cadherin-independent cytoplasmic pool. While the insoluble pool of plakoglobin is serine phosphorylated and is distributed along the lateral membrane, the soluble pool is serine, threonine and tyrosine phosphorylated and remains in the cytoplasm [25].

1.3.2. Plakoglobin and regulation of cell-cell adhesion

The most extensively studies function of plakoglobin is the regulation of cell-cell adhesion. Plakoglobin has an indispensable role in the proper assembly and stability of desmosomal plaques. Plakoglobin double knockout mice have been used to investigate whether plakoglobin deficiency affects embryonic development. Loss of plakoglobin in embryos resulted in lethality due to severe heart defects at embryonic day 10.5 to 12.5 (E10.5 to E12.5). Heart failure occurred as the consequence of the disruption of desmosome assembly in the intercalated discs of cardiac muscle [26,27]. Plakoglobin is required for the efficient binding of desmoplakins to the intermediate filaments to stabilize desmosomes at the membrane [28]. Furthermore, plakoglobin interacts with plakophilin-3 and recruits it to membrane to form desmosomes [29].

In spite of its well-validated role in the formation of desmosomes, the significance of plakoglobin in the assembly of adherens junctions remained controversial. Initial studies showed that plakoglobin only loosely interacted with E-cadherin suggesting that the E-cadherin/ β -catenin/ α -catenin complex was the primary complex involved in the formation of adherens junctions [15,30]. However, participation of plakoglobin in adherens junctions could not be dismissed since the co-immunoprecipitation studies also confirmed the association of plakoglobin with E-cadherin and α -catenin as an independent complex [29]. A subsequent study suggested that plakoglobin interaction with E-cadherin and formation of adherens junctions [31].

1.3.3. Plakoglobin and regulation of epithelial to mesenchymal transition

Previous studies have demonstrated that loss of E-cadherin leads to epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and acquisition of an invasive phenotype [32,33]. Furthermore, re-expression of E-cadherin and formation of adhesive complexes reverses the transformed phenotype and induces mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) [34,35]. These studies clearly suggested that malignant transformation of cells were regulated by the components of junctional complexes. However, the essential role of plakoglobin in triggering MET was long neglected until it was shown that exogenous expression of E- or P-cadherin in cadherin-null carcinoma cells with very low levels of plakoglobin failed to induce transition to an epithelial phenotype [36]. Although E-cadherin/ β -catenin/ α -catenin complexes were formed, plakoglobin was not detected at the adherens junctions and desmosomes were not assembled suggesting an essential role for plakoglobin in the regulation of cell-cell adhesion and MET [36]. Following this study, another group showed that the down-regulation of E-cadherin and plakoglobin led to the loss of adherens junctions and desmosomes and induction of EMT [31]. Expression of Ecadherin alone rescued the assembly of adherens junctions but not the epithelial phenotype [31]. Interestingly, expression of E-cadherin/plakoglobin chimeric protein not only led to the formation of stable adherens junctions and desmosomes but also induced MET [31].

To further investigate the importance of plakoglobin in the regulation of cell-cell adhesion and inhibition of a transformed phenotype, our laboratory used E-cadherin and plakoglobin deficient and N-cadherin expressing SCC9 cells, a human tongue squamous cell carcinoma cell line. Ectopic expression of either E-cadherin or plakoglobin triggered MET concurrent with increased cell adhesion and decreased cell proliferation [37,38]. Furthermore, only plakoglobin expressing SCC9 cells formed desmosomes. More importantly, expression of plakoglobin also increased the stability of the mesenchymal marker N-cadherin and inhibited its oncogenic functions [37,38].

1.4. Catenin-mediated signal transduction

The importance of cadherin-catenin complexes is not limited to their role in maintaining cell-cell contact. Components of adherens junctions and desmosomes have been shown to participate in signaling pathways to regulate cell growth, differentiation and cell death [39,40]. In this context the cytoplasmic pool of catenin proteins have been shown to interact with various intracellular proteins from tumor suppressors to transcription factors in order to modulate signaling cascades [39].

With respect to the signaling functions of catenin proteins, β -catenin and p120catenin have been studied extensively in the context of tumorigenesis and metastasis [41,42]. On the contrary, fewer studies have addressed the signaling functions of α -catenin and plakoglobin in the process of tumor development and cancer progression. Having said that, recent studies have suggested that both α catenin and plakoglobin generally act as tumor and metastasis suppressor proteins through mechanisms that are beginning to be deciphered [22,43].

1.5. Plakoglobin and regulation of cell signaling

Plakoglobin and β -catenin have similar structural features and interacting protein partners [19,22] (Figure 1.2). However, they differ in their signaling functions in the context of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Unlike β -catenin, which has welldocumented oncogenic functions via activating the Wnt pathway [41], plakoglobin mainly acts as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein [21,22]. Not only does plakoglobin participate in the Wnt pathway but also it has been linked to other signaling cascades that are going to be discussed in detail.



and plakoglobin and the domains involved in these interactions. Green arrows indicate proteins that interact Figure 1.2. Schematic structure of plakoglobin and β -catenin. Plakoglobin and β -catenin are members of C-terminal domains. The N-, central armadillo and C-terminal domains of the two protein are 57%, 83% and less than 15% identical, respectively. Red arrows indicate protein partners that interact with both β-catenin with plakoglobin only and the domains involved in these interactions. APC, adenomatous polyposis coli; armadillo protein family and paralogues. They both have 13 armadillo repeats situated between their N- and TCF/LEF, T-cell factor/Lymphoid enhancer factor

Modified from Pasdar M.

1.5.1. Plakoglobin and the Wnt signaling pathway

The Wnt pathway is one of the key regulators of normal development, cell proliferation and differentiation [44]. Disruption of the Wnt pathway has been linked to various diseases including cancer development and metastasis [45]. In the absence of Wnt signal, the destruction complex, axin/adenomatous polyposis coli (APC)/Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 Beta (GSK3β)/casein kinase I (CKI), phosphorylates the excessive cytoplasmic pool of β -catenin, which is subsequently ubiquitinated and degraded via the proteasomal pathway [44] (Figure 1.3). When the Wnt ligand is present, it binds to the receptor Frizzled and the co-receptor lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP) 5/6, and in turn they interact with Dishevelled via their intracellular domain [44]. Dishevelled recruits Axin and displaces GSK3^β and CKI from tumor suppressor APC [44]. Upon disruption of the destruction complex function, β -catenin accumulates, translocates to the nucleus and binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors and activates the expression of Wnt targets that promotes proliferation, survival, migration, invasion and angiogenesis [44] (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Regulation of \beta-catenin via the Wnt signaling pathway. (A) In the absence of Wnt signal, the destruction complex (Axin, APC, GSK3 β , CKI) recruits and phosphorylates β -catenin. Phosphorylated β -catenin gets ubiquitinated and subsequently degraded by proteasomes. Consequently, TCF/LEF transcription factors in the nucleus are bound to the repressor and their respective target genes remain inactive. (B) In the presence of Wnt signal, Dishevelled recruits Axin and destruction complex dissociates. Thus β -catenin cannot get phosphorylated and degraded. Excessive cytoplasmic β -catenin translocates to the nucleus and binds to TCF/LEF that leads to the transactivation of their target genes involved in EMT, uncontrolled cell proliferation, migration and invasion. LRP, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein; CKI, casein kinase I; APC, adenomatous polyposis coli; GSK3 β , Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 β ; Dsh, Dishevelled; TCF/LEF, T-cell factor/Lymphoid enhancer factor; R, repressor; β -cat, β -catenin

Modified from Pasdar M.

Early studies using PC12 pheochromocytoma cells showed that the exogenous expression of Wnt-1 increased plakoglobin levels and resulted in its membrane redistribution [46]. This was the first evidence suggesting that the Wnt pathway regulates the levels and localization of both β -catenin and plakoglobin [46]. Later on, Karnovsky *et al.*, injected fertilized *Xenopus* embryos with mRNAs encoding plakoglobin and detected dorsalized gastrulation and anterior axis duplication, which was similar to Wnt/ β -catenin induced segment polarization. In these embryos, plakoglobin localized in the cytoplasm, nucleus and membrane [47]. However, when mRNAs encoding plakoglobin and the cytoplasmic tail of desmoglein were co-injected into the embryos, plakoglobin primarily localized at the membrane and was excluded from the nucleus. In these embryos dorsalized gastrulation and anterior axis duplication did not occur, suggesting that the nuclear pool of plakoglobin participated in specification of dorsal mesoderm and had signaling functions similar to β -catenin [47].

While these initial studies suggested that both plakoglobin and β -catenin exerted similar signaling activities, many other studies provided contrary evidence. First evidence came from a study that showed both wild type and junction-dependent plakoglobin induced axis duplication, suggesting that presence or absence of nuclear plakoglobin had no effect on regulating the Wnt signaling [48]. To further investigate the signaling function of plakoglobin via the Wnt pathway, either β catenin or plakoglobin were expressed in *Drosophila* embryos lacking functional Armadillo homologues [49]. This study showed that while expression of either β catenin or plakoglobin resulted in the formation of cadherin-based cell adhesive complexes, only the expression of β -catenin slightly induced the expression of the Wnt target, *engrailed* [49].

Several other lines of evidence have also suggested that plakoglobin has limited signaling activity in the context of the Wnt pathway. In MDCK cells, only β -catenin but not plakoglobin translocated to the nucleus in response to the over-expression of LEF-1 [50]. Moreover, HEK293T cells exhibited a significantly higher TOPFLASH reporter activity when β -catenin was expressed as compared to cells expressing plakoglobin [50]. The impact of plakoglobin on activating the Wnt pathway was also shown when HEK293T cells were transfected with the transcriptional active forms of β -catenin and plakoglobin, S37A and S28A mutants, respectively, and the expression of β -catenin mutant resulted in a much higher TOPFLASH reporter activity [51,52]. Subsequently, *in vitro* electrophoretic mobility shift assays using β -catenin, plakoglobin, TCF-4, LEF-1 proteins and radioactively labeled TCF/LEF DNA binding sequences showed that β -catenin formed a complex with TCF-4/LEF-1 and DNA, whereas, plakoglobin was unable to form similar complexes [53].

1.5.2. Plakoglobin and Src signaling

The proto-oncogene Src is a non-receptor tyrosine kinase that participates in various signaling pathways by phosphorylating specific tyrosine residues in other proteins [54]. Increased levels and activity of Src kinase has been shown to promote tumorigenesis and metastasis in different types of cancer [54]. A number of studies have demonstrated that signaling activities of plakoglobin and Src are inversely

correlated [55-58]. Based on the experimental findings, Src enhances migration by suppressing the expression and/or altering the phosphorylation of plakoglobin that leads to the inhibition of tumor and metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin [56-58]. Furthermore, treating MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells with human growth hormone reduced plakoglobin levels and promoted migration and invasion in a Src-dependent manner [59]. Interestingly, treatment with Src inhibitors increased the expression of plakoglobin and decreased the migratory and invasive potential of these cells [59]. A subsequent study confirmed that human growth hormone repressed plakoglobin expression and promoted cell migration via activating Src and JAK2 tyrosine kinases [58]. Upon activation of these kinases, they induced the expression of DNA methyltransferase-1, -3A and -3B, which resulted in the hypermethylation of plakoglobin promoter and the inhibition of its transcription [58].

Findings from the *in vitro* research were further validated by *in vivo* studies in breast tumors showing that growth hormone receptors were over-expressed in both epithelial and stromal components of axillary lymph node metastasis, which was concurrent with decreased expression of plakoglobin in nodal metastasis [60]. Also, in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cell lines, and mouse xenograft models combined inhibition of Src and MAPK upregulated the expression of E-cadherin and plakoglobin and downregulated the expression of Snail1, FAK and PAX, which led to the induction of MET [61].

Plakoglobin also inhibited cell motility and migration via regulating the extracellular matrix (ECM) dependent activation of Src. Increased levels of ECM
proteins including fibronectin and vitronectin leads to the activation of Src kinase. Plakoglobin modulates the deposition of ECM proteins, and therefore, reduces Src signaling activity and the migration of single keratinocyte cells [55,62,63].

1.5.3. Plakoglobin and Ras signaling

Ras proteins are a family of small GTPases that regulate different signaling pathways involved in cell growth, survival, differentiation, migration, and invasion [64]. They become active in response to an extracellular signal and in turn transmit the signal to intracellular effector proteins in order to modulate downstream signaling cascades [64]. Ras is a proto-oncogene and its mutations and/or aberrant activation have been reported in various types of cancers [64]. The first observation connecting plakoglobin and Ras was reported when the expression of dominant negative form of Ras (N17Ras) reduced the expression of plakoglobin and prevented the formation of 3-dimensional vascular structures in confluent cultures of endothelial cells [65]. Later studies validated this early observation by showing that inhibition of Ras farnesylation and disruption of the MAPK pathway increased the expression of catenin proteins including α -, β - and γ -catenin in breast, colon and liver cancer cells concurrent with decreased metastatic potential of these cells [66]. To further investigate the relationship between plakoglobin and Ras, Yim et al., expressed a mutant form of Ras (K-Ras12V) in Rat2 cells and showed that the mutant Ras decreased plakoglobin and histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4), which subsequently led to increased metastatic potential of these cells [67]. Surprisingly, only the exogenous expression of plakoglobin but not β -catenin in these cells increased HDAC4 levels in a LEF-1 dependent manner [67]. However, whether plakoglobin is directly involved in regulating the expression of HDAC4 and the possible mechanism(s) of this modulation have not yet been understood.

1.5.4. Plakoglobin and the Hippo signaling pathway

Imbalance between cell proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation is a critical step during tumor formation and cancer progression. Tissue homeostasis is regulated by multiple signaling cues coordinated by different molecules and signaling pathways. The Hippo signaling pathway and its downstream effectors, YAP and TAZ, have been identified as essential regulators of cell proliferation, organ size and cell-fate determination [68]. When the Hippo signaling pathway is active, the serine/threonine kinases MST1/2 activate LATS1/2 kinases, which in turn phosphorylate YAP at serine 127 which prevents its nuclear localization and transcriptional activities [69]. LATS1/2 also phosphorylate YAP at serine 397, which serves as a mark for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation [70]. However, when the Hippo kinase cascade is off, YAP is active and translocates to the nucleus, binds to the transcription factors of the TEA domain (TEAD) family and activates transcription of downstream pro-proliferative and anti-apoptotic genes [70].

Although the core Hippo signaling pathway has been extensively studied, the upstream regulators of the kinase cascade are yet to be fully deciphered. Interestingly, cell-cell contact and adhesion complexes have been identified as essential regulators of the canonical Hippo signaling pathway [70]. Loss of cell adhesion proteins such as α -catenin and E-cadherin has been shown to enhance the

oncogenic potential of YAP in different carcinomas [71,72]. Plakoglobin has also been shown to interact with YAP, and this interaction sequesters YAP in the cytoplasm and inhibits its nuclear translocation [73]. Silencing the expression of YAP or preventing its nuclear localization has been shown to significantly reduce the growth and metastatic potential of cancer cells [74].

1.6. Tumor and metastasis suppressor activities of plakoglobin

Several lines of evidence suggest that plakoglobin interacts with an array of cellular proteins involved in regulating tumor cell growth and metastasis [21,22]. Our laboratory has proposed a model that suggests plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein by at least three mechanisms. First, plakoglobin may sequester oncogenic functions of β -catenin via promoting proteasomal degradation of β -catenin and inhibiting its interaction with TCF, and therefore, repressing the expression of Wnt target genes. Second, by changing the levels, localization and/or function of growth and metastasis regulating molecules. Last but not least, by interacting with transcription factors and (in)directly regulating gene expression independent of the Wnt signaling pathway [20,21].

1.6.1. Plakoglobin and inhibition of the oncogenic signaling of β-catenin

One mechanism by which plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein is the inhibition of β -catenin oncogenic activity. A previous study revealed that the expression of plakoglobin in β -catenin expressing and plakoglobin null cell lines resulted in the liberation of β -catenin from the adherens junctions and its subsequent proteasomal degradation [75]. Experimental evidence from our laboratory further confirmed that in plakoglobin null SCC9 cells β -catenin protein levels decreased and cells underwent mesenchymal to epithelioid phenotypic transition upon the exogenous expression of plakoglobin [38].

A previous *in vivo* study using *Xenopus* embryos demonstrated that plakoglobin inhibited nuclear accumulation of exogenously expressed TCF by sequestering it in the cytoplasm and in turn repressing its transcriptional activity [52]. In addition, it was shown that plakoglobin and β -catenin interacted with two sequential and non-overlapping domains in the N-terminus of the TCF protein [56]. Comparison of the binding sites showed that β -catenin bound to amino acids 1-50 in the Nterminal domain of TCF and plakoglobin interacted with the region situated between amino acids 51-80. Furthermore, plakoglobin interacted with the β catenin/TCF-4 complex and inhibited the binding of the complex to DNA [56].

Previous studies from our laboratory also showed that nuclear exclusive expression of plakoglobin in SCC9 cells decreased β -catenin/TCF interaction and β -catenin's oncogenic activity [76]. Additionally, it was recently shown that knockdown of desmoglein increased nuclear levels of plakoglobin, which in turn enhanced plakoglobin/TCF-4 interaction and decreased TOPFLASH reporter activity concurrent with reduced transactivation of Wnt/ β -catenin target genes [77].

Another mechanism by which plakoglobin inhibits the oncogenic functions of β catenin is through its interaction with SOX4, a transcription factor and an interacting partner of β -catenin that enhances β -catenin's transcriptional activity downstream of the Wnt signaling pathway [78]. SOX4 directly interacts with and stabilizes β -catenin and enhances the expression of Wnt target genes via unknown mechanism(s). In this study, nuclear accumulation of plakoglobin in response to Wnt treatment led to the formation of plakoglobin/SOX4 complexes that facilitated the nuclear export of SOX4 and reduced transactivation of Wnt-responsive target genes [78].

Recent studies have also proposed another mechanism to explain how plakoglobin may inhibit the transcriptional activity of β -catenin/TCF-4. Cellular prion protein PrP(c) was shown to interact with both β -catenin and plakoglobin in the cytoplasm and nucleus [79,80]. Previously, it was shown that while in polarized epithelial cells, PrP(c) was primarily at the membrane, in rapidly proliferating cells it localized in the nucleus suggesting that it may participate in signaling pathways. Interestingly, further studies validated a signaling role for PrP(c) via Hippo and Wnt signaling pathways. PrP(c)'s interaction with β -catenin/TCF-4 complex induced transcriptional activation of Wnt target genes, whereas, its interaction with plakoglobin/TCF-4 repressed the Wnt-responsive transactivation [79,80].

1.6.2. Plakoglobin and modulation of intracellular growth and metastasis regulating molecules

As mentioned above, one mechanism by which plakoglobin may suppress tumor development and metastasis is via its interaction with various cellular partners and affecting their levels, localization, and/or activities. In agreement with this role of plakoglobin, work from our laboratory has shown that plakoglobin interacts with the nucleolar phosphoprotein, nucleophosmin (NPM) [81]. It is noteworthy that NPM's functions during tumorigenesis is greatly dependent on its subcellular distribution [82,83]. Specifically, NPM is primarily localized in the nucleolus of untransformed cells, whereas, in cancer cells, NPM is distributed in the cytoplasm and nucleoplasm [84]. Our laboratory showed that in plakoglobin deficient breast carcinoma cell line, MDA-MB-231, exogenously expressed plakoglobin interacted with NPM and increased its protein levels and induced its redistribution from cytoplasm and nucleoplasm to the nucleolus concurrent with a significant decrease in *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion [81].

To further study the tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin via its interaction with cellular protein partners, our laboratory looked at the effect of plakoglobin expression on the protein levels of non-metastatic protein 23 (Nm23), the first metastasis suppressor protein to be discovered [85]. Expression of plakoglobin in SCC9 and MDA-MB-231 cells enhanced Nm23-H1 and Nm23-H2 protein levels [86] and resulted in the redistribution of Nm23 from cytoplasm to the membrane [86]. Work by other groups showed that Nm23 knockdown increased migration due to the loss of cell-cell adhesion [87]. In the absence of Nm23, adherens junction dissociated and nuclear localization of β -catenin increased, which in turn led to the transactivation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that are known to be β -catenin/TCF target genes [87]. Another study demonstrated that formation and stability of the endothelial junctions were dependent on the interaction between Nm23, plakoglobin and EMMPRIN (the extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer, also known as basigin or CD147) [88]. These findings further supported the importance of the plakoglobin and Nm23 interaction in the inhibition of migration and metastasis of cancer cells.

1.6.3. Plakoglobin and regulation of gene expression

Several lines of experimental evidence have suggested that plakoglobin regulates gene expression independent of β -catenin and the Wnt signaling pathway. It was shown that in mouse keratinocytes, plakoglobin interacted with LEF-1 and they both associated with the promoter region of the *MYC* gene [89]. Plakoglobin/LEF-1 complex repressed the expression of *MYC* gene and suppressed cell growth independent of β -catenin [89]. In support of this observation, Tokonzaba *et al.*, recently showed that plakoglobin induced the expression of desmocollins-2 (*DSC2*) gene in a LEF-1 dependent manner [90].

To assess the possible contribution of plakoglobin to gene regulation, our laboratory used plakoglobin deficient carcinoma cell lines and transfected them with wild type plakoglobin construct, as well as, plakoglobin cDNAs fused to nuclear localization sequence or nuclear export signal to generate plakoglobin-expressing transfectants with different subcellular localization of the protein in order to investigate its role at the membrane, in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus [76,86,91]. The results of microarray analyses using plakoglobin-expressing transfectants identified several p53 target genes that were differentially regulated upon plakoglobin expression [92,93]. These findings suggested that one way by which plakoglobin acts as a tumor suppressor may be via its interaction with p53 and regulation of p53 target gene expression [92,93]. Further characterization

validated the microarray results and confirmed that the expression of p53 targets including 14-3-3 σ , SATB1 and Nm23-H1 were co-regulated by plakoglobin and p53 [92,93]. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) experiments showed that both plakoglobin and wild type p53 associated with the 53 response element within the promoter region of SFN (14-3-3 σ), SATB1, and NME1 (Nm23-H1) genes and only in the presence of plakoglobin, mutant p53 interacted with the promoter of these genes [92,93]. Additionally, the luciferase reporter assays revealed that the transcriptional activity of both wild type and mutant p53 was enhanced upon plakoglobin expression [92,93]. Interestingly, based on our studies plakoglobin and p53 are co-regulating gene expression through both activating (SFN and NME1) and repressing (SATB1) mechanisms [92,93]. In agreement with these findings, another group showed that plakoglobin induced the expression of PML, a p53 target with tumor suppressor function [94]. Finally, it was recently shown that in nonsmall cell lung carcinoma cells plakoglobin reduced migration by regulating the expression of HAI-1, an upstream inhibitor of c-met, in a p53 dependent manner [95].

1.7. Plakoglobin and restoration of mutant p53 tumor suppressor function

As mentioned above, one of the interacting protein partners of plakoglobin that has been identified by our lab is the tumor suppressor protein p53 [92,93]. Plakoglobin interacts with both wild type and a number of mutant p53 proteins and they both associate with the promoter of several p53 target genes involved in the regulation of tumorigenesis and metastasis [92,93].

1.7.1. Tumor suppressor protein p53

p53 is a sequence specific DNA-binding transcription factor with tumor and metastasis suppressor activities [96]. Dubbed as the "guardian of the genome" [97], p53 maintains the integrity of the genome and normal functioning of cells in response to various stress signals including DNA damage, oxidative injury, hypoxia, improper cell adhesion, mitotic stress, oncogene activation and metabolic stress [98].

In the absence of stress signal, p53 levels are tightly regulated and are kept at low steady levels in order to prevent unnecessary cell death [99]. The primary regulator of p53 is Hdm-2, an E3 ubiquitin ligase and a p53 target gene, which interacts with and mono-ubiquitinates p53 in the nucleus [100,101]. Upon mono-ubiquitination, p53 translocates to the cytoplasm and gets poly-ubiquitinated by other E3 ubiquitin ligases including Pirh2, COP1, Arf-BP1, which leads to its subsequent degradation by the proteasomal pathway [101]. Upon exposure to cellular stress, p53 levels significantly increase and it becomes active in order to regulate the expression of genes involved in cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, senescence, DNA repair and metabolism [98].

Various functions of p53 are mediated via its structural domains comprising of two N-terminal transactivation domains (TAD-1 and TAD-2), a proline rich domain, the core DNA binding domain and a carboxyl terminal domain [102] (Figure 1.4). TAD-1 and -2 interact with general transcription factors, chromatin modifiers and transcription cofactors to activate or repress p53 target genes [103]. Furthermore,

TAD-1 is essential for p53 stability via its interaction with Hdm-2 [104]. The proline rich domain plays a pivotal role in the regulation of p53-mediated apoptosis via its interaction with pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins in the cytoplasm [105]. Flanking between the N- and C-terminal domains, there is a DNA binding domain that interacts with the p53 response element in the promoter region of its target genes to regulate their transcription [102]. The carboxyl terminal of p53 contains three nuclear localization signals, an oligomerization domain and a non-specific DNA binding domain [102]. Oligomerization domain is essential for homodimerization and subsequent tetramerization of p53 protein, which is required for its transcriptional activities. While earlier *in vitro* studies suggested that the C-terminal DNA binding region negatively regulated binding to DNA [106], more recent studies demonstrated that this domain interacted with DNA in order to facilitate the binding of the core domain to the p53 response element [107,108].

As a transcription factor, wild type p53 activates or represses the expression of components of the cell cycle check points, DNA repair machinery and apoptotic pathway to inhibit propagation of damaged cells [99]. Depending on the cellular context and type of the damage a cell sustains, p53 either triggers cell cycle arrest to provide sufficient time for the injured cell(s) to undergo DNA repair or it induces senescence or apoptosis in case of irreparable damage [109].

Transient and/or permanent cell cycle arrest are two of the major anti-proliferative functions of p53. In response to DNA damage, p53 becomes active and in turn upregulates the expression of its target genes p21, 14-3-3 σ and GADD45 (growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible). While p21 regulates both G1 and G2 arrest,

14-3-3 σ and Gadd45 only induce G2 arrest and inhibit mitosis entry [110]. In addition to its ability to inhibit cell cycle progression, p53 also induces apoptosis by up-regulating the expression of pro-apoptotic genes including death receptor proteins (e.g. Fas, DR4, DR5 and PERP), NOXA, PUMA, BAX and BID [110] and down-regulating anti-apoptotic genes such as Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2 [110].

p53 also exerts its tumor suppressor functions independent of its transcriptional activity. p53 localizes to the mitochondria and directly binds to pro- and anti-apoptotic members of Bcl-2 family of proteins and promotes apoptosis by enhancing the mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) [110,111].



intrinsically disordered N-terminal with two transactivation and a proline rich domains, a central DNA-binding six amino acid residues (R175, G245, R248, R249, R273 and R282) within the DNA-binding domain of p53 Figure 1.4. p53 domains and hotspot mutations. p53 has three different structural domains including; an domain and a C-terminal oligomerization domain which is required for tetramerization and is followed by a non-specific DNA binding domain. The majority of p53 mutations occur within the DNA-binding domain with have been considered as mutation hotspots with the highest frequency of mutation. TAD, transactivation domain; PRD, proline rich domain; OD, oligomerization domain; NRD, negative regulatory domain; G, glycine; R, Arginine

1.7.2. Mutant p53 proteins

TP53 is the most commonly mutated tumor suppressor gene in cancers [113]. While the majority of tumor suppressor genes sustain deletions and truncations leading to their permanent inactivation and/or loss of expression [114], TP53 gene mainly harbors missense mutations within the central DNA binding domain that interferes with its interaction with DNA and alters its transcriptional activity [115,116]. Six amino acid residues (175, 245, 248, 249, 273 and 282) within the DNA binding domain have been considered as mutation hotspots with the highest frequency of mutation [115,116] (Figure 1.4). In addition to the loss/partial loss of their tumor suppressor activities, many mutant p53 proteins exhibit dominant negative activities through their interaction with and inhibition of the functions of wild type p53 [117]. More importantly, some p53 mutants can gain oncogenic functions (GOF) that contribute to tumor cell growth, aggressiveness, metastasis and drug resistance [118]. GOF p53 mutations fall into two categories; structural mutations that alter the conformation of p53 and contact mutations that inhibit the direct interaction between p53 and DNA [118].

GOF p53 mutants exert their tumor promoting activities via four different mechanisms; 1- by interacting with transcription factors Sp1, ETS family, E2F1, and NF-1 and co-regulating the expression of target genes involved in cancer progression and metastasis [119-121], 2- by binding to different cellular protein partners including p53 family members, p63 and p73 and disrupting the recruitment of p63/p73 to the promoter region of their target genes [122-124], 3- by modulating

the expression of micro RNAs involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis [124], and, 4- by regulating epigenetic modifying enzymes [126,127] (Figure 1.5).

Experimental evidence from our laboratory suggested that in plakoglobin deficient carcinoma cell lines expressing mutant p53 proteins, exogenous expression of plakoglobin restored tumor suppressor activities of mutant p53s *in vitro*. These earlier studies are the basis for this thesis and will be discussed further.



Figure 1.5. Mechanisms of oncogenic activities of gain of function (GOF) mutant p53 proteins. (A) GOF mutant p53s (B) GOF mutant p53 proteins interact with and sequester proteins with tumor and metastasis suppressor functions including other family members, p63 and p73 and impair their normal transcriptional activities. (C) GOF mutant p53s upregulate the GOF mutant p53s modulate the expression of epigenetic enzymes and induce chromatin changes to silence or activate gene expression of oncogenic micro RNAs and downregulate the expression of micro RNAs with tumor suppressor activities. (D) regulate the expression of genes by binding to the promoter of target genes via their interaction with other transcription factors. expression.

1.8. Earlier studies and research hypothesis

Previous studies from our laboratory revealed that exogenous expression of physiological levels of plakoglobin in plakoglobin-deficient SCC9 carcinoma cell line decreased growth and induced apoptosis [37] whereas its overexpression in SCC9 cells increased growth by inducing the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 [91]. To further investigate the exact role of plakoglobin in regulating Bcl-2 expression, SCC9 cells were transfected with plakoglobin cDNAs fused to nuclear localization sequence or nuclear export signal. It was shown that plakoglobin induced Bcl-2 levels independent of its subcellular localization. Interestingly, expression of plakoglobin resulted in decreased interaction of β -catenin and its interaction with TCF [76]. Together these studies suggested that plakoglobin may regulate gene expression indirectly via regulation of β -catenin oncogenic activity.

Comparison of the mRNA profiles of plakoglobin-deficient human squamous and breast carcinoma cell lines and their plakoglobin-expressing transfectants showed increased expression of growth and metastasis suppressor genes and decreased expression of tumor promoting genes in plakoglobin expressing transfectants relative to parental cells. These studies identified a number of p53 targets among the differentially expressed genes, which are involved in tumor suppression, apoptosis and angiogenesis including *NME1*, *SFN* (14-3-3 σ), *THBS1*, *SATB1*, *CDK1*, *CDC20*, *BCL2* and *BID* [92,93]. These observations raised the intriguing possibility of interaction between plakoglobin and p53.

To identify potential interaction between plakoglobin and p53 we performed coimmunoprecipitation experiments using a number of carcinoma cell lines with different plakoglobin and p53 expression profiles. Subsequent coimmunoprecipitation experiments showed that plakoglobin interacted with wild type as well as a number of mutant p53 proteins in both the cytoplasm and nucleus [92,93]. Additionally, ChIP assays showed that plakoglobin directly associated with the promoter regions of p53 target genes such as tumor and metastasis suppressors *NME1* and *SFN* [92,93] and the oncogenic genome organizer *SATB1* [93].

Based on the above studies, we hypothesize that one mechanism underlying the tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin might be its interaction with mutant p53 proteins and restoration of their tumor suppressor function.

The main focus of my PhD project was to gather experimental evidence for the following three specific aims:

- To investigate the role of plakoglobin in high grade serous ovarian carcinoma cell lines and its functional interactions with wild type and mutant p53
- To identify the interacting domains of plakoglobin and p53 and to assess the functional significance of their interaction
- To determine the role of plakoglobin in down-modulation of the oncogenic activity of β-catenin induced by mutant p53 expression

1.9. References

- 1- Cancer Society. [Internet]. Cancer statistics at a glance Canadian; [Cited 2018 January 16]; Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-101/cancer-statistics-at-a-glance/?region=on</u>
- 2- Chow AY. Cell Cycle Control by Oncogenes and Tumor Suppressors: Driving the Transformation of Normal Cells into Cancerous Cells. Nature Education. 2010; 3(9):7.
- 3- Lambert AW, Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis. Cell. 2017;168(4):670-691.
- 4- Harrington KJ, Syrigos KN. The role of E-cadherin-catenin complex: more than an intercellular glue? Ann Surg Oncol. 2000 Dec;7(10):783-8. Review. Erratum in: Ann Surg Oncol 2001;8(2):186.
- 5- Okegawa T, Li Y, Pong RC, Hsieh JT. Cell adhesion proteins as tumor suppressors. J Urol. 2002;167(4):1836-43.
- 6- Okegawa T, Pong RC, Li Y, Hsieh JT. The role of cell adhesion molecule in cancer progression and its application in cancer therapy. Acta Biochim Pol. 2004;51(2):445-57.
- 7- McCaffrey LM, Macara IG. Epithelial organization, cell polarity and tumorigenesis. Trends Cell Biol. 2011;21(12):727-35.
- 8- Saito M, Tucker DK, Kohlhorst D, Niessen CM, Kowalczyk AP. Classical and desmosomal cadherins at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 11):2547-52.
- 9- Yonemura S. Cadherin-actin interactions at adherens junctions. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2011;23(5):515-22.
- 10- Kowalczyk AP, Green KJ. Structure, function, and regulation of desmosomes. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013;116:95-118.
- 11- Erez N, Bershadsky A, Geiger B. Signaling from adherens-type junctions. Eur J Cell Biol. 2005;84(2-3):235-44.
- 12- Hatzfeld M. Plakophilins: Multifunctional proteins or just regulators of desmosomal adhesion? Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1773(1):69-77.
- 13-Harris TJ, Tepass U. Adherens junctions: from molecules to morphogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(7):502-14.
- 14-Brieher WM, Yap AS. Cadherin junctions and their cytoskeleton(s). Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2013;25(1):39-46.
- 15-Ozawa M, Kemler R. Molecular organization of the uvomorulin-catenin complex. J Cell Biol. 1992;116(4):989-96.
- 16-Piepenhagen PA, Nelson WJ. Defining E-cadherin-associated protein complexes in epithelial cells: plakoglobin, beta- and gamma-catenin are distinct components. J Cell Sci. 1993;104 (Pt 3):751-62.
- 17- Al-Amoudi A, Castaño-Diez D, Devos DP, Russell RB, Johnson GT, Frangakis AS. The three-dimensional molecular structure of the desmosomal plaque. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(16):6480-5.
- 18- Franke WW, Mueller H, Mittnacht S, Kapprell HP, Jorcano JL. Significance of two desmosome plaque-associated polypeptides of molecular weights 75 000 and 83 000. EMBO J. 1983;2(12):2211-5.
- 19- Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila

segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. J Cell Biol. 1992; 118, 681-91.

- 20- Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Beta-catenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signaling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013;116:387-407.
- 21- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Int J Cell Biol. 2012;2012:189521.
- 22- Aktary Z, Alaee M, Pasdar M. Beyond cell-cell adhesion: Plakoglobin and the regulation of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):32270-32291.
- 23-Cowin P, Kapprell HP, Franke WW, Tamkun J, Hynes RO. Plakoglobin: a protein common to different kinds of intercellular adhering junctions. Cell. 1986;46(7):1063-73.
- 24-Korman NJ, Eyre RW, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR. Demonstration of an adhering-junction molecule (plakoglobin) in the autoantigens of pemphigus foliaceus and pemphigus vulgaris. N Engl J Med. 1989;321(10):631-5.
- 25-Pasdar M, Li Z, Chlumecky V. Plakoglobin: kinetics of synthesis, phosphorylation, stability, and interactions with desmoglein and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1995;32(4):258-72.
- 26-Bierkamp C, Mclaughlin KJ, Schwarz H, Huber O, Kemler R. Embryonic heart and skin defects in mice lacking plakoglobin. Dev Biol. 1996;180(2):780-5.
- 27-Ruiz P, Brinkmann V, Ledermann B, Behrend M, Grund C, Thalhammer C, Vogel F, Birchmeier C, Günthert U, Franke WW, Birchmeier W. Targeted mutation of plakoglobin in mice reveals essential functions of desmosomes in the embryonic heart. J Cell Biol. 1996;135(1):215-25.
- 28- Acehan D, Petzold C, Gumper I, Sabatini DD, Müller EJ, Cowin P, Stokes DL. Plakoglobin is required for effective intermediate filament anchorage to desmosomes. J Invest Dermatol. 2008;128(11):2665-75.
- 29-Gosavi P, Kundu ST, Khapare N, Sehgal L, Karkhanis MS, Dalal SN. Ecadherin and plakoglobin recruit plakophilin3 to the cell border to initiate desmosome assembly. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2011;68(8):1439-54.
- 30-Vestweber D, Kemler R. Some structural and functional aspects of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin. Cell Differ. 1984;15(2-4):269-73.
- 31-Lewis JE, Wahl JK 3rd, Sass KM, Jensen PJ, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. Cross-talk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1997;136(4):919-34.
- 32-Frixen UH, Behrens J, Sachs M, Eberle G, Voss B, Warda A, Löchner D, Birchmeier W. E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion prevents invasiveness of human carcinoma cells. J Cell Biol. 1991;113(1):173-85.
- 33-Vleminckx K, Vakaet L Jr, Mareel M, Fiers W, van Roy F. Genetic manipulation of E-cadherin expression by epithelial tumor cells reveals an invasion suppressor role. Cell. 1991;66(1):107-19.
- 34- Nagafuchi A, Shirayoshi Y, Okazaki K, Yasuda K, Takeichi M. Transformation of cell adhesion properties by exogenously introduced E-cadherin cDNA. Nature. 1987;329(6137):341-3.

- 35- Mege RM, Matsuzaki F, Gallin WJ, Goldberg JI, Cunningham BA, Edelman GM. Construction of epithelioid sheets by transfection of mouse sarcoma cells with cDNAs for chicken cell adhesion molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85(19):7274-8.
- 36- Navarro P, Lozano E, Cano A. Expression of E- or P-cadherin is not sufficient to modify the morphology and the tumorigenic behavior of murine spindle carcinoma cells. Possible involvement of plakoglobin. J Cell Sci. 1993;105 (Pt 4):923-34.
- 37-Parker HR, Li Z, Sheinin H, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1998;40(1):87-100.
- 38- Li Z, Gallin WJ, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. L-CAM expression induces fibroblastepidermoid transition in squamous carcinoma cells and down-regulates the endogenous N-cadherin. J Cell Sci. 1998;111 (Pt 7):1005-19.
- 39-McEwen AE, Escobar DE, Gottardi CJ. Signaling from the adherens junction. Subcell Biochem. 2012;60:171-96.
- 40- Johnson JL, Najor NA, Green KJ. Desmosomes: regulators of cellular signaling and adhesion in epidermal health and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2014;4(11):a015297.
- 41-Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(11):1461-1473.
- 42- Schackmann RC, Tenhagen M, van de Ven RA, Derksen PW. p120-catenin in cancer mechanisms, models and opportunities for intervention. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 16):3515-25.
- 43-Sun Y, Zhang J, Ma L. α-catenin. A tumor suppressor beyond adherens junctions. Cell Cycle. 2014;13(15):2334-9.
- 44- Kim W, Kim M, Jho EH. Wnt/β-catenin signalling: from plasma membrane to nucleus. Biochem J. 2013;450(1):9-21.
- 45-Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling, Disease, and Emerging Therapeutic Modalities. Cell. 2017;169(6):985-999.
- 46-Bradley RS, Cowin P, Brown AM. Expression of Wnt-1 in PC12 cells results in modulation of plakoglobin and E-cadherin and increased cellular adhesion. J Cell Biol. 1993;123(6 Pt 2):1857-65.
- 47-Karnovsky A, Klymkowsky MW. Anterior axis duplication in Xenopus induced by the over-expression of the cadherin-binding protein plakoglobin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(10):4522-6.
- 48-Merriam JM, Rubenstein AB, Klymkowsky MW. Cytoplasmically anchored plakoglobin induces a WNT-like phenotype in Xenopus. Dev Biol. 1997;185(1):67-81.
- 49- White P, Aberle H, Vincent JP. Signaling and adhesion activities of mammalian beta-catenin and plakoglobin in Drosophila. J Cell Biol. 1998;140(1):183-95.
- 50- Simcha I, Shtutman M, Salomon D, Zhurinsky J, Sadot E, Geiger B, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of betacatenin and plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1998;141(6):1433-48.

- 51- Klymkowsky MW, Williams BO, Barish GD, Varmus HE, Vourgourakis YE. Membrane-anchored plakoglobins have multiple mechanisms of action in Wnt signaling. Mol Biol Cell. 1999;10(10):3151-69.
- 52-Williams BO, Barish GD, Klymkowsky MW, Varmus HE. A comparative evaluation of beta-catenin and plakoglobin signaling activity. Oncogene. 2000;19(50):5720-8.
- 53- Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential mechanisms of LEF/TCF family-dependent transcriptional activation by beta-catenin and plakoglobin. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(12):4238-52.
- 54-Roskoski R Jr. Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure, mechanism, and small molecule inhibitors. Pharmacol Res. 2015;94:9-25.
- 55- Franzen CA, Todorović V, Desai BV, Mirzoeva S, Yang XJ, Green KJ, Pelling JC. The desmosomal armadillo protein plakoglobin regulates prostate cancer cell adhesion and motility through vitronectin-dependent Src signaling. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e42132.
- 56-Miravet S, Piedra J, Castaño J, Raurell I, Francí C, Duñach M, García de Herreros A. Tyrosine phosphorylation of plakoglobin causes contrary effects on its association with desmosomes and adherens junction components and modulates beta-catenin-mediated transcription. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23(20):7391-402.
- 57-Wang Y, Jin G, Miao H, Li JY, Usami S, Chien S. Integrins regulate VEcadherin and catenins: dependence of this regulation on Src, but not on Ras. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(6):1774-9.
- 58- Shafiei F, Rahnama F, Pawella L, Mitchell MD, Gluckman PD, Lobie PE. DNMT3A and DNMT3B mediate autocrine hGH repression of plakoglobin gene transcription and consequent phenotypic conversion of mammary carcinoma cells. Oncogene. 2008;27(18):2602-12.
- 59- Mukhina S, Mertani HC, Guo K, Lee KO, Gluckman PD, Lobie PE. Phenotypic conversion of human mammary carcinoma cells by autocrine human growth hormone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(42):15166-71.
- 60- Štajduhar E, Sedić M, Leniček T, Radulović P, Kerenji A, Krušlin B, Pavelić K, Kraljević Pavelić S. Expression of growth hormone receptor, plakoglobin and NEDD9 protein in association with tumour progression and metastasis in human breast cancer. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(7):6425-34.
- 61- Chua KN, Kong LR, Sim WJ, Ng HC, Ong WR, Thiery JP, Huynh H, Goh BC. Combinatorial treatment using targeted MEK and SRC inhibitors synergistically abrogates tumor cell growth and induces mesenchymalepithelial transition in non-small-cell lung carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2015;6(30):29991-30005.
- 62- Yin T, Getsios S, Caldelari R, Kowalczyk AP, Müller EJ, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin suppresses keratinocyte motility through both cell-cell adhesiondependent and -independent mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(15):5420-5.
- 63- Todorović V, Desai BV, Patterson MJ, Amargo EV, Dubash AD, Yin T, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin regulates cell motility through Rho- and fibronectindependent Src signaling. J Cell Sci. 2010;123(Pt 20):3576-86.

- 64-Lu S, Jang H, Gu S, Zhang J, Nussinov R. Drugging Ras GTPase: a comprehensive mechanistic and signaling structural view. Chem Soc Rev. 2016;45(18):4929-52.
- 65-Hegland DD, Sullivan DM, Rovira II, Li A, Kovesdi I, Bruder JT, Finkel T. Regulation of endothelial cell adherens junctions by a Ras-dependent signal transduction pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;260(2):371-6.
- 66- Nam JS, Ino Y, Sakamoto M, Hirohashi S. Ras farnesylation inhibitor FTI-277 restores the E-cadherin/catenin cell adhesion system in human cancer cells and reduces cancer metastasis. Jpn J Cancer Res. 2002;93(9):1020-8.
- 67- Yim JH, Baek JH, Lee CW, Kim MJ, Yun HS, Hong EH, Lee SJ, Park JK, Um HD, Hwang SG. Identification of HDAC4 as a target of γ-catenin that regulates the oncogenic K-Ras-mediated malignant phenotype of Rat2 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013;436(3):436-42.
- 68-Wang Y, Yu A, Yu FX. The Hippo pathway in tissue homeostasis and regeneration. Protein Cell. 2017;8(5):349-359.
- 69-Yu FX, Zhao B, Guan KL. Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer. Cell. 2015;163(4):811-28.
- 70-Varelas X. The Hippo pathway effectors TAZ and YAP in development, homeostasis and disease. Development. 2014;141(8):1614-26.
- 71-Kim NG, Koh E, Chen X, Gumbiner BM. E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(29):11930-5.
- 72- Silvis MR, Kreger BT, Lien WH, Klezovitch O, Rudakova GM, Camargo FD, Lantz DM, Seykora JT, Vasioukhin V. α-catenin is a tumor suppressor that controls cell accumulation by regulating the localization and activity of the transcriptional coactivator Yap1. Sci Signal. 2011;4(174):ra33.
- 73- Chen SN, Gurha P, Lombardi R, Ruggiero A, Willerson JT, Marian AJ. The hippo pathway is activated and is a causal mechanism for adipogenesis in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. 2014;114(3):454-68.
- 74- Zanconato F, Battilana G, Cordenonsi M, Piccolo S. YAP/TAZ as therapeutic targets in cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2016;29:26-33.
- 75-Salomon D, Sacco PA, Roy SG, Simcha I, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ, Ben-Ze'ev A. Regulation of beta-catenin levels and localization by overexpression of plakoglobin and inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Cell Biol. 1997;139(5):1325-35.
- 76-Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007;46(10):824-38.
- 77- Chen YJ, Lee LY, Chao YK, Chang JT, Lu YC, Li HF, Chiu CC, Li YC, Li YL, Chiou JF, Cheng AJ. DSG3 facilitates cancer cell growth and invasion through the DSG3-plakoglobin-TCF/LEF-Myc/cyclin D1/MMP signaling pathway. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e64088.
- 78- Lai YH, Cheng J, Cheng D, Feasel ME, Beste KD, Peng J, Nusrat A, Moreno CS. SOX4 interacts with plakoglobin in a Wnt3a-dependent manner in prostate cancer cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2011;12:50.

- 79-Besnier LS, Cardot P, Da Rocha B, Simon A, Loew D, Klein C, Riveau B, Lacasa M, Clair C, Rousset M, Thenet S. The cellular prion protein PrPc is a partner of the Wnt pathway in intestinal epithelial cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2015;26(18):3313-28.
- 80-Rousset M, Leturque A, Thenet S. The nucleo-junctional interplay of the cellular prion protein: A new partner in cancer-related signaling pathways? Prion. 2016;10(2):143-52.
- 81- Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. Oncogenesis. 2012;1:e4.
- 82-Falini B, Martelli MP, Mecucci C, Liso A, Bolli N, Bigerna B, Pucciarini A, Pileri S, Meloni G, Martelli MF, Haferlach T, Schnittger S. Cytoplasmic mutated nucleophosmin is stable in primary leukemic cells and in a xenotransplant model of NPMc+ acute myeloid leukemia in SCID mice. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):775-9.
- 83- Shandilya J, Swaminathan V, Gadad SS, Choudhari R, Kodaganur GS, Kundu TK. Acetylated NPM1 localizes in the nucleoplasm and regulates transcriptional activation of genes implicated in oral cancer manifestation. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29(18):5115-27.
- 84- Grisendi S, Mecucci C, Falini B, Pandolfi PP. Nucleophosmin and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Jul;6(7):493-505.
- 85-Bevilacqua G, Sobel ME, Liotta LA, Steeg PS. Association of low nm23 RNA levels in human primary infiltrating ductal breast carcinomas with lymph node involvement and other histopathological indicators of high metastatic potential. Cancer Res. 1989;49(18):5185-90.
- 86-Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, *et al.* Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. *Oncogene*. 2010;29(14):2118-29.
- 87-Boissan M, De Wever O, Lizarraga F, Wendum D, Poincloux R, Chignard N, Desbois-Mouthon C, Dufour S, Nawrocki-Raby B, Birembaut P, Bracke M, Chavrier P, Gespach C, Lacombe ML. Implication of metastasis suppressor NM23-H1 in maintaining adherens junctions and limiting the invasive potential of human cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2010;70(19):7710-22.
- 88-Moreno V, Gonzalo P, Gómez-Escudero J, Pollán Á, Acín-Pérez R, Breckenridge M, Yáñez-Mó M, Barreiro O, Orsenigo F, Kadomatsu K, Chen CS, Enríquez JA, Dejana E, Sánchez-Madrid F, Arroyo AG. An EMMPRIN-γcatenin-Nm23 complex drives ATP production and actomyosin contractility at endothelial junctions. J Cell Sci. 2014;127(Pt 17):3768-81.
- 89- Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Müller EJ. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. EMBO J. 2006;25(14):3298-309.
- 90-Tokonzaba E, Chen J, Cheng X, Den Z, Ganeshan R, Műller EJ, Koch PJ. Plakoglobin as a regulator of desmocollin gene expression. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(12):2732-2740.

- 91- Hakimelahi S, Parker HR, Gilchrist AJ, Barry M, Li Z, Bleackley RC, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin regulates the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(15):10905-11.
- 92- Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of 14-3-3σ. *J Cell Sci.* 2013;126(Pt 14):3031-42.
- 93- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):e78388.
- 94- Shtutman M, Zhurinsky J, Oren M, Levina E, Ben-Ze'ev A. PML is a target gene of beta-catenin and plakoglobin, and coactivates beta-catenin-mediated transcription. Cancer Res. 2002;62(20):5947-54.
- 95- Sechler M, Borowicz S, Van Scoyk M, Avasarala S, Zerayesus S, Edwards MG, Kumar Karuppusamy Rathinam M, Zhao X, Wu PY, Tang K, Bikkavilli RK, Winn RA. Novel Role for γ-Catenin in the Regulation of Cancer Cell Migration via the Induction of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (HAI-1). J Biol Chem. 2015;290(25):15610-20.
- 96- Levine AJ, Oren M. The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(10):749-58.
- 97-Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature. 1992;358(6381):15-6.
- 98-Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH. p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2015;16(7):393-405.
- 99-Slee EA, O'Connor DJ, Lu X. To die or not to die: how does p53 decide? Oncogene. 2004;23(16):2809-18.
- 100-Moll UM, Petrenko O. The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol Cancer Res. 2003;1(14):1001-8.
- 101-Shi D, Gu W. Dual Roles of MDM2 in the Regulation of p53: Ubiquitination Dependent and Ubiquitination Independent Mechanisms of MDM2 Repression of p53 Activity. Genes Cancer. 2012;3(3-4):240-8.
- 102-Saha T, Kar RK, Sa G. Structural and sequential context of p53: A review of experimental and theoretical evidence. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2015 Mar;117(2-3):250-63.
- 103-Raj N, Attardi LD. The Transactivation Domains of the p53 Protein. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2017;7(1).
- 104-Jenkins LM, Durell SR, Mazur SJ, Appella E. p53 N-terminal phosphorylation: a defining layer of complex regulation. Carcinogenesis. 2012;33(8):1441-9.
- 105-Baptiste N, Friedlander P, Chen X, Prives C. The proline-rich domain of p53 is required for cooperation with anti-neoplastic agents to promote apoptosis of tumor cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(1):9-21.
- 106-Hupp TR, Meek DW, Midgley CA, Lane DP. Regulation of the specific DNA binding function of p53. Cell. 1992;71(5):875-86.
- 107-Tafvizi A, Huang F, Leith JS, Fersht AR, Mirny LA, van Oijen AM. Tumor suppressor p53 slides on DNA with low friction and high stability. Biophys J. 2008;95(1):L01-3.

- 108-Laptenko O, Shiff I, Freed-Pastor W, Zupnick A, Mattia M, Freulich E, Shamir I, Kadouri N, Kahan T, Manfredi J, Simon I, Prives C. The p53 C terminus controls site-specific DNA binding and promotes structural changes within the central DNA binding domain. Mol Cell. 2015;57(6):1034-46.
- 109-Zhang XP, Liu F, Wang W. Regulation of the DNA damage response by p53 cofactors. Biophys J. 2012;102(10):2251-60.
- 110-Chen J. The Cell-Cycle Arrest and Apoptotic Functions of p53 in Tumor Initiation and Progression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2016 Mar 1;6(3):a026104.
- 111-Wolff S, Erster S, Palacios G, Moll UM. p53's mitochondrial translocation and MOMP action is independent of Puma and Bax and severely disrupts mitochondrial membrane integrity. Cell Res. 2008;18(7):733-44.
- 112-Green DR, Kroemer G. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature. 2009;458(7242):1127-30.
- 113-Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(1):2-8.
- 114-Weinberg RA. Tumor suppressor genes. Science. 1991;254(5035):1138-46.
- 115-Goldstein I, Marcel V, Olivier M, Oren M, Rotter V, Hainaut P. Understanding wild-type and mutant p53 activities in human cancer: new landmarks on the way to targeted therapies. Cancer Gene Ther. 2011;18(1):2-11.
- 116-Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. Genes Dev. 2012;26(12):1268-86.
- 117-Willis A, Jung EJ, Wakefield T, Chen X. Mutant p53 exerts a dominant negative effect by preventing wild-type p53 from binding to the promoter of its target genes. Oncogene. 2004 Mar 25;23(13):2330-8.
- 118-Mello SS, Attardi LD. Not all p53 gain-of-function mutants are created equal. Cell Death Differ. 2013;20(7):855-7.
- 119-Chicas A, Molina P, Bargonetti J. Mutant p53 forms a complex with Sp1 on HIV-LTR DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000; 20;279(2):383-90.
- 120-Sampath J, Sun D, Kidd VJ, Grenet J, Gandhi A, Shapiro LH, Wang Q, Zambetti GP, Schuetz JD. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS and selectively upregulates human MDR1 not MRP1. J Biol Chem. 2001; 19;276(42):39359-67.
- 121-Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, Blandino G, Piaggio G. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. Cancer Cell. 2006; 10(3):191-202.
- 122-Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, Del Sal G, Levrero M, Sacchi A, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. J Biol Chem. 2002; 24;277(21):18817-26.
- 123-Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, Levine AJ, Sacchi A, Cesareni G, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. J Biol Chem. 2000; 22;275(38):29503-12.
- 124-Strano S, Blandino G. p73-mediated chemosensitivity: a preferential target of oncogenic mutant p53. Cell Cycle. 2003; 2(4):348-9.

- 125-Donzelli S, Fontemaggi G, Fazi F, Di Agostino S, Padula F, Biagioni F, Muti P, Strano S, Blandino G. MicroRNA-128-2 targets the transcriptional repressor E2F5 enhancing mutant p53 gain of function. *Cell Death Differ*. 2012;19(6):1038-48.
- 126-Pfister NT, Fomin V, Regunath K, Zhou JY, Zhou W, Silwal-Pandit L, Freed-Pastor WA, Laptenko O, Neo SP, Bargonetti J, Hoque M, Tian B, Gunaratne J, Engebraaten O, Manley JL, Børresen-Dale AL, Neilsen PM, Prives C. Mutant p53 cooperates with the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex to regulate VEGFR2 in breast cancer cells. *Genes Dev.* 2015; 15;29(12):1298-315.
- 127-Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, Barsyte-Lovejoy D, Al-awar R, Katona BW, Shilatifard A, Huang J, Hua X, Arrowsmith CH, Berger SL. Gain-of-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. Nature. 2015 Sep 10;525(7568):206-11.

Chapter two

Plakoglobin reduces the *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion of ovarian cancer cells expressing N-cadherin and mutant p53

PREFACE

This chapter has been published as: <u>Alaee M</u>, Danesh G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin Reduces the in vitro Growth, Migration and Invasion of Ovarian Cancer Cells Expressing N-Cadherin and Mutant p53. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154323. PLoS One is an open-access publisher that states: "PLOS applies the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license to works we publish. Under this license, authors retain ownership of the copyright for their content, but they allow anyone to download, reuse, reprint, modify, distribute and/or copy the content as long as the original authors and source are cited."

Contributions:

I participated in conceiving and designing the experiments, performed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. GD performed replicates of experiment shown in figure 2.2A and migration and invasion assays for OV-90 cells.

2.1. Introduction

Ovarian cancer (OVCA), the fifth most prevalent cancer in women is the leading cause of all female reproductive cancer deaths worldwide, with an overall five-year survival rate of $\sim 45\%$ [1]. The major form of OVCA is the epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC), which accounts for \sim 80% of all ovarian neoplasms [2]. EOCs are classified into type I and type II [3]. Type I tumors are genetically stable, slow-growing, and have relatively good clinical outcome. However, the majority of OVCA are type II. Over 90% of these tumors harbor p53 mutations, are genetically unstable, highly aggressive and have poor clinical outcome [4-6]. TP53 mutations are believed to be an early event during the development of type II tumors and contribute to both metastatic progression and chemoresistance [7-12]. p53 is a transcription factor and tumor suppressor that plays essential roles in regulating cell proliferation, survival, senescence, apoptosis and metabolism [13]. In response to stress, p53 activates DNA damage response, cell cycle arrest and cell death [14,15]. Different posttranslational modifications and protein-protein interactions regulate p53 stability and functions [16]. We have identified plakoglobin as a novel interacting partner of both wild type and mutant p53 (mp53) [17,18].

Plakoglobin is a member of the Armadilo family of proteins and a paralog of β catenin [19,20]. Unlike, β -catenin, which only associates with adherens junctions and possesses well-known oncogenic functions, plakoglobin is a tumor/metastasis suppressor protein and participates in the formation of both adherens junctions and desmosomes [19,21]. Plakoglobin can confer growth/metastasis inhibitory effects via its interactions with cadherins and induction of contact inhibition of growth [19]. In addition, it can interact with a number of intracellular partners including transcription factors [17-19,22-27]. We have shown that plakoglobin interacts with p53 and its tumor/metastasis suppressor function may, at least partially, be mediated by this interaction [17,18].

A number of studies have suggested that the loss of cadherin-catenin complex and activation of β -catenin oncogenic function play pivotal roles in the local invasion of ovarian tumor cells and subsequent metastasis [28-31]. Furthermore, the loss of heterozygosity of the plakoglobin gene (JUP) has been reported in sporadic OVCAs [32]. However, very little is known about the role of plakoglobin in OVCAs. In this study, we assessed the potential tumor/metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin in OVCAs, using the normal ovarian cell line IOSE-364 and OVCA cell lines OV-90 (plakoglobin and E-cadherin positive, mp53 expressing), ES-2 (plakoglobin and E-cadherin negative, N-cadherin positive and mp53 expressing), ES-2-PG (ES-2 tansfectants expressing plakoglobin), ES-2-Ecad (ES-2 tansfectants expressing E-cadherin) and ES-2-shN-cad (ES-2 cells in which N-cadherin has been knocked down). We examined plakoglobin levels, localization and interactions with E- and N-cadherin and p53 and assessed the growth, migratory and invasive properties of various cell lines. The results showed that plakoglobin interacted with both cadherins and p53. Exogenous expression of E-cadherin or plakoglobin or knockdown of N-cadherin significantly reduced the migration and invasion of ES-2 cells. Furthermore, plakoglobin expression and Ncadherin knockdown but not E-cadherin expression significantly reduced ES-2 cells growth.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions

IOSE-364 (hereafter IOSE) were grown in a 1:1 M199 and MCDB M105 media plus 5% FBS and 1% PSK (Penicillin, Streptomycin, Kanamycin). OV90 cells were maintained in the same M199 and MCDB M105 media plus 15% FBS and 1% PSK. ES-2 cells were grown in McCoy's 5a media completed with 10% FBS and 1% PSK. ES-2-E-cad and ES-2-PG cells were grown in ES-2 media containing 400 μ g/ml (selection) or 200 μ g/ml (maintenance) G418. ES-2-shNcad transfectants were cultured in ES-2 media with 1 μ g/ml (selection) or 0.5 μ g/ml (maintenance) puromycin.

2.2.2. Transfection

Plasmids encoding E-cadherin and plakoglobin have been described [33, 34]. Cultures of ES-2 cells in 60 mm or 100 mm dishes were transfected at 50-75% confluency with 10-25 μ g of DNA using calcium phosphate. Twenty hours after transfection, cells were rinsed with PBS and allowed to recover for 24 hours in complete growth media. To select stable transfectants, 72 h after transfection, media containing 400 μ g/ml G418 (ES-2- PG and ES-2- E-cad transfectants) were added to cells and resistant colonies selected for 3-4 weeks. Resistant clones were maintained in 200 μ g/ml G418 and screened for plakoglobin and E-cadherin expression by immunofluorescence and immunoblotting assays.

2.2.3. N-cadherin knockdown

Human N-cadherin lentiviral shRNA plasmid [35] was used to transfect Phoenix-AMPHO cells using calcium phosphate. Lentiviral particles collected at 48 and 72 hours post transfection were combined and filtered using a 0.45µm low-protein binding filter. Lentiviral particles were used to transduce ES-2 cells in the presence of 8µg/ml polyberene (Santa Cruz). Puromycin-resistant stable cell lines expressing the N-cadherin shRNAs (ES-2-shN-cad) were isolated and the N-cadherin levels assessed by immunoblot and immunofluorescence.

2.2.4. Immunoblot Analysis

Confluent 100 mm culture plates were rinsed with cold PBS and solubilized in SDS sample buffer (10 mM Tris–HCl pH 6.8, 2% (w/v) SDS, 50 mM dithiothreitol, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM PMSF, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄). Equal amounts of total cellular proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Biorad). The membranes were incubated in specific primary antibodies overnight at 4°^C followed by the appropriate secondary antibodies at room temperature (Table 2.1). Membranes were scanned using an Odyssey CLx infrared imaging system.

		Assay				
Primary antibodies	Species	WB	IP IF		Source	
p53	Mouse	1:1000	1:100	-	Santa Cruz, sc-126	
Plakoglobin	Mouse	1:1000	1:100	1:100	Translab, 610254	
E-cadherin	Mouse	1:1000	-	1:100	Translab, 610404	
N-cadherin	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Santa Cruz, sc-59987	
Cytokeratin (pan-keratin)	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Sigma, C-2931	
Vimentin	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Sigma, V-6630	
β-actin	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Santa Cruz, sc-47778	
Secondary antibodies						
Anti-mouse IgG, light chain	Goat	1:15000	-	-	Jackson Immuno Research, 115-625-174	
Anti-rabbit IgG, light chain	Goat	1:15000	-	-	Jackson Immuno Research, 211-652-171	
Alexa fluor 488	Mouse	-	-	1:2000	Molecular Probes, A11029	
Alexa fluor 546	Rabbit	-	-	1:3000	Molecular Probes, A11035	
Rhodamine	Rabbit	-	-	1:400	Boehringer Mannheim, 605107	
Rhodamine	Rat	-	-	1:400	Sigma, T4280	

Table 2.1.	Antibodies a	nd their res	nective dilut	tions in spe	cific assays.
1 11010 1111	1 111010 0 01100 00		peres and		

2.2.5. Immunofluorescence

Confluent cell cultures were established on glass coverslips and rinsed with cold PBS containing 1 mM each of NaF, Na₃VO₄ and CaCl₂. Cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 minutes and extracted with CSK buffer (50 mM NaCl, 300 mM Sucrose, 10 mM PIPES pH 6.8, 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.5% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM PMSF, and 1 mg/ml DNase and RNase; [17]) for 10 minutes. Coverslips were blocked with 4.0% goat serum and 50 mM NH₄Cl₄ in PBS containing 0.2% BSA for 1 hour. Coverslips were then incubated in the specific primary antibodies for 1 hour followed by the secondary antibodies for 30 minutes at concentrations indicated in Table 2.1. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (1:2000). Coverslips were mounted in elvanol containing 0.2% (w/v) paraphenylene diamine (PPD) and viewed using a 63x objective lens of a Zeiss confocal microscope.

2.2.6. Immunoprecipitation

Cultures were grown to confluency in 100 mm dishes and rinsed with cold PBS containing 1 mM NaF, Na₃VO₄ and CaCl₂. Cells were extracted in 1ml of lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.7 μ g/ml Pepstatin, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM NaF, and protease inhibitor cocktail) for 20 minutes on a rocker at 4^{oC}. Cells were scraped and centrifuged at 48000 xg for 10 minutes. Supernatants were processed for immunoprecipitation with p53, plakoglobin, E- and N-cadherin antibodies (Table 2.1) and 40 μ l protein G agarose (Thermo Fisher Scientific) beads overnight on a rocker-rotator at 4^{oC}. Samples were then centrifuged at 14000 xg for 2 min, the beads were removed and the supernatants processed for a second

immunoprecipation for 3 hours. Beads from the two immunoprecipitations were combined and washed three times with the lysis buffer. Immune complexes were solubilized in 60 μ l SDS sample buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and processed for immunoblot as described above.

2.2.7. Growth, migration and invasion assay

For *in vitro* growth assay, $3x10^4$ cells from ES-2, ES-2-E-cad, ES-2-PG and ES-2-shN-cad cells were plated in a 24-well plate. At 1, 3, 5 and 7 days after plating, cultures were trypsinized and cells were counted. Each time point represents the average of three independent experiments.

For cell migration assays, 2×10^5 cells were resuspended in 0.5 ml serum-free media and plated in the upper chamber of transwell inserts (3 μ m pore, 6.5 mm diameter; BD Biosciences). Normal media containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber and cultures were incubated for 16 hours at $37^{\circ C}$. Inserts were then transferred into new dishes and rinsed with PBS to remove un-attached cells. Inserts were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde (in PBS) for 2 minutes, permeabilized with 100% methanol for 20 minutes and stained with Giemsa stain for 15 minutes at room temperature. Following staining, membranes were viewed under an inverted microscope using a 20x objective lens and photographed.

For Matrigel invasion assays, cells were starved in serum-free media for 24 hours prior to the assay. For each cell line, 5×10^4 cells in 0.2 ml serum-free media were plated in the top compartment of Matrigel-coated invasion chambers (8 µm pore PETE membrane; BD Biosciences). Fibroblast conditioned media (0.8 ml) was added to the bottom chambers and plates were incubated overnight at $37^{\circ C}$. After 16 hours, membranes were recovered and processed as described for the migration assay. Mounted membranes were viewed under a 20x objective lens of an inverted microscope and photographed.

The migrated/invaded cells were counted in 5 random fields for each membrane using ImageJ Cell Counter program. Numbers for each cell line were averaged and normalized to those of the normal cell line or parental untransfected cells and histograms constructed. Histograms represent the average of at least 3 independent assays for each cell line.

2.2.8. Statistical analysis

Values are presented as means \pm SD. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by Student's t-tests. *P*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Protein expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers and p53 in various OVCA cell lines

Protein expression of E-cadherin, N-cadherin, plakoglobin, cytokeratins, vimentin and p53 in IOSE, ES-2 and OV-90 cells were detected using immunoblot analysis (Figure 2.1). IOSE cells had very little, if any, E-cadherin and expressed N-cadherin and plakoglobin. These cells also expressed cytokeratins, vimentin and p53. These observations were consistent with previous findings indicating that normal OSE cells displayed both epithelial and mesenchymal markers [36]. In contrast, OV-90 cells that express mp53 [37] had no detectable N-cadherin, low levels of vimentin and high levels of epithelial markers including E-cadherin, plakoglobin and cytokeratins. ES-2 cells, which also express mp53 [38, 39], displayed a more
mesenchymal phenotype, lacked E-cadherin and plakoglobin and expressed Ncadherin, vimentin and very low levels of cytokeratins.



Figure 2.1. Protein expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers and p53 in ovarian cancer cell lines. Total cell lysates from IOSE-364, ES-2 and OV-90 cells were processed for immunoblot analysis using N-cadherin, E-cadherin, plakoglobin, vimentin, cytokeratins and p53 antibodies. Equal loadings were confirmed by processing the same lysates with actin antibodies.

2.3.2. Levels, localization and interaction of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in normal and carcinoma ovarian cell lines

Subcellular distribution and potential co-localization of E-/N-cadherin with plakoglobin were examined by double immunofluorescence staining (Figure 2.2A). In IOSE cells, consistent with the immunoblot results, E-cadherin levels were undetectable whereas N-cadherin and plakoglobin were expressed at high levels and were co-distributed at the membrane (Figure 2.2A, IOSE). In OV-90 cells, high levels of E-cadherin and plakoglobin were present and were colocalized at the membrane. We also detected scarcely distributed small patches of N-cadherin positive cells in OV-90 cultures. In these patches, N-cadherin was colocalized with plakoglobin (Figure 2.2A, OV-90). In ES-2 cells, there was no detectable Ecadherin or plakoglobin, whereas they expressed high levels of N-cadherin, which was distributed throughout the cytoplasm (Figure 2.2A, ES-2). Consistent with the absence of plakoglobin and adhesive junctions, ES-2 cells exhibited significantly less cell-to-cell contact and their morphology was distinctly different than IOSE and OV-90 cells. Co-immunoprecipitation studies showed that plakoglobin interacted with N-cadherin in IOSE cells and with E-cadherin in OV-90 cells (Figure 2.2B).



plakoglobin antibodies. OV-90 cells expressing endogenous E-cadherin and plakoglobin were used to show the interaction between E-cadherin and 364 and OV90 cells were processed for reciprocal and sequential immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting using N-cadherin, E-cadherin and 2 and OV-90 cells were grown on coverslips and processed for double immunofluorescence staining. E-cadherin (E-cad, red) or N-cadherin (N-cad, red) and plakoglobin (PG, green) antibodies were used at concentrations indicated in Table 2.1. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Bar, 25 mm. (B) Interaction of plakoglobin and E-/N-cadherin in normal and ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Equal amounts of total cell extracts from IOSE-Figure 2.2. (A) Levels and localization of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in normal and carcinoma ovarian cell lines. IOSE-364, ESplakoglobin. IOSE-364 cells expressing endogenous N-cadherin and plakoglobin were used to confirm the interaction of N-cadherin and plakoglobin. E-cad, E-cadherin; N-cad, N-cadherin; PG, plakoglobin.

E-cad

N-cad

PG

2.3.3. The absence of E-cadherin and plakoglobin expression and the presence of N-cadherin contribute to the migratory and invasive properties of ES-2 cells.

Previously, we have shown that the expression of plakoglobin in plakoglobin - deficient carcinoma cells that lack E-cadherin and express N-cadherin decreases their *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion [33, 34]. To examine whether plakoglobin had similar effects in OVCA cells, we first examined the migration and invasion properties of IOSE, OV-90 and ES-2 cells. Then, we exogenously expressed E-cadherin or plakoglobin or knocked down N-cadherin in these cells and assessed changes in their growth, migration and invasion. As depicted in Figure (Figure 2.3A), OV-90 cells showed significantly lower migration and invasion relative to IOSE cells (8.4% and 0.4 %, respectively). In contrast ES-2 cells were significantly more migratory and invasive compare to IOSE cells (138% and 196.4%, respectively).

Exogenous expression of E-cadherin and plakoglobin and stable knockdown of Ncadherin in ES-2 transfectants was confirmed using immunoblot (Figure 2.3B) and immunofluorescence analyses (Figure 2.3C). In ES-2-E-cad cells (Figure 2.3B, C, ES-2-Ecad), E-cadherin was expressed and mainly localized at the membrane although it was also detected in the cytoplasm of the transfectants. Interestingly, plakoglobin expression in ES-2-PG cells (Figure 2.3B, C, ES2-PG) led to the upregulation of endogenous E-cadherin. In these cells, the exogenously expressed plakoglobin colocalized with both N-cadherin and E-cadherin (Figure 3B, C, ES2-PG). N-cadherin knockdown reduced the levels of the endogenous N-cadherin (>90%). Staining of these cultures with N-cadherin antibodies detected occasional cells that were barely stained (Figure 2.3B, C, ES2-shN-cad). Furthermore, co-immunoprecipitation studies showed that in ES-2-PG cells, N-cadherin interacted with exogenously expressed plakoglobin (Figure 2.3D).

Assessment of the migration and invasion of ES-2 transfectants showed a significant reduction in both migration and invasion of ES-2-Ecad and ES-2-PG cells relative to parental ES-2 cells (Figure 2.4A, B and D). E-cadherin expression in ES-2 cells reduced migration and invasion of these cells by 39% and 42%, respectively. Plakoglobin expression in ES-2 cells decreased migration and invasion by 58% and 44%, respectively. The effect of N-cadherin knockdown on migration was similar to that of plakoglobin expression, i.e. a reduction of 65% whereas the invasion of ES-2-shN-cad cells was significantly less than that of ES-2-E-cad and ES-2-PG cells (68% reduction) (Figure 2.4A, B and D). We also compared the growth of ES-2 cells with those of ES-2-E-cad, ES-2-PG and ES-2shN-cad transfectants (Figure 2.4C, D). At day 7, ES-2-E-cad cells showed similar growth rate to ES-2 cells while ES-2-PG and ES-2-shN-cad cells showed significantly lower growth than ES-2 cells (21% and 25% reduction, respectively, (Figure 2.4C, D). However, while ES-2-shN-cad cells showed decreased growth throughout the 7 days, ES-2-PG cultures showed decreased cell number after day 5, likely due to the induction of contact inhibition upon culture confluency (Figure 2.4C).

Taken together, these results suggested that expression of E-cadherin or plakoglobin or knockdown of N-cadherin effectively reduced migration and

56

invasion of ES-2 cells. However, only plakoglobin expression or N-cadherin knockdown significantly decreased the growth of these cells.

in Materials and Methods. The number of migrated/invaded cells were normalized to those of the IOSE-364 cells. (B) Expression of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in ES-2 transfectants expressing E-cadherin (ES-2-E-cad) or plakoglobin (ES-2-PG) or N-cadherin shRNAs (ES-2-shN-cad). Stable transfectants were processed for immunoblotting using E-cadherin, plakoglobin and N-cadherin antibodies. To confirm equal loadings, the same cell lysates were processed with actin Stable transfectants were established on coverslips and processed for double immunofluorescence with E-cadherin (E-cad, red) or N-cadherin (N-cad, red) and plakoglobin (PG, green) antibodies. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue). Bar, 25 mm. (D) Interaction of plakoglobin and N-cadherin in ES-2-PG cells. Total cell Figure 2.3. (A) migration (Left) and invasion (Right) of IOSE-364, OV-90, ES-2 cells. Cultures were processed for in vitro migration and invasion assays as described antibodies. (C) Subcellular distribution and colocalization of E-cadherin, N-cadherin and plakoglobin in ES-2- E-cad, ES-2-PG and ES-2-shN-cad transfectants. extracts from ES-2-PG cells were processed for reciprocal and sequential immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting using N-cadherin and plakoglobin antibodies to confirm the interaction of N-cadherin and plakoglobin. E-cad, E-cadherin; N-cad, N-cadherin; PG, plakoglobin.

N-cad







2.3.4. Interaction of plakoglobin and p53 in normal and ovarian carcinoma cell lines

We have shown that plakoglobin interacted with both wild type and mp53 in various carcinoma cell lines and they both associated with promoters of a number of p53 target genes [17, 18, 40]. Plakoglobin's interactions with mp53 expressing carcinoma cells led to decreased growth, migration and invasion of these cells. To this end, we examined whether plakoglobin associated with p53 in OVCA cells. Total cell extract of IOSE, ES-2 and ES-2-PG cells were processed for reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) and immunoblotting with plakoglobin and p53 antibodies (Table 2.1). In IOSE cells plakoglobin antibodies co-precipitated p53 and plakoglobin (Figure 2.5). The reciprocal co-IP using p53 antibodies coprecipitated plakoglobin, further validating the interaction between plakoglobin and p53 in these cells. In ES-2 cells expressing exogenous plakoglobin and endogenous mp53, plakoglobin antibodies co-precipitated p53 and plakoglobin. In the reciprocal co-IP of ES-2-PG cells, p53 antibodies brought down both plakoglobin and p53 (Figure 2.5). In contrast, in ES-2 cells with no plakoglobin expression, p53 antibodies precipitated p53 only (Figure 2.5). Control immunoprecipitations with p53 and plakoglobin pre-immune antibodies did not detect either protein in the total cell lysates (Figure 2.5B).



Figure 2.5. Interaction of plakoglobin and p53 in normal and ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Equal amounts of total cell extracts (TCE) from IOSE-364, ES-2 and ES-2-PG cells were processed for receiprocal and sequential immunoprecipitation (IP) and immunoblotting (IB) using p53 and plakoglobin antibodies (A) or preimmune antibodies **(B)** as described in Materials and Methods. The same lysates were processed with actin antibodies to confirm equal loadings. PG, plakoglobin; Pi, pre-immune.

2.4. Discussion

In the current study, for the first time, we investigated the *in vitro* tumor/metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin in EOC cell lines with mp53 expression and different cadherin profiles. We showed that ES-2 cells that express N-cadherin and are deficient in E-cadherin and plakoglobin were highly migratory and invasive. In contrast, OV-90 cells that express both E-cadherin and plakoglobin and very little N-cadherin were not migratory or invasive. The exogenous expression of plakoglobin or E-cadherin or knockdown of N-cadherin in ES-2 cells significantly reduced their migration and invasion. Our data showed that plakoglobin colocalized with both E-cadherin and N-cadherin in adhesion complexes. Consistent with these observations, we detected significant reduction in ES-2-PG and ES-2-shN-cad growth relative to ES-2 and ES-2-E-cad cells. Furthermore, plakoglobin interacted with wild type p53 in IOSE cells and mp53 in ES-2-PG transfectants.

Cadherin switching from E- to N-cadherin is a critical step in the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT)-mediated malignancies [41, 42]. EMT leads to the cell-cell junction disassembly, loss of cell polarity and gain of migratory and invasive properties [30, 44, 44]. While E-cadherin is an epithelial marker and a known tumor suppressor, N-cadherin is a mesenchymal marker and its expression is associated with a more migratory and invasive phenotype [44, 45]. Normal ovarian surface epithelial (OSE) cells express a combination of epithelial and mesenchymal markers. These cells do not have E-cadherin but express N-cadherin, catenins, vimentin and cytokeratins [36, 46-50]. In agreement with these reports, IOSE cells expressed N-cadherin and vimentin as well as catenins including

plakoglobin, and cytokeratins. The exact role of E-/N-cadherin switch in the initiation and progression of ovarian carcinomas is not very clear since both cadherins can be expressed in ovarian tumors of different origins and at different stages [51, 52]. However, while a few studies suggest that E-cadherin is upregulated in OVCA effusions [52, 53], the great majority suggest that the loss or reduced levels of E-cadherin contribute to the transition from benign to borderline ovarian lesions, to poorly differentiated ovarian tumors, and to the local invasion and metastasis [28, 47, 55-58]. Consistent with the tumor suppressor activities of Ecadherin, downregulation/lack of E-cadherin expression due to the high levels of its transcriptional repressors Snail, Twist and ZEB-2 has been associated with the migratory and invasive properties of ES-2 and other OVCA cells [59-71]. In addition, E-cadherin suppresses growth and metastasis via inhibiting receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and PI3k/Akt pathways [72, 73]. In agreement with these studies, we showed that ES-2-E-cad cells had significantly lower migration and invasion (39% and 42%, respectively) compared to ES-2 cells.

Although N-cadherin is expressed in normal OSE, its expression is generally associated with increased migration and invasion of OVCA [74-76]. N-cadherin levels have been shown to be elevated in cell lines expressing Snail and ZEB-1, as well as, in patients with higher FIGO tumor grade and metastasis [51, 64, 77]. Exogenous expression of MUC4 in SKOV3 cells led to the downregulation of E-cadherin, upregulation of N-cadherin and increased motility. N-cadherin knockdown in these cells reduced MUC4 induced motility, concurrent with decreased activity of ERK1/2, AKT and MMP9 [78]. Supporting these studies, a

selective anti-N-cadherin antibody (Exherin, ADH-1) was recently shown to be effective in stabilizing disease progression in two OVCA patients in a small phase I clinical study, which assessed patients with various solid tumors [79]. Here, we showed that relative to ES-2 cells, the migration and invasion of ES-2-shN-cad transfectants were reduced by 65% and 68%, respectively. Furthermore, knocking down N-cadherin was much more effective in reducing migration and invasion than expressing E-cadherin in ES-2 cells. Similarly, while E-cadherin expression had very little effect (5%) in decreasing growth, plakoglobin expression or N-cadherin knockdown significantly reduced ES-2 cells growth (20%, 25%, respectively).

Unlike cadherins, very little is known about the role of plakoglobin in OVCA. Plakoglobin has been shown to have growth/metastasis inhibitory function, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [19]. This function of plakoglobin can be mediated by stabilizing /sequestering N-cadherin and induction of contact inhibition of growth and/or interacting with different cellular proteins including transcription factors [17-19, 27,34,40,80-82]. Here, the exogenous expression of plakoglobin significantly reduced migration and invasion of ES-2 cells (58% and 44% respectively). The effect of plakoglobin on inhibiting migration was significantly higher than that of E-cadherin. Since plakoglobin expression is necessary for the formation of both adherens junctions and desmosomes [19,33], this may suggest that plakoglobin reduced migration with transcription factors and regulation of gene expression. Interaction of plakoglobin with several transcription factors such as TCF/LEF, CBP, SOX4 and p53 has been reported previously [17, 22-26, 81]. We have shown

that plakoglobin interacted with mp53 in several carcinoma cell lines and they both associated with promoters of a number of p53 target genes including tumor suppressors *SFN* (14-3-3s) and *NME1* and the oncogenic genome organizer *SATB1*. Furthermore, these associations were concurrent with reduced growth, migration and invasion [17,18]. Plakoglobin also regulated the expression of HAI-1 and reduced migration in a p53 dependent manner in NSCLC cells [27]. Here, we showed that plakoglobin interacted with wild type p53 in IOSE cells and with mp53 in ES-2-PG cells. p53 regulates the expression of EMT markers such as Twist, Snail and Slug [82-85]. We detected low levels of E-cadherin in ES-2-PG cells upon plakoglobin expression. Whether this E-cadherin expression is due to the downregulation of E-cadherin transcriptional repressors via plakoglobin/p53 interaction or stabilization of E-cadherin protein via its interaction with plakoglobin warrants further studies.

In summary, this is the first demonstration of the role of plakoglobin in OVCA cells. Our data showed that exogenous expression of plakoglobin or knockdown of N-cadherin were more effective than expression of E-cadherin in inhibiting the growth, migratory and invasive properties of ES-2 cells. These results suggest that Plakoglobin expression sequestered tumor/metastasis promoting activities of N-cadherin. Induction of E-cadherin expression in ES-2 cells expressing exogenous plakoglobin, which interacted with the endogenous mp53 raises the possibility that plakoglobin may also be involved in the regulation of p53 target genes involved in migration and invasion. Collectively, the results suggest that plakoglobin may act as a tumor/metastasis suppressor in OVCA, as has been shown for other cancers.

The larger implication of our studies is the potential of plakoglobin as a therapeutic target for the majority of OVCAs with mp53 and N-cadherin expression.

2.5. References

- 1- http://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/ovarian-cancer/statistics
- 2- Tavassoli FA, Devilee P. Tumors of the ovary and peritoneum. Kleihues P, Sobin L, editors. Lyon: France, IARC Press,; Tumors of the Breast and Female Genital Organs. 2003:pp. 113–203.
- 3- Kurman RJ, Visvanathan K, Roden R, Wu TC, Shih IeM. Early detection and treatment of ovarian cancer: shifting from early stage to minimal volume of disease based on a new model of carcinogenesis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2008;198(4):351-6.
- 4- Kurman RJ, Shih IeM. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. *Am J Surg Pathol.* 2010;34(3):433-43.
- 5- Kuhn E, Kurman RJ, Shih IM. Ovarian Cancer Is an Imported Disease: Fact or Fiction? *Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep.* 2012;1(1):1-9.
- 6- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. *Nature*. 2011; 474:609–615.
- 7- Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, Olivier M. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. *Hum Mutat.* 2007;28: 622-629.
- 8- Corney DC, Flesken-Nikitin A, Choi J, Nikitin AY. Role of p53 and Rb in ovarian cancer. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2008;622:99-117.
- 9- Bernardini MQ, Baba T, Lee PS, Barnett JC, Sfakianos GP, Secord AA, Murphy SK, Iversen E, Marks JR, Berchuck A. Expression signatures of TP53 mutations in serous ovarian cancers. *BMC Cancer*. 2010;10:237.
- 10- Ahmed AA, Etemadmoghadam D, Temple J, Lynch AG, Riad M, Sharma R, Stewart C, Fereday S, Caldas C, Defazio A, Bowtell D, Brenton JD. Driver mutations in TP53 are ubiquitous in high grade serous carcinoma of the ovary. *J Pathol.* 2010;221(1):49-56.
- 11- Kuo KT, Guan B, Feng Y, Mao TL, Chen X, Jinawath N, Wang Y, Kurman RJ, Shih IeM, Wang TL. Analysis of DNA copy number alterations in ovarian serous tumors identifies new molecular genetic changes in low-grade and highgrade carcinomas. *Cancer Res.* 2009;69(9):4036-42.
- 12- Salani R, Kurman RJ, Giuntoli R 2nd, Gardner G, Bristow R, Wang TL, Shih IM. Assessment of TP53 mutation using purified tissue samples of ovarian serous carcinomas reveals a higher mutation rate than previously reported and does not correlate with drug resistance. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. 2008;18(3):487-91.
- 13-Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH. p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2015;16(7):393-405.
- 14- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. *Cell.* 2009;137(3):413-31.
- 15-Garcia PB, Attardi LD. Illuminating p53 function in cancer with genetically engineered mouse models. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 2014;27:74-85.

- 16-Gu B, Zhu WG. Surf the post-translational modification network of p53 regulation. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2012;8(5):672-84.
- 17- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. *Int J Cell Biol.* 2012;2012:189521.
- 18- Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of 14-3-3σ. *J Cell Sci.* 2013;126(Pt 14):3031-42.
- 19- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):e78388.
- 20- Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. *J Cell Biol.* 1992;118(3):681-91.
- 21- Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Beta-catenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signalling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.2013;116, 387-407.
- 22-Lai YH, Cheng J, Cheng D, Feasel ME, Beste KD, Peng J, Nusrat A, Moreno CS. SOX4 interacts with plakoglobin in a Wnt3a-dependent manner in prostate cancer cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2011;12:50.
- 23- Kim YM, Ma H, Oehler VG, Gang EJ, Nguyen C, Masiello D, Liu H, Zhao Y, Radich J, Kahn M. The gamma catenin/CBP complex maintains survivin transcription in β-catenin deficient/depleted cancer cells. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. 2011;11(2):213-25.
- 24- Maeda O, Usami N, Kondo M, Takahashi M, Goto H, Shimokata K, Kusugami K, Sekido Y. Plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) has TCF/LEF family-dependent transcriptional activity in beta-catenin-deficient cell line. *Oncogene*. 2004;23(4):964-72.
- 25-Miravet S, Piedra J, Miró F, Itarte E, García de Herreros A, Duñach M. The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for beta-catenin and plakoglobin. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(3):1884-91.
- 26- Raurell I, Castaño J, Francí C, García de Herreros A, Duñach M. Presenilin-1 interacts with plakoglobin and enhances plakoglobin-Tcf-4 association. Implications for the regulation of beta-catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(3):1401-11.
- 27- Sechler M, Borowicz S, Van Scoyk M, Avasarala S, Zerayesus S, Edwards MG, Kumar Karuppusamy Rathinam M, Zhao X, Wu PY, Tang K, Bikkavilli RK, Winn RA. Novel Role for γ-Catenin in the Regulation of Cancer Cell Migration via the Induction of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (HAI-1). *J Biol Chem.* 2015;290(25):15610-20.
- 28-Faleiro-Rodrigues C, Macedo-Pinto I, Pereira D, Ferreira VM, Lopes CS. Association of E-cadherin and beta-catenin immunoexpression with clinicopathologic features in primary ovarian carcinomas. *Hum Pathol.* 2004;35(6):663-9.
- 29- Cho EY, Choi Y, Chae SW, Sohn JH, Ahn GH. Immunohistochemical study of the expression of adhesion molecules in ovarian serous neoplasms. *Pathol Int.* 2006;56(2):62-70.

- 30-Campo L, Zhang C, Breuer EK. EMT-Inducing Molecular Factors in Gynecological Cancers. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:420891.
- 31- Hudson LG, Zeineldin R, Stack MS. Phenotypic plasticity of neoplastic ovarian epithelium: unique cadherin profiles in tumor progression. *Clin Exp Metastasis*. 2008;25(6):643-55.
- 32- Aberle H, Bierkamp C, Torchard D, Serova O, Wagner T, Natt E, Wirsching J, Heidkämper C, Montagna M, Lynch HT, et al. The human plakoglobin gene localizes on chromosome 17q21 and is subjected to loss of heterozygosity in breast and ovarian cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92(14):6384-8.
- 33- Li Z, Gallin WJ, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. L-CAM expression induces fibroblastepidermoid transition in squamous carcinoma cells and down-regulates the endogenous N-cadherin. *J Cell Sci.* 1998;111 (Pt 7):1005-19.
- 34- Parker HR, Li Z, Sheinin H, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*. 1998;40(1):87-100.
- 35-Salomon D, Ayalon O, Patel-King R, Hynes RO, Geiger B. Extrajunctional distribution of N-cadherin in cultured human endothelial cells. J Cell Sci. 1992;102 (Pt 1):7-17.
- 36-Auersperg N, Wong AS, Choi KC, Kang SK, Leung PC. Ovarian surface epithelium: biology, endocrinology, and pathology. *Endocr Rev.* 2001;22(2):255-88.
- 37-http://p53.free.fr/
- 38- Yuli C, Shao N, Rao R, Aysola P, Reddy V, Oprea-Ilies G, Lee L, Okoli J, Partridge E, Reddy ES, Rao VN. BRCA1a has antitumor activity in TN breast, ovarian and prostate cancers. *Oncogene*. 2007;26(41):6031-7.
- 39- Concin N, Stimpfl M, Zeillinger C, Wolff U, Hefler L, Sedlak J, Leodolter S, Zeillinger R. Role of p53 in G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in response to gamma-irradiation in ovarian carcinoma cell lines. *Int J Oncol.* 2003;22(1):51-7.
- 40- Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. *Oncogenesis*. 2012;1:e4.
- 41- Schäfer G, Narasimha M, Vogelsang E, Leptin M. Cadherin switching during the formation and differentiation of the Drosophila mesoderm implications for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. *J Cell Sci.* 2014;127(Pt 7):1511-22.
- 42-Wheelock MJ, Shintani Y, Maeda M, Fukumoto Y, Johnson KR. Cadherin switching. *J Cell Sci.* 2008;121(Pt 6):727-35.
- 43- Gheldof A, Berx G. Cadherins and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* 2013;116:317-36.
- 44-Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R. Molecular mechanisms of epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2014;15(3):178-96.
- 45-Pećina-Slaus N. Tumor suppressor gene E-cadherin and its role in normal and malignant cells. *Cancer Cell Int.* 2003;3(1):17.
- 46-Peralta Soler A, Knudsen KA, Tecson-Miguel A, McBrearty FX, Han AC, Salazar H. Expression of E-cadherin and N-cadherin in surface epithelial-

stromal tumors of the ovary distinguishes mucinous from serous and endometrioid tumors. *Hum Pathol.* 1997;28(6):734-9.

- 47- Davies BR, Worsley SD, Ponder BA. Expression of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin and beta-catenin in normal ovarian surface epithelium and epithelial ovarian cancers. *Histopathology*. 1998;32(1):69-80.
- 48-Sundfeldt K. Cell-cell adhesion in the normal ovary and ovarian tumors of epithelial origin; an exception to the rule. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*. 2003;202(1-2):89-96.
- 49- Zeineldin R, Rosenberg M, Ortega D, Buhr C, Chavez MG, Stack MS, Kusewitt DF, Hudson LG. Mesenchymal transformation in epithelial ovarian tumor cells expressing epidermal growth factor receptor variant III. *Mol Carcinog.* 2006;45(11):851-60.
- 50-Ahmed N, Thompson EW, Quinn MA. Epithelial-mesenchymal interconversions in normal ovarian surface epithelium and ovarian carcinomas: an exception to the norm. *J Cell Physiol*. 2007;213(3):581-8.
- 51- Davidson B, Holth A, Hellesylt E, Tan TZ, Huang RY, Tropé C, Nesland JM, Thiery JP. The clinical role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell markers in advanced-stage ovarian serous carcinoma effusions. *Hum Pathol.* 2015;46(1):1-8.
- 52- Jannesari-Ladani F, Hossein G, Monhasery N, Shahoei SH, Izadi Mood N. Wnt5a influences viability, migration, adhesion, colony formation, E- and N-cadherin expression of human ovarian cancer cell line SKOV-3. *Folia Biol* (*Praha*). 2014;60(2):57-67.
- 53-Shiozaki H, Oka H, Inoue M, Tamura S, Monden M. E-cadherin mediated adhesion system in cancer cells. *Cancer*. 1996;77(8 Suppl):1605-13.
- 54-Davidson B, Berner A, Nesland JM, Risberg B, Berner HS, Tropè CG, Kristensen GB, Bryne M, Ann Florenes V. E-cadherin and alpha-, beta-, and gamma-catenin protein expression is up-regulated in ovarian carcinoma cells in serous effusions. *J Pathol.* 2000;192(4):460-9.
- 55-Hoffman AG, Burghardt RC, Tilley R, Auersperg N. An in vitro model of ovarian epithelial carcinogenesis: changes in cell-cell communication and adhesion occurring during neoplastic progression. *Int J Cancer*. 1993;54(5):828-38.
- 56-Daraï E, Scoazec JY, Walker-Combrouze F, Mlika-Cabanne N, Feldmann G, Madelenat P, Potet F. Expression of cadherins in benign, borderline, and malignant ovarian epithelial tumors: a clinicopathologic study of 60 cases. *Hum Pathol.* 1997;28(8):922-8.
- 57-Yuecheng Y, Hongmei L, Xiaoyan X. Clinical evaluation of E-cadherin expression and its regulation mechanism in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Clin Exp Metastasis*. 2006;23(1):65-74.
- 58-Fujioka T, Takebayashi Y, Kihana T, Kusanagi Y, Hamada K, Ochi H, Uchida T, Fukumoto M, Ito M. Expression of E-cadherin and beta-catenin in primary and peritoneal metastatic ovarian carcinoma. *Oncol Rep.* 2001;8(2):249-55.
- 59-Kokenyesi R, Murray KP, Benshushan A, Huntley ED, Kao MS. Invasion of interstitial matrix by a novel cell line from primary peritoneal carcinosarcoma, and by established ovarian carcinoma cell lines: role of cell-matrix adhesion

molecules, proteinases, and E-cadherin expression. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2003;89(1):60-72.

- 60-Zhang Y, Fan N, Yang J. Expression and clinical significance of hypoxiainducible factor 1α, Snail and E-cadherin in human ovarian cancer cell lines. *Mol Med Rep.* 2015;12(3):3393-9.
- 61- Li J, Yu H, Xi M, Ma D, Lu X. The SNAI1 3'UTR functions as a sponge for multiple migration-/invasion-related microRNAs. *Tumour Biol.* 2015;36(2):1067-72.
- 62- Lu YM, Shang C, Ou YL, Yin D, Li YN, Li X, Wang N, Zhang SL. miR-200c modulates ovarian cancer cell metastasis potential by targeting zinc finger E-box-binding homeobox 2 (ZEB2) expression. *Med Oncol.* 2014;31(8):134.
- 63-Lu ZY, Dong R, Li D, Li WB, Xu FQ, Geng Y, Zhang YS. SNAI1 overexpression induces stemness and promotes ovarian cancer cell invasion and metastasis. *Oncol Rep.* 2012;27(5):1587-91.
- 64-Wang YL, Zhao XM, Shuai ZF, Li CY, Bai QY, Yu XW, Wen QT. Snail promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and invasiveness in human ovarian cancer cells. *Int J Clin Exp Med.* 2015;8(5):7388-93.
- 65- Kurrey NK, K A, Bapat SA. Snail and Slug are major determinants of ovarian cancer invasiveness at the transcription level. *Gynecol Oncol.* 2005;97(1):155-65.
- 66-Yi BR, Kim TH, Kim YS, Choi KC. Alteration of epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers in human normal ovaries and neoplastic ovarian cancers. *Int J Oncol.* 2015;46(1):272-80.
- 67- Kyo S, Sakaguchi J, Ohno S, Mizumoto Y, Maida Y, Hashimoto M, Nakamura M, Takakura M, Nakajima M, Masutomi K, Inoue M. High Twist expression is involved in infiltrative endometrial cancer and affects patient survival. *Hum Pathol.* 2006;37(4):431-8.
- 68- Hosono S, Kajiyama H, Terauchi M, Shibata K, Ino K, Nawa A, Kikkawa F. Expression of Twist increases the risk for recurrence and for poor survival in epithelial ovarian carcinoma patients. *Br J Cancer*. 2007;96(2):314-20.
- 69- Terauchi M, Kajiyama H, Yamashita M, Kato M, Tsukamoto H, Umezu T, Hosono S, Yamamoto E, Shibata K, Ino K, Nawa A, Nagasaka T, Kikkawa F. Possible involvement of TWIST in enhanced peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Clin Exp Metastasis* 2007; 24: 329-39.
- 70- Kajiyama H, Hosono S, Terauchi M, Shibata K, Ino K, Yamamoto E, Nomura S, Nawa A, Kikkawa F. Twist expression predicts poor clinical outcome of patients with clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. *Oncology*. 2006;71(5-6):394-401.
- 71- Kim K, Park EY, Yoon MS, Suh DS, Kim KH, Lee JH, Shin DH, Kim JY, Sol MY, Choi KU. The Role of TWIST in Ovarian Epithelial Cancers. *Korean J Pathol.* 2014;48(4):283-91.
- 72-Lau MT, Klausen C, Leung PC. E-cadherin inhibits tumor cell growth by suppressing PI3K/Akt signaling via β-catenin-Egr1-mediated PTEN expression. *Oncogene*. 2011;30(24):2753-66.
- 73-So WK, Cheng JC, Fan Q, Wong AS, Huntsman DG, Gilks CB, Leung PC. Loss of Sprouty2 in human high-grade serous ovarian carcinomas promotes

EGF-induced E-cadherin down-regulation and cell invasion. *FEBS Lett.* 2015;589(3):302-9.

- 74- Suyama K, Shapiro I, Guttman M, Hazan RB. A signaling pathway leading to metastasis is controlled by N-cadherin and the FGF receptor. *Cancer Cell*. 2002;2(4):301-14.
- 75-Derycke LD, Bracke ME. N-cadherin in the spotlight of cell-cell adhesion, differentiation, embryogenesis, invasion and signalling. *Int J Dev Biol*. 2004;48(5-6):463-76.
- 76-Shih W, Yamada S. N-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion promotes cell migration in a three-dimensional matrix. *J Cell Sci*. 2012;125(Pt 15):3661-70.
- 77-Bast RC Jr, Jacobs I, Berchuck A. Malignant transformation of ovarian epithelium. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1992;84(8):556-8.
- 78- Ponnusamy MP, Lakshmanan I, Jain M, Das S, Chakraborty S, Dey P, Batra SK. MUC4 mucin-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition: a novel mechanism for metastasis of human ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene. 2010 Oct 21;29(42):5741-54. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.309. Epub 2010 Aug 9. Erratum in: Oncogene. 2010;29(45):6084.
- 79- Perotti A, Sessa C, Mancuso A, Noberasco C, Cresta S, Locatelli A, Carcangiu ML, Passera K, Braghetti A, Scaramuzza D, Zanaboni F, Fasolo A, Capri G, Miani M, Peters WP, Gianni L. Clinical and pharmacological phase I evaluation of Exherin (ADH-1), a selective anti-N-cadherin peptide in patients with N-cadherin-expressing solid tumours. *Ann Oncol.* 2009;20(4):741-5.
- 80-Simcha I, Geiger B, Yehuda-Levenberg S, Salomon D, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity by plakoglobin: an augmenting effect of N-cadherin. *J Cell Biol.* 1996;133(1):199-209.
- 81- Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Müller EJ. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. *EMBO J*. 2006;25(14):3298-309.
- 82- Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, Cook L, Li L, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. *Oncogene*. 2010;29, 2118-29.
- 83-Wang X, Ling MT, Guan XY, Tsao SW, Cheung HW, Lee DT, Wong YC. Identification of a novel function of TWIST, a bHLH protein, in the development of acquired taxol resistance in human cancer cells. *Oncogene*. 2004;23(2):474-82.
- 84- Stasinopoulos IA, Mironchik Y, Raman A, Wildes F, Winnard P Jr, Raman V. HOXA5-twist interaction alters p53 homeostasis in breast cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* 2005; 280: 2294-9.
- 85- Cano A, Gamallo C, Kemp CJ, Benito N, Palacios J, Quintanilla M, Balmain A. Expression pattern of the cell adhesion molecules. E-cadherin, P-cadherin and alpha 6 beta 4 intergrin is altered in pre-malignant skin tumors of p53-deficient mice. *Int J Cancer.* 1996;65(2):254-62.
- 86-Lim SO, Kim H, Jung G. p53 inhibits tumor cell invasion via the degradation of snail protein in hepatocellular carcinoma. *FEBS Lett.* 2010;584(11):2231-6.

Chapter three

The Physical Interaction of p53 and Plakoglobin is necessary for Their Synergistic Inhibition of Migration and Invasion

PREFACE

This chapter has been published as: <u>Alaee M*</u>, Padda A*, Mehrabani V, Churchill L, Pasdar M. The physical interaction of p53 and plakoglobin is necessary for their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion. Oncotarget. 2016;7(18):26898-915.

* These authors have contributed equally to the work.

Oncotarget is an open-access License and no permission required publisher that states: "Oncotarget applies the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 License (CC BY 3.0) to all works we publish (read the human-readable summary or the full license legal code). Under the CC BY, authors retain ownership of the copyright for their article, but authors allow anyone to download, reuse, reprint, modify, distribute, and/or copy articles in Oncotarget, so long as the original authors and source are cited."

Contributions:

I participated in designing and performing several of the experiments and wrote the first draft of the discussion. I generated H1299 stable transfectants expressing plakoglobin- ΔN , - ΔArm , and - ΔC as well as H1299 cells co-expressing plakoglobin and different fragments of p53. I performed western blot and immunofluorescence assays to assess the expression levels and localization of the proteins and co-immunoprecipitation studies to identify the interacting domains. I also performed many of the growth, migration and invasion assays.

3.1. Introduction

The p53 transcription factor is a tumor suppressor that is absent or mutated in over half of all tumors [1-3]. p53 can be activated by various stress signals, including DNA damage, oncogenic insults, hypoxia, loss of cell-cell contact and changes in metabolic behavior. In response to stress, p53 activates physiological pathways that regulate cell cycle arrest, DNA repair, apoptosis, autophagy and metabolism [2, 3]. In addition to being a transcriptional regulator, p53 interacts with various cytoplasmic proteins, which mediate its growth regulating activity [4, 5].

The three structural domains [N-terminus (NT), DNA binding (DBD) and C-terminus (CT)] of p53 regulate its cellular functions. The NT contains two transactivation domains (TAD1 and 2). In addition to binding to coactivators, the NT is also the binding site for Hdm-2, which is an E3-ubiquitin ligase mediating p53 degradation, thus serving as the primary regulator of p53 levels [6, 7]. The CT contains an oligomerization domain, which allows p53 tetramerization, and a short regulatory domain, which may function as a non-specific DNA binding domain necessary for growth arrest and apoptosis [8, 9]. Flanked by the NT and CT, the DBD confers transcriptional activity on p53 and harbors the majority of p53 mutations [1, 10, 11]. p53 functions are regulated by posttranslational modifications and protein-protein interactions [5, 12, 13]. We have identified plakoglobin as an endogenous interacting partner of both wild type and a number of mutant p53s, and have shown that plakoglobin's interaction with these mutants can restore their wild type functions [14, 15].

Plakoglobin is an Armadillo protein family member and a paralog of β -catenin with dual adhesive and signalling functions [16, 17, 18]. Structurally, these proteins consist of a N-terminal α -catenin binding domain, a core of Armadillo (Arm) repeats, which bind adhesive and signalling partners, and a TA domain [18]. In adherens junctions, both β -catenin and plakoglobin mediate cell-cell adhesion by interacting with classic cadherins and α -catenin, which link the complex to the cytoskeleton [18]. Plakoglobin is also an essential desmosomal junction component and as such plays an integral role in cell-cell adhesion [18, 19]. Both β -catenin and plakoglobin affect cell signalling through interactions with intracellular partners involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and apoptosis [18, 19]. Although β -catenin has a well-documented oncogenic function [18], plakoglobin is known to generally act as a tumor/metastasis suppressor by mechanisms that are beginning to be deciphered [19-22]. Our laboratory has shown that the tumor supressor activity of plakoglobin, is, at least in part, mediated by its interaction with p53. We have shown that plakoglobin interacted with p53, and both were associated with the promoters of p53 target genes [e.g. NME1, SFN (14-3-3 σ), SATB1, THBS1 [14, 15, 20]. Together, these results suggest that the tumor/metastasis suppressor activity of plakoglobin may be mediated by its interaction with p53 and regulation of p53 target genes.

In this study, we assessed the roles of p53 and plakoglobin, individually and together, in cell growth, migration and invasion, and identified the domains of p53 and plakoglobin that mediated their interaction. H1299 and SCC9 cells were co-transfected with expression constructs encoding HA-p53- (wild type, NT, DBD and

CT) and FLAG-plakoglobin- (wild type, ΔN , ΔArm and ΔC). Transfectants were characterized for their growth, migration and invasion. p53/plakoglobin interaction and localization were determined by co-immunoprecipitation and confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. Our results suggested that 1) p53 and plakoglobin cooperated to decrease growth whereas they acted synergistically to significantly reduce migration and invasion of H1299 cells, 2) p53/ plakoglobin interaction was mediated by the DBD of p53 and the C-terminus of plakoglobin, and 3) the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin was necessary for its maximum invasion inhibitory function via interaction with p53.

3.2. Material and methods

3.2.1. Reagents, cells and culture conditions

Chemical reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and tissue culture reagents from Invitrogen, unless stated otherwise. Dr. Roger Leng, University of Alberta, provided the p53 and plakoglobin null non-small cell lung carcinoma cell line H1299 [21]. The p53 mutant and plakoglobin deficient human tongue squamous cell carcinoma cell line SCC9 has been described [24, 25]. All cells were maintained in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), and 1% penicillin-streptomycin-kanamycin (PSK) antibiotics.

3.2.2. Plasmid construction and transfection

The FLAG-tagged-plakoglobin (PG) (-wild type (WT), $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$, $-\Delta C$) constructs and their SCC9 transfectants have been described [24]. A plasmid encoding WT-p53 (PGEX2TK-WT-p53, gift from Dr. Roger Leng) served as the

template for constructing HA-tagged p53 WT, and p53 fragments, NT, DBD, and CT.

Various primers (Table 3.1) were used to generate the four p53 inserts by PCR. For all PCR reactions, pre-denaturation was done at 95°C for 2 minutes followed by 32 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 50°C (first 7 cycles) and 55°C (last 25 cycles) for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 90 seconds. The PCR products were then subcloned into pcDNA 3.1 containing an HA tag at the Cterminus. The pcDNA 3.1 vector was modified with the HA epitope tag sequence (TAC CCA TAC GAT GTT CCA GAT TAC GCT), which contained restriction sites to facilitate the subcloning of the p53 inserts and a stop codon. The constructs encoding HA-tagged p53-WT, NT, DBD, or CT were verified by sequencing.

H1299 or SCC9 cells cultured in 60 mm dishes or on glass coverslips were transfected at 60-80% confluency with 2-10 µg of DNA. Twenty hours later, cells were rinsed and allowed to recover for 24 hour in complete MEM. For transient transfections, transfected cells were processed for different assays 48 hour after transfection. For stable transfectants, 48 hours after transfection, media were replaced with media containing 500 µg/ml hygromycin B (p53) or 400 µg/ml G418 (plakoglobin) and the resistant colonies selected for 2-3 weeks and verified for HA-p53 and FLAG-plakoglobin expression. Positive clones were subcultured by limiting dilution and maintained in media containing 350 µg/ml hygromycin B and 200 µg/ml G418.

Construct		Size	
		(nucleotide)	
p53-WT	Forward	5' ttt taa get tat gga gga gee gea gte ag 3'	29
	Reverse	5' ttt tgc ggc cgc gtc tga gtc agg ccc ttc tgt c 3'	34
P53-NT	Forward	5' ttt taa get tat gga gga gee gea gte ag 3'	29
	Reverse	5' ttt tgc ggc cgc agg agc tgc tgg tgc agg 3'	30
P53-DBD	Forward	5' ttt taa get tat gte eea age aat gga tga ttt g 3'	34
	Reverse	5' ttt tgc ggc cgc ccc ttt ctt gcg gag att ctc 3'	33
Р53-СТ	Forward	5' ttt taa get tat gae eag ete ete tee ee ge 3'	32
	Reverse	5' ttt tgc ggc cgc gtc tga gtc agg ccc ttc tgt c 3'	34
HA tag	Forward	5' ttt gct agc atg gcg gcc gca tac cca tac gat gtt cca gat 3'	42
	Reverse	5' aaa tet aga eta aag ett age gta ate tgg aac ate gta 3'	39

Table 3.1. Oligos/primers sequences used to create p53 constructs

3.2.3. Preparation of total cell extracts and immunoblotting

Confluent 100 mm culture dishes were rinsed with cold PBS, solubilized in hot SDS sample buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% (w/v) SDS, 50 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM PMSF) and boiled for 10 minutes. Twenty-five - 50 µg of total cellular protein was resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and processed for immunoblotting using HA, FLAG and actin primary antibodies followed by the appropriate secondary antibodies (Table 3.2). Membranes were developed by either ECL (Perkin Elmer LAS) or LI-COR IR fluorescence dyes.

Primary antibodies	Species	Assay			Company/Catalog	
	species	WB	IP	IF	number	
Anti-HA	Rat	1:500	1:150	1:100	Roche/11867423001	
Anti-β-Actin	Mouse	1:2000			Santa Cruz/sc-47778	
Anti-FLAG	Mouse	1:500	1:150	1:100	Sigma/F-3165	
Secondary antibodies						
HRP anti-mouse, IgG light chain	Goat	1:2000			Jackson/115-005-174	
HRP anti-rat, IgG light chain	Goat	1:2000			Jackson/112-005-175	
Alexa Fluor anti-mouse IgG, light chain	Goat	1:25000			Jackson/112-625-175	
Alexa Fluor anti-rat IgG, light chain	Goat	1:25000			Jackson/115-625-174	
Alexa 488 anti-mouse IgG	Goat			1:1000	Molecular probes/	
					A11029	
Rhodamine/TRITC anti-Rat IgG	Rabbit			1:1000	Sigma/T4280	

Table 3.2. Antibodies and their respective dilutions in specific assays

3.2.4. Immunoprecipitation

Confluent cultures in 100 mm plates were rinsed with cold PBS containing 1mM NaF, Na₃VO₄ and CaCl₂ and extracted in 2 ml of lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.7 ug/ml Pepstatin, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, 1 mM NaF, and protease inhibitor cocktail) for 30 minutes at 4°C on a rocker. Cells were scraped and centrifuged at 48000 xg for 10 minutes. Supernatants were divided into equal aliquots and processed for immunoprecipitation with FLAG and HA antibodies (Table 3.2) and 40 µl protein G agarose (for monoclonal antibodies) or protein A sepharose beads (Pierce Biotechnology) for polyclonal antibodies) beads (Pierce Biotechnology) overnight at 4°C on a rocker-rotator. Samples were then centrifuges at 14000xg for 2 minutes to separate the beads from the supernatants and the supernatants were processed for a second immunoprecipitation for 2-3 hours. Beads from the two immunoprecipitations were combined and washed three times with the lysis buffer. Immune complexes were solubilized in 40 μ l SDS sample buffer, separated by PAGE and processed for immunoblot using HA, FLAG and actin primary antibodies followed by the appropriate secondary antibodies (Table 3.2) as described above.

3.2.5. Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown to confluency on glass coverslips and rinsed twice with cold PBS containing 1 mM NaF, Na₃VO₄ and CaCl₂. Cells were then fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 minutes and extracted with CSK buffer (50 mM NaCl, 300 mM Sucrose, 10 mM PIPES pH 6.8, 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.5% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM PMSF, and 1 mg/ml DNase and RNase) for 7 minutes. Coverslips were blocked with 4.0% goat serum and 50 mM NH₄Cl₄ in PBS containing 0.2% BSA (PBS–BSA) for 1 hour and processed for indirect immunofluorescence. Coverslips were incubated in the primary antibodies followed by the species-specific secondary antibodies at concentrations indicated in Table 3.2 for 1 hour and 20 minutes, respectively. All antibodies were diluted in PBS–BSA. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (1:2,000) in PBS. Coverslips were mounted in elvanol containing 0.2% (w/v) paraphenylene diamine (PPD) and viewed using a Zeiss confocal microscope.

3.2.6. In vitro growth, migration and invasion assays

For growth assays, triplicate cultures of various cell lines were plated in 24-well plates at single cell density (2.5 x 10^{4} /cm²). At 1, 3, 5 and 7 days after plating, cultures were trypsinized and cells counted. Each time point represents the average of three independent experiments.

For cell migration assays, 2×10^5 cells were resuspended in 500 µl serum-free media and plated in the upper chamber of transwell inserts (3 µm pore, 6.5 mm diameter; BD Biosciences). Normal media containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber. Cultures were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 24 hours to allow cell migration. Inserts were transferred into new dishes and rinsed with PBS to remove un-attached cells. Inserts were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde (in PBS) for 2 minutes, permeabilized with 100% methanol for 20 minutes and stained with Giemsa stain for 15 minutes at room temperature. Following staining, membranes were cut, mounted using permount (Fisher Scientific), viewed under an inverted microscope using a 20x objective lens and photographed. The migrated cells on the underside of the membranes were counted in 5 random fields from the photographs.

Matrigel invasion assays were performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (BD Biosciences). Cells were starved in serum free media 24 hour prior to plating. For each cell line, 5×10^4 cells in 0.2 ml serum-free media were plated in the top compartment of Matrigel-coated invasion chambers (8 µm pore PETE membrane). Fibroblast conditioned media (0.8 ml) was added to the bottom chambers and plates were incubated overnight at 37°C in 5% CO₂. After 24 hours, membranes were recovered and processed as described for the migration assay. Mounted membranes were viewed under a 20x objective lens of an inverted microscope and

photographed. The invaded cells were counted in 5 random fields for each membrane.

ImageJ Cell Counter program was used to calculate the numbers of migrated/invaded cells. Counted cell numbers were averaged and histograms were constructed after normalizing the average numbers of migrated/invaded cells in each transfected cell line to those of their parental untransfected cells. Each assay was repeated 2-5 independent times.

3.2.7. Statistical analysis

Values are presented as means \pm SD. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by Student's t-tests. All experiments were performed at least three times. P-values <0.05 were considered significant.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Reduced growth, migration and invasion of transfectants expressing p53, plakoglobin or p53 and plakoglobin

The expression of HA-p53-WT, FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT in single and double transfectants was validated by western blot using anti-HA and anti-FLAG antibodies (Figure 3.1A) or p53 and plakoglobin antibodies (Figure 3.2). Figure 3.1B is a phase micrograph of confluent cultures of H1299 cells and its transfectants expressing HA-p53-WT, FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT. Relative to H1299 cells, HA-p53-WT expressing transfectants were slightly larger and flatter. There were also some rounded, detached and presumably apoptotic cells in these cultures (H1299-HA-p53-WT). In contrast, FLAG-PG-WT

cells appeared to form a tighter monolayer, consistent with the formation of adhesive junctions upon plakoglobin expression in these cells (H1299- FLAG-PG-WT). Interestingly, the double transfectants formed monolayers that were tighter than HA-p53-WT cells but not as tight as FLAG-PG-WT cells and furthermore showed some apoptotic cells (H1299- HA-p53-WT /FLAG-PG-WT) (Figure 3.1B).

The functional consequence of WT p53 and plakoglobin expression were assessed by examining the *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion of H1299 and H1299 transfectants (Figure 3.1C, D, E). Although the H1299-HA-p53 cells showed consistently and significantly less growth than H1299 cells (Figure 3.1C, H1299-HA-p53), the growth of H1299-FLAG-PG and H1299-HA-p53/FLAG-PG transfectants was similar to that of H1299 cells until day 5, when cultures became confluent and cell numbers sharply declined (Figure 3.1C, H1299-FLAG-PG, H1299-HA-p53/FLAG-PG). At day 7, H1299-HA-p53/FLAG-PG cells showed ~40% less growth than H1299 cells, whereas cells expressing either p53 or plakoglobin showed ~30% less growth (Figure 3.1C, Table 3.3).

Individual expression of either p53 or plakoglobin decreased migration by 40% and 21% relative to H1299 cells, respectively, whereas the co-expression of p53 and plakoglobin reduced migration by 73%. (Figure 3.1D, Table 3.3). Similarly, the invasiveness of H1299-HA-p53 and H1299-FLAG-PG cells was decreased by 35% and 21%, respectively, while the invasiveness of H1299-HA-p53/FLAG-PG cells was decreased by ~75% relative to H1299 cells (Figure 3.1D, Table 3.3). These results indicated that co-expression of p53 and plakoglobin synergistically and significantly decreased the migration and invasion of H1299 cells, and were also

consistent with the reduced growth, migration and invasion of SCC9 cells upon the exogenous expression of plakoglobin [15, 24].







Figure 3.2. Expression of p53 and plakoglobin proteins in H1299 and SCC9 cells. Total cell lysates from untransfected (UT) H1299 and SCC9 cells and their transfectants expressing HA-p53-WT or FLAG-PG-WT were processed for immunoblotting with anti-p53, anti-plakoglobin or anti-actin antibodies. PG, plakoglobin.
3.3.2. Generation and characterization of cell lines expressing wild-type p53 and plakoglobin, various p53 fragments and plakoglobin deletion mutants

To identify the domains of p53 and plakoglobin mediating their interactions, we created constructs encoding various deletions of FLAG-tagged PG, and constructs encoding different fragments of HA-tagged p53 (Figure 3.3). The plakoglobin constructs have been described previously [24,25] and include PG-WT (a.a. 1-745), $-\Delta$ N (a.a. 123-745; lacking the α -catenin binding domain), $-\Delta$ Arm [a.a. 1-216 and 464-745; lacking Armadillo domains 3-7, involved in binding to classic cadherins and adenomatous polyposis coli)] and $-\Delta$ C (a.a. 687-745; lacking the TA). All plakoglobin constructs contained a C-terminal FLAG tag (Figure 3.3A, left), and were previously characterized in SCC9 cells [25]. These constructs were transfected into H1299 cells and their expression was verified by immunoblotting with FLAG antibodies (Figure 3.3A, right).

Constructs encoding C-terminally HA-tagged WT and fragments of p53 were generated, including p53-WT (a.a. 1-393), -NT [a.a. 1- 96; containing both TAs (a.a. 1-42; 43-92), the nuclear export signal (a.a. 11-27) and the proline-rich domain (a.a. 64-92)], -DBD [a.a. 51-309; including the second TAD, proline-rich domain, and entire DBD (a.a. 101-300)], and -CT [a.a. 312-393; containing the 3 nuclear localization sequences (a.a. 305-322; 369-375; 379-384), tetramerization domain (a.a. 326-356), and regulatory domain (a.a. 364-393)] (Figure 3.3B, left). The HA-p53 constructs were transfected into H1299 cells and protein expression was confirmed by immunoblotting with HA antibodies (Figure 3.3B, right).



(Right) Expression of FLAG-tagged PG proteins in H1299 cells. H1299 cells were transfected with expression constructs encoding FLAG-tagged PG-WT, ?N, ?Arm or ?C. FLAG-PG-expressing stable cell lines were Figure 3.3. (A) (Left) Domain structure of FLAG-tagged plakoglobin and plakoglobin deletion proteins. processed for immunoblot using FLAG and Actin (loading control) antibodies. APC, Adenomatous polyposis coli; ICF/LEF, T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor; TA, Transactivation domain; F, FLAG tag.

DNA binding domain (DBD), N-terminus (NT) and C-terminus (CT). p53-expressing stable cell lines were (B) (Left) Domain structure HA-tagged p53 WT and deletion proteins. (Right) Expression of HA-tagged p53 proteins in H1299 cells. H1299 cells were transfected with constructs encoding HA-tagged p53-full length (WT), processed for immunoblot using HA and Actin (loading control) antibodies. TA, Transactivation; PR, proline-rich; TM, Tetramerization; CR, C-terminal regulatory domain; HA, HA tag.

3.3.4. Expression of HA-p53 and FLAG-plakoglobin proteins in H1299 double transfectants

To study p53 and plakoglobin interaction, we generated H1299 double transfectants coexpressing HA-p53-WT with FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$ or $-\Delta C$ or -FLAG-PG-WT with HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT. Protein expression in H1299 (Figure 3.4 A, B) double transfectants was confirmed by immunoblotting with HA and FLAG antibodies (Figure 3.4 A, B).



Figure 3.4. Protein expression of WT and fragments of p53 and plakoglobin in double transfectants. Equal amounts of total cellular proteins from stable H1299-HA-p53-WT transfectants co-expressing FLAG-PG-WT, - or ΔN , - ΔArm or - ΔC (A) or H1299-FLAG-PG-WT co-expressing HA-p53 WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT (B) were processed for immunoblots with HA or FLAG antibodies as described in Materials and Methods. PG, plakoglobin; WT, wild type; N, N-terminus; C, C-terminus; Arm, armadillo; DBD, DNA binding domain.

3.3.5. DNA binding domain of p53 and the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin mediate p53/plakoglobin interactions

H1299 double transfectants co-expressing various pairs of HA-p53 and FLAG-PG proteins/fragments were processed for reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting with HA and FLAG antibodies. Figure 3.5A shows the coimmunoprecipitation results with H1299 cells expressing HA-p53-WT together with FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$ or $-\Delta C$. In lysates from these transfectants, FLAG antibodies co-precipitated HA-p53-WT with FLAG-PG-WT, -ΔN and - Δ Arm, but not with FLAG-PG- Δ C. The reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation using HA antibodies confirmed these findings, as FLAG-PG-ΔC was the only FLAG-PG fragment that was not co-precipitated with HA-p53-WT. These results suggested that the C-terminus domain of plakoglobin is necessary for p53/plakoglobin interactions (Figure 3.5A). When H1299 cells expressing FLAG-PG-WT with HAp53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT were subjected to reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation, FLAG antibodies co-precipitated HA-p53-WT and -DBD, but not HA-p53-NT or -CT (Figure 3.5B). These results were confirmed when HA antibodies coprecipitated FLAG-PG-WT with HA-p53-DBD, but not HA-p53-NT or -CT (Figure 3.5B). Taken together, these results suggest that the C-terminus of plakoglobin, and the DBD of p53 mediate p53/plakoglobin interaction.



Figure 3.5. DNA binding domain of p53 interacts with the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin. Equal amounts of total cell extracts from double transfectants co-expressing HA-p53-WT and various FLAG-tagged PG proteins (A) or FLAG-PG-WT and various HA-tagged p53 proteins (B) were processed for reciprocal and sequential immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting using HA and FLAG antibodies as described in Materials and Methods. The immune complexes in A were separated on 7.5%, and in B on 5-20% SDS gradient gels. PG, plakoglobin; WT, wild type; N, N-terminus; C, C-terminus; Arm, Armadillo; DBD, DNA binding domain.

3.3.6. Subcellular location of p53 and plakoglobin in H1299-HA-p53 and H1299-FLAG-PG transfectants

We previously demonstrated that p53 and plakoglobin interacted in both the cytoplasm and nucleus [14]. Here, HA-p53 and FLAG-PG transfectants were processed for immunofluorescence using HA and FLAG antibodies. Figure 3.6A shows the subcellular localization of HA-p53 in various H1299-HA-p53 transfectants. In HA-p53-WT transfectants, p53 was primarily nuclear, with a faint cytoplasmic distribution (Figure 3.6A, H1299-HA-p53-WT). In contrast, p53 was distributed mainly in the cytoplasm of H1299-HA-p53-DBD transfectants with very little nuclear staining (Figure 3.6A, H1299-HA-p53-DBD). In H1299-HA-p53-NT transfectants, p53 was mainly cytoplasmic, with a distinct peri-nuclear distribution (Figure 3.6A, H1299-HA-p53-NT). Finally, in HA-p53-CT transfectants (Figure 3.6A, H1299-HA-p53-CT). Collectively, these results are consistent with the presence of the nuclear localization sequence in p53-WT and -CT, and its absence in p53-DBD and -NT.

H1299 cells expressing FLAG-PG-WT or its three deletions showed different PG staining and cell morphology (Figure 3.6B). H1299-FLAG-PG-WT transfectants exhibited typical epithelial morphology and extensive cell-cell contact, with plakoglobin localized primarily to the areas of cell-cell contact (Figure 3.6B, H1299-FLAG-PG-WT). H1299-FLAG-PG- Δ N and H1299-FLAG-PG- Δ Arm transfectants had numerous processes and little cell-cell contact, consistent with these fragments lacking the ability to interact with α -catenin and cadherins and

localize to adhesive junctions. In these transfectants, FLAG-PG- Δ N and FLAG-PG- Δ Arm were mainly detected throughout the cytoplasm, without any distinct membrane staining (Figure 3.6B, H1299-FLAG-PG- Δ N, -FLAG-PG- Δ Arm). In contrast, FLAG-PG- Δ C transfectants showed epithelial morphology, but were flatter than H1299-FLAG-PG-WT cells. In these cells, PG- Δ C was localized to the areas of cell-cell contact and cytoplasm, but was clearly excluded from the nucleus (Figure 3.6B, H1299-FLAG-PG- Δ C). Together, these results suggest that the C-terminus of plakoglobin may be necessary for its nuclear localization.



Figure 3.6. Subcellular localization of HA-tagged p53 (A) and FLAG-tagged plakoglobin (B) proteins in H1299 cells. H1299 cells expressing various FLAG-PG and HA-p53 proteins were grown to confluency on coverslips, fixed with formaldehyde and permeabilized with CSK buffer. Coverslips were processed for confocal immunofluorescence microscopy using FLAG (green) and HA (red) antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue) and coverslips mounted and viewed using a Zeiss confocal microscope. PG, plakoglobin; WT, wild type; N, N-terminus; C, C-terminus; Arm, Armadillo; DBD, DNA binding domain. Bar, 40 µm.

3.3.7. Subcellular distribution of plakoglobin and p53 in H1299 double transfectants expressing FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT

In HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT co-transfectants, p53-WT was primarily nuclear with faint cytoplasmic staining, whereas plakoglobin was localized to the areas of cell-cell contact as well as in the cytoplasm and nucleus. There was an overlap between the nuclear p53 and the nuclear plakoglobin staining in these cells (Figure 3.7, H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-WT). Membrane and cytoplasmic distribution of plakoglobin was also detected in H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-NT transfectants, in which p53-NT distribution was almost exclusively cytoplasmic/perinuclear, overlapping with the cytoplasmic plakoglobin staining. Nuclear plakoglobin was not detected in these cells (Figure 3.7, H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-NT). In H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-DBD cells, plakoglobin was primarily membrane localized, whereas p53-DBD was primarily cytoplasmic and overlapped with a pool of cytoplasmic plakoglobin (Figure 3.7, H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-DBD). FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-CT transfectants showed membrane localization of plakoglobin with some homogeneous cytoplasmic staining, whereas p53-CT was almost exclusively nuclear. No overlap was detectable in the distribution of the two proteins (Figure 3.7, H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-CT). These observations are consistent with the presence of nuclear localization signals in p53-CT and suggest that plakoglobin was co-distributed only with the p53-WT and p53-DBD, albeit in the cytoplasm.

H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-



Figure 3.7. Subcellular localization of plakoglobin and p53 in H1299 double transfectants co-expressing FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD or -CT. Cultures were processed for double immunofluorescence with FLAG and HA antibodies. Cells were grown to confluency on coverslips, fixed with formaldehyde and permeabilized with CSK buffer. Coverslips were processed for confocal immunofluorescence microscopy using FLAG (green) and HA (red) antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue) and coverslips mounted and viewed using a Zeiss confocal microscope. WT, wild type; PG, plakoglobin; NT, N-terminus; CT, C-terminus; DBD, DNA binding domain. Bar, 25 µm.

3.3.8. Subcellular distribution of plakoglobin and p53 in SCC9 double transfectants expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, -ΔN, -ΔArm or -ΔC

In SCC9 cells expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, the distribution of p53 and plakoglobin was similar to that of H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/HA-p53-WT cells. plakoglobin was detected at the membrane, and in the cytoplasm and nucleus. Nuclear plakoglobin was co-distributed with p53, which was almost exclusively nuclear (Figure 3.8A, SCC9-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT). In the HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- ΔN transfectants, PG- ΔN was detected throughout the cells, overlapping in distribution with p53, which was detected in both the cytoplasm and nucleus (Figure 3.8A, SCC9-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-ΔN). In HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ Arm transfectants, PG- Δ Arm was detected throughout the cell, while p53 was primarily nuclear with some cytoplasmic distribution. In these cells, p53 was co-distributed with PG- Δ Arm in both the cytoplasm and nucleus (Figure 3.8A, SCC9-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ Arm). In contrast to the FLAG-PG-WT, - ΔN or $-\Delta Arm$ transfectants in which plakoglobin was detected in the nucleus, FLAG-PG- ΔC transfectants had no detectable nuclear PG- ΔC . Due to the exclusively nuclear distribution of p53 in these cells, no overlap of p53 and PG- ΔC was detected (Figure 3.8A, SCC9-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ C). Collectively, these results suggested that the C-terminus of plakoglobin is necessary for its localization to the nucleus and its colocalization with p53.

Protein expression in SCC9 (Figure 3.8B) double transfectants was confirmed by immunoblotting with HA and FLAG antibodies (Figure 3.8B).



Figure 3.8. Subcellular localization of plakoglobin and p53 in SCC9 double transfectants co-expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$ or $-\Delta C$. (A) Cultures were processed for double immunofluorescence with FLAG (green) and HA (red) antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). WT, wild type; PG, plakoglobin; N, N-terminus; C, C-terminus; Arm, Armadillo. Bar, 25 μ m (HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, $-\Delta Arm$) and 15 μ m (HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG $-\Delta C$). (B) Total cell lysates from SCC9 cells expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, $-\Delta N$, ΔArm or $-\Delta C$ were processed for immunoblots with FLAG and HA antibodies.

3.3.9. Cooperation of p53 and plakoglobin in regulating growth, migration and invasion of H1299 cells

We also investigated the role of various structural domains of p53 and plakoglobin in their combined inhibition of the growth, migration and invasion of H1299 cells. *In vitro* growth assays showed a small reduction (~10%) in the growth of transfectants expressing FLAG-PG-WT and p53-NT, -DBD or -CT compared to H1299 cells. In comparison, the growth of H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT cells was reduced by ~40% (Figure 3.9; Table 3.3). In contrast, the growth of H1299 cells expressing HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG- Δ N, - Δ Arm or - Δ C was the same or slightly less than H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT cells (Figure 3.9; Table 3.3).

Figure 3.10A shows the effect of various p53 domains on cell migration in a FLAG-PG-WT background. The co-expression of HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT reduced the migration of H1299 cells by >70% compared to parental H1299 cells (Figures 3.1B, 3.10A, Table 3.3). Cells co-expressing FLAG-PG-WT and various HA-p53 fragments (H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/p53-NT, -DBD, -CT) were more migratory than H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/p53-WT cells, but significantly less than H1299 cells (Figure 3.10A, Table 3.3). Among the fragments, HA-p53-DBD transfectants were less migratory than HA-p53-NT or CT transfectants, which had similar migration levels (Figure 3.10A, Table 3.3).

In a HA-p53-WT background, while cells expressing FLAG-PG deletions were less migratory than H1299 cells, they were significantly more migratory than FLAG-PG-WT transfectants. When compared, H1299-HA-p53-WT/-FLAG-PG-WT double transfectants were >70% less migratory than H1299 cells. H1299-HA-p53-

WT/-FLAG-PG- Δ N, - Δ Arm, - Δ C double transfectants showed reduced migration by 18%, 25% and 29%, respectively (Figure 3.1B, 3.10B, Table 3.3).

Invasion assays showed that H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT double transfectants, were 75% less invasive than H1299 cells (Figure 3.1C, 3.10C, Table 3.3). The expression of any of the HA-p53 fragments in a FLAG-PG-WT background (H1299-FLAG-PG-WT/p53-NT, -DBD, -CT) showed increased invasiveness (Figure 3.10C, Table 3.3), although these transfectants were still less invasive than the H1299 cells (Figure 3.10C, Table 3.3).

Finally, HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ N and - Δ Arm double transfectants showed a decrease in invasiveness that was comparable to the FLAG-PG-WT transfectants (67% and 70% vs. 73%), whereas HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ C transfectants were significantly more invasive (27% vs. 74%) (Figure 3.10D, Table 3.3).

Together, the results in Figures 3.1, 3.9 and 3.10, and Table 3.3 suggested that: 1) individual expression of either p53 or PG reduced the growth, migration and invasion of H1299, 2) p53 alone was more effective than PG alone, 3) the greatest reduction was attained when both proteins were expressed, 4) the PG C-terminus domain was necessary for the inhibition of invasion.

101



-? Arm or -? C (B) were plated at single cell density (5×10^4) in replicate cultures and allowed to grow for 7 days. At Figure 3.9. Contribution of various p53 and plakoglobin domains to their growth inhibitory function. H1299 days 1, 3, 5, and 7 cultures were trypsinized and cells counted. Each time point represents the average of three independent experiments. The absence of error bars at some time points is due to the small differences among the and H1299 transfectants co-expressing PG-WT and p53-WT, NT, -DBD, or -CT (A), or p53-WT and PG-WT, -? N, experiments. * < 0.05, ** < 0.001.

*

*

*

*

*

¥



C), or HA-p53-WT and FLAG-PG-WT, -?N, -? Arm or -? C (B, D), were processed for migration (A, B) and invasion (C, D) assays as described in the legends to Figure 3.1C. All values were normalized to H1299 cells. p values, * < 0.05, ** < 0.01. Figure 3.10. Contribution of various p53 and plakoglobin domains to their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion. H1299 and H1299 transfectants expressing FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-WT, -NT, -DBD, or -CT (A,

Table 3.3. Summary of changes in the growth, migration and invasion of H1299 transfectants expressing various combinations of p53 and PG constructs. *p* values, * <0.05, ** < 0.001.

Cell line	% Decreased	% Decreased	% Decreased
	growth (day 7)	migration	invasion
	Relative to	Relative to	Relative to
	H1299	H1299	H1299
H1299-HA-p53-WT	32**	40**	34**
H1299-FLAG-PG-WT	28**	21**	18**
Н1299-НА-р53-	40**	73**	75**
WT/FLAG-PG-WT			
H1299-FLAG-PG-	9**	45**	12*
WT/HA-p53-NT			
H1299-FLAG-PG-	10**	60**	12*
WT/HA-p53-DBD			
H1299-FLAG-PG-	9**	45**	11*
WT/HA-p53-CT			
Н1299-НА-р53-	35**	18**	67**
WT/FLAG-PG-AN			
Н1299-НА-р53-	31**	25**	70**
WT/FLAG-PG-∆Arm			
Н1299-НА-р53-	28**	29**	27**
WT/FLAG-PG-∆C			

3.4. Discussion

We showed that p53 and plakoglobin cooperatively reduced growth and acted synergistically to decrease cellular migration and invasion. The two proteins interacted with each other via the DNA-binding domain of p53 and the transactivation domain of plakoglobin.

p53 prevents cancer development and progression by transcriptionally regulating genes involved in cell cycle arrest, senescence and cell death/apoptosis [26,27]. p53 also has transcription/nuclear-independent growth inhibitory functions, the most well-characterized of which is the induction of apoptosis [4, 28-32].

H1299-HA-p53-WT transfectants showed significantly less growth, migration and invasion. These effects are mediated by the p53 regulation of expression of various tumor suppressors, signaling molecules and oncogenic and tumor suppressor miRNAs [33-41]. p53 also promotes stable junction formation and cadherin-mediated contact inhibition by downregulating transcriptional repressors of E-cadherin and regulating cytoskeleton remodeling [42-45].

H1299-FLAG-PG-WT cells also showed significant reductions in growth, migration and invasion. Unlike H1299-HA-p53 transfectants in which growth was decreased from day 1, the H1299-FLAG-PG cells showed similar growth kinetics to that of H1299 cells until day 5, when cell numbers declined due to the induction of contact inhibition of growth. Plakoglobin can also suppress tumor growth by inducing apoptosis [46-49]. These findings are consistent with the role of plakoglobin as an essential regulator of cell-cell adhesion and growth [19, 46-49].

Numerous *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that plakoglobin has tumor/metastasis suppressor activities. The loss of heterozygosity and low frequency mutations in the plakoglobin gene was shown to predispose patients to familial breast and ovarian cancers [50]. Plakoglobin knockdown in human umbilical vein endothelial cells promoted migration, tubular formation and angiogenesis [51]. Since these early studies, plakoglobin's role in the inhibition of migration and invasion has been demonstrated in many carcinoma cell lines [15, 19,22,52-56]. Consistent with these *in vitro* observations, loss/changes in plakoglobin levels and localization are associated with increased metastasis and poor prognosis *in vivo* [19].

Plakoglobin also acts as a tumor/metastasis suppressor independent of its role in cell-cell adhesion. Plakoglobin null keratinocytes expressing exogenous PG-WT, - Δ N or - Δ C showed similar adhesiveness but different migratory properties. Although PG-WT and - Δ N transfectants were not migratory, PG- Δ C transfectants became migratory via activation of Src signaling [54], suggesting that the TA is essential for the tumor/metastasis suppressor activity of plakoglobin. Plakoglobin may regulate gene expression independent of its role in cell-cell adhesion via interaction with transcription factors including TCF/LEF, CBP, SOX4 and p53 [14, 21, 57-62]. We previously showed that plakoglobin interacted with both WT and several mutant p53s in various carcinoma cell lines, leading to the induction of a non-transformed phenotype. This phenotypic transition coincided with changes in the expression of several p53 target genes, the promoters of which interacted with both p53 and plakoglobin [14, 15]. Recently, Sechler *et al.* (2015) reported that

plakoglobin overexpression in NSCLC cells reduced cell migration via HAI-1 induction, in a p53-dependent manner [22]. These observations are consistent with the dramatic decreases in the migration and invasion of H1299-HA-p53-WT/ FLAG-PG-WT co-transfectants vs. cells expressing either HA-p53 or FLAG-PG alone [15, 24, 56].

Co-immunoprecipitation experiments revealed that p53 interacted with the TA domain of plakoglobin via its DBD. Immunofluorescence staining showed colocalization of FLAG-PG-WT and HA-p53-DBD within the cytoplasm, consistent with the absence of nuclear localization signal in p53-DBD. Similar experiments with cells expressing p53-WT and various plakoglobin deletions showed a lack of interaction between p53 and PG- Δ C. In HA-p53-WT-FLAG-PG- Δ C cells, plakoglobin distribution was primarily at the membrane, whereas p53 was exclusively nuclear, further confirming that plakoglobin interacted with p53 via its C-terminal domain.

We also examined the changes in growth, migration and invasion of H1299 cells co-expressing various HA-p53 fragments with FLAG-PG-WT or various FLAG-PG deletions with HA-p53-WT. These results showed that only cells co-expressing p53-WT and PG-WT exhibited maximum inhibition of cell growth, migration and invasion. This finding is novel and has not been previously reported. In contrast, the co-expression of HA-p53-NT, -DBD and -CT with FLAG-PG-WT reduced cell growth and invasiveness by only ~10-12%. Interestingly, however, all p53 fragments were effective in reducing the migration of H1299 double transfectants noticeably, albeit not to the level of p53-WT.

The NT domain regulates the p53-mediated transcription via interaction with the basal transcription machinery, but also has transcription-independent functions. The NT also regulates the stability of p53 by binding to Hdm-2, and its regulation of growth by interactions with apoptotic proteins and FAK [30, 63-66]. However, both the DBD and the CT are necessary for proper functioning of the NT domain [67-75], consistent with the limited capacity of NT to reduce the growth and invasiveness of H1299 transfectants observed in our study.

The DBD construct used in this study also includes the TAD2 domain. The DBD has a tightly regulated, sequence-specific DNA binding activity and plays a critical role in p53 transcriptional activity and also mediates the cytosolic function of p53 in regulating apoptosis [5, 72, 76]. Here, we showed that DBD plus TAD2, which is involved in senescence induction [65], is not sufficient to significantly reduce the growth and invasiveness of H1299 transfectants.

H1299-HA-p53-CT cells expressed a peptide comprising the oligomerization and transcriptional regulatory domains [71, 77-80]. The CT domain contains many phosphorylation and acetylation sites which confer the proper conformation, localization, stability, DNA binding and transcriptional activity on p53 [5, 75, 81-84]. Our data showed almost exclusive nuclear localization of p53-CT, while p53-NT and -DBD proteins were localized entirely within the cytoplasm. However, while properly localized, the CT domain alone was not sufficient to reduce the growth and invasiveness of H1299 cells to the same extent as WT-p53.

Surprisingly, the co-expression of p53-NT, -DBD or -CT with PG-WT decreased the migratory properties of the respective H1299 transfectants, albeit to a lesser

extent than p53-WT. A number of studies have shown interactions between NT, DBD and CT with various kinases involved in migration including FAK, JNK, PLK1 and GSK3 β [39, 52, 85- 91]. Our results clearly suggest that the NT, DBD and CT fragments of p53 retain some ability to inhibit cell migration. Whether the expressed fragments could act as dominant negative peptides to sequester these kinases is not clear and warrants further investigation.

In a p53-WT background, various plakoglobin deletions exhibited reduced growth similar to H1299-HA-p53 cells, suggesting that the inhibition of growth by plakoglobin was primarily mediated by its role in the induction of contact inhibition. Moreover, p53 may have a larger contribution to the significantly reduced growth of H1299 cells coexpressing p53 and plakoglobin.

When plakoglobin deletions were coexpressed with p53-WT, these transfectants were less migratory than H1299 cells (~25% reduction). However, their migration was significantly higher than H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT cells (~75% reduction). This is consistent with the inability of PG- Δ N and Δ Arm to interact with α -catenin and cadherins, respectively, mediate stable junction formation and inhibit migration. However, while PG- Δ C expressing cells exhibited extensive cell-cell contact, they also showed increased migration. This observation is also in keeping with previous studies demonstrating the involvement of the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin in inhibition of migration independent of its adhesive properties [54]. Consistent with this observation, PG- Δ C expressing cells exhibited extensive cell-cell contact, but increased migration. The invasiveness of H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ N and - Δ Arm (with intact TA domain) was similar to that of

H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG-WT cells (~70%), whereas invasiveness was reduced by only ~27% in H1299-HA-p53-WT/FLAG-PG- Δ C. These results may be explained by the loss of interaction between plakoglobin and p53 due to the absence of TA domain of plakoglobin.

In conclusion, our data indicated that 1) p53 and plakoglobin cooperated to reduce the growth and acted synergistically to decrease migration and invasiveness of H1299 cells and 2) the C-terminal domain of plakoglobin interacted with the DBD of p53, and this interaction was necessary for the maximum inhibition of invasion by p53 and plakoglobin. The data presented also raises the possibilities that the NT, CT and DBD fragments of p53 may act in a dominant negative manner to inhibit signaling pathways involved in migration. Furthermore, the differences in the migratory properties of the transfectants expressing various p53 fragments relative to the WT-p53 cells may suggest that the genes/pathways involved in inhibition of migration by p53 may be different than those involved in its inhibition of growth and invasion. Future studies will be focused on determining the exact amino acids involved in p53/plakoglobin interactions and examining the interactions between p53 fragments and various signaling molecules that regulate cell migration. Since more than 50% of all tumors and 80% of metastatic tumors have mutations in p53 [1], our observations provide the exciting possibility that plakoglobin may be a potential therapeutic target for cancers with non-functional mutant p53s.

3.5. References

- 1- http://p53.free.fr/
- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. Cell. 2009; 137, 413-31.
- 3- Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH. p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2015; 16, 393-405.
- 4- Green DR, Kroemer G. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature. 2009; 458, 1127-30.
- 5- Garcia PB, Attardi LD. Illuminating p53 function in cancer with genetically engineered mouse models. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2014; 27, 74-85.
- 6- Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 1997; 387, 296-9.
- 7- Levav-Cohen Y, Goldberg Z, Tan KH, Alsheich-Bartok O, Zuckerman V, Haupt S, Haupt Y. The p53-Mdm2 loop: a critical juncture of stress response. Subcell Biochem. 2014; 85, 161-86.
- 8- Hamard PJ, Lukin DJ, Manfredi JJ. p53 basic C terminus regulates p53 functions through DNA binding modulation of subset of target genes. J Biol Chem. 2012; 287, 22397-407.
- 9- Pham N, Lucumi A, Cheung, K and Viadiu H. The Tetramer of p53 in absence of DNA forms a relaxed quaternary structure. Biochemistry. 2012; 51, 8053-55.
- 10- Menendez D, Inga A, Resnick MA. The expanding universe of p53 targets. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9, 724-7237.
- 11- Muller PA, Vousden KH. P53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013; 15, 2-8.
- 12-Gu B, Zhu WG. Surf the post-translational modification network of p53 regulation. Int J Biol Sci. 2012; 8, 672-84.
- 13-Nguyen TA, Menendez D, Resnick MA, Anderson CW. Mutant TP53 posttranslational modifications: challenges and opportunities. Hum Mutat. 2014; 35:738-55.
- 14- Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of 14-3-3σ. J Cell Sci. 2013; 126, 3031-42.
- 15- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. PLoS One. 2013; 8, e78388.
- 16-Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. J Cell Biol. 1992; 118, 681-91.
- 17- Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Beta-catenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signalling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013; 116, 387-407.
- 18- Kim W, Kim M, Jho EH. Wnt/β-catenin signalling: from plasma membrane to nucleus. Biochem J. 2013; 450, 9-21.

- 19- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Int J Cell Biol. 2012; 2012, 189521.
- 20- Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, Cook L, Li L, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. Oncogene. 2010; 29, 2118-29.
- 21-Lai YH, Cheng J, Cheng D, Feasel ME, Beste KD, Peng J, Nusrat A, Moreno CS. SOX4 interacts with plakoglobin in a Wnt3a-dependent manner in prostate cancer cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2011; 2011, 12:50.
- 22- Sechler M, Borowicz S, Van Scoyk M, Avasarala S, Zerayesus S, Edwards MG, Kumar Karuppusamy Rathinam M, Zhao X, Wu PY, Tang K, Bikkavilli RK, Winn RA. Novel Role for γ-Catenin in the Regulation of Cancer Cell Migration via the Induction of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (HAI-1). J Biol Chem. 2015; 290, 15610-20.
- 23- Abou Zeinab R, Wu H, Sergi C, Leng RP. Residues 240-250 in the C-terminus of the Pirh2 protein complement the function of the RING domain in self-ubiquitination of the Pirh2 protein. PLoS One. 2013; 8, e82803.
- 24-Parker HR, Li Z, Sheinin H, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1998; 40, 87-100.
- 25-Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007; 46, 824-38.
- 26-Bates S, Vousden KH. p53 in signalling checkpoint arrest or apoptosis. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1996; 6, 12-8.
- 27- Fridman JS, Lowe SW. Control of apoptosis by p53. Oncogene. 2003; 22, 9030-40.
- 28- Perfettini JL, Kroemer RT, Kroemer G. (2004) Fatal liaisons of p53 with Bax and Bak. Nat Cell Biol. 2004; 6, 386-8.
- 29- Sykes SM, Stanek TJ, Frank A, Murphy ME, McMahon SB. Acetylation of the DNA binding domain regulates transcription-independent apoptosis by p53. J Biol Chem. 2009; 284, 20197-205.
- 30- Ha JH, Shin JS, Yoon MK, Lee MS, He F, Bae KH, Yoon HS, Lee CK, Park SG, Muto Y, Chi SW. Dual-site interactions of p53 protein transactivation domain with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins reveal a highly convergent mechanism of divergent p53 pathways. J Biol Chem. 2013; 288, 7387-98.
- 31- Matissek KJ, Mossalam M, Okal A, Lim CS. The DNA binding domain of p53 is sufficient to trigger a potent apoptotic response at the mitochondria. Mol Pharm. 2013; 10, 3592-602.
- 32-Comel A, Sorrentino G, Capaci V, Del Sal G. The cytoplasmic side of p53's oncosuppressive activities. FEBS Lett. 2014; 588, 2600-9.
- 33- Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Cance WG. Direct interaction of the N-terminal domain of focal adhesion kinase with the N-terminal transactivation domain of p53. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280, 25008-21.

- 34- Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Kweh F, Massoll NA, Campbell-Thompson M, Wallace MR, Cance WG. p53 regulates FAK expression in human tumor cells. Mol Carcinog. 2008; 47, 373-82.
- 35-Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Zheng M, Kurenova EV, Cance WG. The 7amino-acid site in the proline-rich region of the N-terminal domain of p53 is involved in the interaction with FAK and is critical for p53 functioning. Biochem J. 2008; 411, 151-60.
- 36-Mukhopadhyay UK, Eves R, Jia L, Mooney P, Mak AS. p53 suppresses Srcinduced podosome and rosette formation and cellular invasiveness through the upregulation of caldesmon. Mol Cell Biol. 2009; 29, 3088-98.
- 37-Quintavalle M, Elia L, Condorelli G, Courtneidge SA. (2010) MicroRNA control of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. J Cell Biol. 2010; 189, 13-22.
- 38- Aylon Y, Oren M. New plays in the p53 theater. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2011; 21, 86-92.
- 39-Golubovskaya VM, Cance WG. FAK and p53 protein interactions. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 2011; 11(7):617-9.
- 40- Hermeking H. MicroRNAs in the p53 network: micromanagement of tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012; 12, 613-26.
- 41- Zhang J, Sun Q, Zhang Z, Ge S, Han ZG, Chen WT. Loss of microRNA-143/145 disturbs cellular growth and apoptosis of human epithelial cancers by impairing the MDM2-p53 feedback loop. Oncogene. 2013; 32, 61-9.
- 42- Cano A, Gamallo C, Kemp CJ, Benito N, Palacios J, Quintanilla M, Balmain A. Expression pattern of the cell adhesion molecules. E-cadherin, P-cadherin and alpha 6 beta 4 intergrin is altered in pre-malignant skin tumors of p53-deficient mice. Int J Cancer. 1996; 65, 254-62.
- 43- Wang SP, Wang WL, Chang YL, Wu CT, Chao YC, Kao SH, Yuan A, Lin CW, Yang SC, Chan WK, Li KC, Hong TM, Yang PC. p53 controls cancer cell invasion by inducing the MDM2-mediated degradation of Slug. Nat Cell Biol. 2009; 11, 694-704.
- 44- Lim SO, Kim H, Jung G. p53 inhibits tumor cell invasion via the degradation of snail protein in hepatocellular carcinoma. FEBS Lett. 2010; 584, 2231-6.
- 45- Araki K, Ebata T, Guo AK, Tobiume K, Wolf SJ, Kawauchi K. p53 regulates cytoskeleton remodeling to suppress tumor progression. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2015; 72, 4077-94.
- 46-Dusek RL, Godsel LM, Chen F, Strohecker AM, Getsios S, Harmon R, Müller EJ, Caldelari R, Cryns VL, Green KJ. Plakoglobin deficiency protects keratinocytes from apoptosis. J Invest Dermatol. 2007; 127, 792-801.
- 47-Lewis JE, Wahl JK 3rd, Sass KM, Jensen PJ, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. Cross-talk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1997; 136, 919-34.
- 48- Charpentier E, Lavker RM, Acquista E, Cowin P. Plakoglobin suppresses epithelial proliferation and hair growth in vivo. J Cell Biol. 2000; 149, 503-20.
- 49- Hakimelahi S, Parker HR, Gilchrist AJ, Barry M, Li Z, Bleackley RC, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin regulates the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2. J Biol Chem. 2000; 275, 10905-11.

- 50- Aberle H, Bierkamp C, Torchard D, Serova O, Wagner T, Natt E, Wirsching J, Heidkämper C, Montagna M, Lynch HT, Lenoir GM, Scherer G, feunteunt J, et al. The human plakoglobin gene localizes on chromosome 17q21 and is subjected to loss of heterozygosity in breast and ovarian cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1995; 92, 6384-8.
- 51- Nagashima H, Okada M, Hidai C, Hosoda S, Kasanuki H, Kawana M. The role of cadherin-catenin-cytoskeleton complex in angiogenesis: antisense oligonucleotide of plakoglobin promotes angiogenesis in vitro, and protein kinase C (PKC) enhances angiogenesis through the plakoglobin signalling pathway. Heart Vessels. 1997; Suppl 12, 110-2.
- 52- Mukhina S, Mertani HC, Guo K, Lee KO, Gluckman PD, Lobie PE. Phenotypic conversion of human mammary carcinoma cells by autocrine human growth hormone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004; 101, 15166-71.
- 53- Rieger-Christ KM, Ng L, Hanley RS, Durrani O, Ma H, Yee AS, Libertino JA, Summerhayes IC. Restoration of plakoglobin expression in bladder carcinoma cell lines suppresses cell migration and tumorigenic potential. Br J Cancer. 2005; 92, 2153-9.
- 54- Yin T, Getsios S, Caldelari R, Kowalczyk AP, Müller EJ, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin suppresses keratinocyte motility through both cell-cell adhesiondependent and -independent mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005; 102, 5420-5.
- 55- Todorović V, Desai BV, Patterson MJ, Amargo EV, Dubash AD, Yin T, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin regulates cell motility through Rho- and fibronectindependent Src signalling. J Cell Sci. 2010; 123, 3576-86.
- 56-Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. Oncogenesis. 2012; 2012, 1:e4.
- 57-Miravet S, Piedra J, Miró F, Itarte E, García de Herreros A, Duñach M. The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for beta-catenin and plakoglobin. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 1884-91.
- 58- Maeda O, Usami N, Kondo M, Takahashi M, Goto H, Shimokata K, Kusugami K, Sekido Y. Plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) has TCF/LEF family-dependent transcriptional activity in beta-catenin-deficient cell line. Oncogene. 2004; 23, 964-72.
- 59-Raurell I, Castaño J, Francí C, García de Herreros A, Duñach M. Presenilin-1 interacts with plakoglobin and enhances plakoglobin-Tcf-4 association. Implications for the regulation of beta-catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281, 1401-11.
- 60- Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Müller EJ. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. EMBO J. 2006;25,3298-309.
- 61- Kim YM, Ma H, Oehler VG, Gang EJ, Nguyen C, Masiello D, Liu H, Zhao Y, Radich J, Kahn M. (2011) The gamma catenin/CBP complex maintains survivin transcription in β-catenin deficient/depleted cancer cells. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2011; 11, 213-25.

- 62-Gang EJ, Hsieh YT, Pham J, Zhao Y, Nguyen C, Huantes S, Park E, Naing K, Klemm L, Swaminathan S, et al. (2014) Small-molecule inhibition of CBP/catenin interactions eliminates drug-resistant clones in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncogene. 2014; 33, 2169-78.
- 63- Sharma AK, Ali A, Gogna R, Singh AK, Pati U. p53 Amino-terminus region (1-125) stabilizes and restores heat denatured p53 wild phenotype. PLoS One. 2009; 4, e7159.
- 64-Vaseva AV, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. The transcription-independent mitochondrial p53 program is a major contributor to nutlin-induced apoptosis in tumor cells. Cell Cycle. 2009; 8, 1711-9.
- 65-Brady CA, Jiang D, Mello SS, Johnson TM, Jarvis LA, Kozak MM, Kenzelmann Broz D, Basak S, Park EJ, McLaughlin ME, Karnezis AN, Attardi LD. Distinct p53 transcriptional programs dictate acute DNA-damage responses and tumor suppression. Cell. 2011; 145, 571-83.
- 66- Childs BG, Baker DJ, Kirkland JL, Campisi J, van Deursen JM. Senescence and apoptosis: dueling or complementary cell fates? EMBO Rep. 2014; 15, 1139-53.
- 67- Kong XT, Gao H, Stanbridge EJ. Mechanisms of differential activation of target gene promoters by p53 hinge domain mutants with impaired apoptotic function. J Biol Chem. 2001; 276, 32990-3000.
- 68- Shimizu H, Burch LR, Smith AJ, Dornan D, Wallace M, Ball KL, Hupp TR. The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 28446-58.
- 69- Liu G, Xia T, Chen X. The activation domains, the proline-rich domain, and the C-terminal basic domain in p53 are necessary for acetylation of histones on the proximal p21 promoter and interaction with p300/CREB-binding protein. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278, 17557-65.
- 70-Wei G, Liu G, Liu X. Identification of two serine residues important for p53 DNA binding and protein stability. FEBS Lett. 003; 543, 16-20.
- 71- Kim H, Kim K, Choi J, Heo K, Baek HJ, Roeder RG, An W. p53 requires an intact C-terminal domain for DNA binding and transactivation. J Mol Biol. 2012; 415, 843-54.
- 72-Follis AV, Llambi F, Ou L, Baran K, Green DR, Kriwacki RW. The DNAbinding domain mediates both nuclear and cytosolic functions of p53. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2014; 21, 535-43.
- 73-Lee DH, Ha JH, Kim Y, Jang M, Park SJ, Yoon HS, Kim EH, Bae KH, Park BC, Park SG, Yi GS, Chi SW. A conserved mechanism for binding of p53 DNA-binding domain and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Mol Cells. 2014; 37, 264-9.
- 74- Lee MS, Ha JH, Yoon HS, Lee CK, Chi SW. Structural basis for the conserved binding mechanism of MDM2-inhibiting peptides and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014; 445, 120-5.
- 75- Laptenko O, Shiff I, Freed-Pastor W, Zupnick A, Mattia M, Freulich E, Shamir I, Kadouri N, Kahan T, Manfredi J, Simon I, Prives C. The p53 C terminus

controls site-specific DNA binding and promotes structural changes within the central DNA binding domain. Mol Cell. 2015; 57, 1034-46.

- 76-Göhler T, Reimann M, Cherny D, Walter K, Warnecke G, Kim E, Deppert W. Specific interaction of p53 with target binding sites is determined by DNA conformation and is regulated by the C-terminal domain. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 41192-203.
- 77- Ahn J, Prives C. The C-terminus of p53: the more you learn the less you know. Nat Struct Biol. 2001; 8, 730-2.
- 78- Espinosa JM, Emerson BM. Transcriptional regulation by p53 through intrinsic DNA/chromatin binding and site-directed cofactor recruitment. Mol Cell. 2001; 8, 57-69.
- 79- McKinney K, Mattia M, Gottifredi V, Prives C. p53 linear diffusion along DNA requires its C terminus. Mol Cell. 2004; 16, 413-24.
- 80- Tafvizi A, Huang F, Fersht AR, Mirny LA, van Oijen AM. A single-molecule characterization of p53 search on DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA.2011; 108, 563-8.
- 81- Stommel JM, Marchenko ND, Jimenez GS, Moll UM, Hope TJ, Wahl GM. A leucine-rich nuclear export signal in the p53 tetramerization domain: regulation of subcellular localization and p53 activity by NES masking. EMBO J. 1999; 18, 1660-72.
- 82-Li M, Luo J, Brooks CL, Gu W. Acetylation of p53 inhibits its ubiquitination by Mdm2. J Biol Chem.2002; 277, 50607-11.
- 83-Nakamura S, Roth JA, Mukhopadhyay T. Multiple lysine mutations in the Cterminal domain of p53 interfere with MDM2-dependent protein degradation and ubiquitination. Mol Cell Biol. 2000; 20, 9391-8.
- 84- Nie L, Sasaki M, Maki CG. Regulation of p53 nuclear export through sequential changes in conformation and ubiquitination. J Biol Chem. 2007; 282,14616-25.
- 85-Fuchs SY, Adler V, Buschmann T, Yin Z, Wu X, Jones SN, Ronai Z. JNK targets p53 ubiquitination and degradation in nonstressed cells. Genes Dev. 1998; 12, 2658-63.
- 86- Watcharasit P, Bijur GN, Song L, Zhu J, Chen X, Jope RS. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK3beta) binds to and promotes the actions of p53. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278, 48872-9.
- 87- Ando K, Ozaki T, Yamamoto H, Furuya K, Hosoda M, Hayashi S, Fukuzawa M, Nakagawara A. Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) inhibits p53 function by physical interaction and phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279, 25549-61.
- 88- Wagner EF, Nebreda AR. Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009; 9, 537-49.
- 89-Zhao X, Guan JL. Focal adhesion kinase and its signalling pathways in cell migration and angiogenesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2011; 63, 610-5.
- 90- Han DP, Zhu QL, Cui JT, Wang PX, Qu S, Cao QF, Zong YP, Feng B, Zheng MH, Lu AG. Polo-like kinase 1 is overexpressed in colorectal cancer and participates in the migration and invasion of colorectal cancer cells. Med Sci Monit. 2012; 18, BR237-46.
- 91-Zeng J, Liu D, Qiu Z, Huang Y, Chen B, Wang L, Xu H, Huang N, Liu L, Li W. GSK3β overexpression indicates poor prognosis and its inhibition reduces

cell proliferation and survival of non-small cell lung cancer cells. PLoS One. 2014; 9, e91231.

Chapter four

Plakoglobin Partially Restores *in Vitro* Tumor Suppressor Activities of p53^{R175H} Mutant by Sequestering the Oncogenic Potential of β-catenin

PREFACE

After submission of this thesis to the examining committee, a revised version of this chapter was accepted for publications as: <u>Alaee M</u>, Nool K, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin Partially Restores in Vitro Tumor Suppressor Activities of p53R175H Mutant by Sequestering the Oncogenic Potential of β -catenin. Cancer Sciences. 2018 Apr 16. doi: 10.1111/cas.13612.

"All Cancer Science articles are published under a Creative Commons License. The Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY) allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article and adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC BY license permits commercial and non-commercial re-use of an open access article, as long as the author is properly attributed."

Contributions:

I participated in conceiving and designing the experiments, performed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. KN performed replicates of the migration and invasion assays for H1299 cells co-expressing plakoglobin and p53^{R175H}.

4.1. Introduction

p53 is a sequence-specific transcription factor with tumor and metastasis suppressor activities [1, 2]. It plays pivotal roles in the regulation of cell cycle, DNA repair, senescence, apoptosis, and metabolism by responding to various cellular stress signals such as DNA damage, hypoxia, mitotic stress, oncogenic signaling etc. [3-5]. As a transcription factor, p53 down-regulates the expression of genes involved in tumor development and cancer progression [6-8]. p53 is mutated or lost in over half of all cancers and more than 80% of metastatic tumors [3,4]. Furthermore, many tumors that express wild type p53 frequently display aberrations in their p53 pathway [3,4]. In addition to the loss/partial loss of the tumor suppressor activities, some p53 mutants also gain oncogenic functions (GOF) that contribute to tumor cell growth, aggressiveness, metastasis and drug resistance [9]. p53 inactivation can result from genetic alterations, decreased stability, defective post-translational modifications and interaction with intracellular partners [10].

There are over 30,000 somatic mutations in *TP53*, including missense, nonsense, deletions, frameshifts and temperature sensitive [11]. Most of these changes occur within the DNA-binding domain with more than 75% single missense mutations, 40% of which are represented by six hot spot mutations (Arg175, Gly245, Arg248, Arg249, Arg273 and Arg282) that are highly frequent in tumors of different origins [11]. The hot spot mutations are further classified into two groups: contact mutations (Arg248, Arg273) that inhibit the direct interaction between p53 and DNA leading to a loss of sequence-specific transactivation and structural mutations (Arg175, Gly245, Arg249, and Arg282) that alter the local or global conformation

of p53 causing indirect loss of DNA binding [12]. Among the hot spot structural mutations, Arg175His (R175H), is the most frequent GOF p53 mutant [13,14] that increases cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasion by deregulating different signaling pathways involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis.

p53 functions are regulated by posttranslational modifications and protein-protein interactions [15]. We have identified plakoglobin (γ -catenin) as an endogenous interacting partner of wild type as well as a number of most frequent mutant p53s (mp53) in various carcinoma cell lines of different origins and, have shown that its interaction with mp53s restores their tumor suppressor activities in vitro [16-19]. Plakoglobin is an Armadillo protein family member and a paralog of β -catenin with similar dual cell-cell adhesion and signaling activities [20,21]. However, unlike β catenin that acts as an oncogene via its interaction with the transcription factors TCF/LEF, and activation of Wnt signaling pathway [22,23], plakoglobin generally acts as a tumor and metastasis suppressor [20,21,24-27]. We have shown that plakoglobin can act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor by at least three mechanisms: regulation of stability and subcellular localization of growth regulating molecules [19,25,28], interaction with transcription factors involved in the regulation of cell growth and metastasis [16-19,25] and sequestration of β catenin oncogenic activities [29, also see 30-34].

p53 GOF mutations can induce aberrant accumulation and increased transcriptional activation of β -catenin in cancer cells [35-37]. In the absence of Wnt, the excess cytoplasmic β -catenin is degraded via phosphorylation by the destruction complex and subsequent ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation [38-40]. Upon Wnt

activation, the destruction complex is dissociated and β -catenin translocates into the nucleus, binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors and activates the expression of Wnt targets including cyclin D1, c-Myc, MMPs, S100A4, and survivin, etc. [38-43]. Activation of these genes triggers an epithelial to mesenchymal phenotypic transition, cell proliferation, cell migration and invasion and metastasis [41,43]. β catenin is also degraded via its ubiquitination by Siah-1, an E3 ubiquitin ligase that enhances β -catenin's proteasomal degradation independent of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway [44,45].

In the present work, our goal was to assess the effects of GOF p53^{R175H} mutant (herein referred to as $p53^{R175H}$) alone or together with plakoglobin on β -catenin accumulation in the nucleus and its transcriptional activation. To this end, plakoglobin deficient and p53 null H1299 cells were transfected with wild type p53 (herein referred to as p53) or p53^{R175H} with or without plakoglobin. p53^{R175H} expressing H1299 cells showed significantly higher levels of total and nuclear β catenin relative to the p53 expressing transfectants. H1299 cells expressing plakoglobin or co-expressing plakoglobin and p53 or p53^{R175H} had significantly lower levels of total and nuclear β -catenin. Plakoglobin and β -catenin interacted with TCF-4 and expression of plakoglobin decreased the β -catenin/TCF interaction. p53^{R175H} cells showed significant increase in β-catenin/TCF luciferase reporter activity, whereas co-expression of plakoglobin in these cells significantly decreased the luciferase activity. β -catenin target genes, *c*-MYC and S100A4 were upregulated in p53^{R175H} cells and were significantly downregulated when plakoglobin was coexpressed. p53^{R175H} expression also increased the *in vitro* migration and invasion of H1299 cells, which were significantly reduced when plakoglobin was coexpressed.

4.2. Material and methods

4.2.1. Cell lines and culture conditions

The non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) cell line H1299 have been described [18] and were grown in Minimum Essential medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), and 1% penicillin-streptomycin-kanamycin (PSK) antibiotics. SW620 colon carcinoma cells were grown in Leibovitz's L-15 medium supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 10% FBS and 1% PSK.

4.2.2. Plasmid construction and transfection

HA-tagged p53 has been described previously [18,46]. The pcDNA3.1/hygroplakoglobin construct was generated using the previously described FLAG-taggedplakoglobin as a template [29]. The p53^{R175H} expression construct was a gift from Dr. Giovanni Blandino [47].

Cultures of H1299 cells were established in 60 mm petri dishes and transfected at 60% confluency with 9 μ g of DNA using calcium phosphate. Twenty hours after transfection, cells were rinsed with media and allowed to recover for 24 hours in complete MEM. Forty-eight hours post transfection, stable transfectants were selected by placing cultures in selection media containing 500 μ g/ml Hygromycin B (plakoglobin transfectants) or 400 μ g/ml G418 (*p53*^{*R175H*} transfectants) or both (double transfectants) for 2-3 weeks. Resistant clones were screened for p53 and plakoglobin expression by immunofluorescence and immunoblot assays and
maintained in maintenance selection media containing 350 μ g/ml Hygromycin B or 200 μ g/ml G418 or both. Positive clones were subcultured by limiting dilution. Both parental and multiple single cell isolated clones were tested for plakoglobin and p53 expression using various assays and the results are presented for one representative clone.

4.2.3. Cell fractionation, preparation of cell extracts and immunoblot analysis

To extract total cellular proteins, confluent 100 mm culture plates were rinsed with cold PBS and solubilized in SDS sample buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% (w/v) SDS, 50 mM DTT, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM PMSF, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM Na3VO4). Equal amounts of total cellular proteins were separated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Biorad). Membranes were incubated in specific primary antibodies overnight at 4°C followed by the appropriate secondary antibodies at room temperature (Table 4.1). Membranes were scanned using an Odyssey CLx infrared imaging system.

Nuclear fractions were prepared with Thermo Fisher Scientific NE-PER Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction Reagents according to the manufacturer's protocol. The purity of nuclear fractions was verified by immunoblotting with nuclear lamins antibodies (Table 4.1).

	Species	Assay			
Primary antibodies		WB	IP	IF	Source/ catalog number
p53- DO-1	Mouse	1:1000	1:100	-	Santa Cruz Biotechnology/
					sc-126
Plakoglobin (γ-catenin)	Mouse	1:1000	1:100	1:100	BD Transduction
					Laboratories/ 610254
β-catenin	Mouse	1:1000	1:100	1:100	Sigma Aldrich/ C-7207
β-catenin (nuclear)	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Abcam/ ab 19451-50
TCF-4	Mouse	1:500	1:100	-	Upstate Biotechnology/ 05-
					511
β-actin	Mouse	1:1000	-	-	Santa Cruz Biotechnology/
					sc-47778
Lamin B1	Rabbit	1:1000	-	-	Abcam/ ab 16048
Secondary antibodies		II			
Anti-mouse, light chain IgG	Goat	1:20000	-	-	Jackson Immuno Research/
					115-625-174
Anti-rabbit, light chain IgG	Goat	1:20000	-	-	Jackson Immuno Research/
					211-652-171
Alexa fluor 488	Mouse	-	-	1:2000	Molecular Probes
					Biotechnology/ A11029
Alexa fluor 546	Rabbit	-	-	1:3000	Molecular Probes
					Biotechnology / A11035

Table 4.1. Antibodies and their respective dilutions in specific assays

4.2.4. Immunoprecipitation

Cultures (100 mm) were washed with cold PBS containing 1 mM NaF, Na3VO4 and CaCl2 and extracted in 1 ml of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 100 mM NaF [48], and protease inhibitor cocktail (1 tablet/10 ml; Roche Diagnostics) for 30 minutes at 4°C on a rocker. Cells were then scraped and centrifuged at 48000 xg for 10 minutes. Supernatants were divided into equal aliquots and processed for immunoprecipitation with p53, plakoglobin and β -catenin antibodies (Table 4.1) and 40 μ l protein G agarose beads (Pierce Biotechnology) overnight at 4°C on a rocker rotator. To ensure complete depletion, immunoprecipitates were centrifuged at 14000 xg for 2 min and supernatants were separated processed for a second immunoprecipitation for 3 hours. Beads from the two immunoprecipitations were combined and washed three times with the lysis buffer. Immune complexes were solubilized in 60 µl SDS sample buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and processed for western blot as described above.

4.2.5. Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

Confluent cell cultures were established on glass coverslips and rinsed with cold PBS containing 1 mM each of NaF, Na3VO4 and CaCl2. Cells were fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde in PBS for 20 minutes and extracted with cytoskeleton (CSK) extraction buffer ([48]; 50 mM NaCl, 300 mM Sucrose, 10 mM PIPES pH 6.8, 3 mM MgCl2, 0.5% Triton X-100, 1.2 mM PMSF, and 1 mg/ml DNase and RNase) for 10 minutes. Coverslips were blocked with 4.0% goat serum and 50 mM NH4Cl

in PBS containing 0.2% BSA for 1 hour. Coverslips were then incubated in the specific primary antibodies for 1 hour followed by the secondary antibodies for 30 minutes at concentrations indicated in Table 4.1. Following nuclei staining with DAPI (1:2000), coverslips were mounted in elvanol containing paraphenylene diamine [PPD, 0.2% (w/v)] and viewed using a 63X objective lens of a Zeiss confocal microscope.

4.2.6. RNA Isolation, RT-PCR and real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cells in 100 mm culture dishes with Trizol reagent (Invitrogen-Thermo Fisher Scientific), treated with DNase I and reversetranscribed with RevertAid H Minus First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

For real-time PCR, Syber green mastermix (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and specific forward and reverse primers for *MYC*, *S100A4* and *ACTB* (β -actin) (Table 4.2) were used as per manufacturer's instructions.

Construct		Size (nucleotide)			
с-МҮС	Forward	rward 5'-CAGCTGCTTAGACGCTGGATT-3'			
	Reverse	5'-GTAGAAATACGGCTGCACCGA-3'	21		
S100A4	Forward	Forward 5'-GATGAGCAACTTGGACAGCAA-3'			
	Reverse	5'-CTGGGCTGCTTATCTGGGAAG-3'	21		
ACTB	PrimePCR SYBR Green Assay ACTB Human, Cat No. 10025636				

Table 4.2. Oligos/primer sequences used for RT-qPCR

4.2.7. Proteasome inhibition assay

Replicate cultures remained untreated or were treated with $1\mu M$ of proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Sigma) for 16 hours. Untreated and treated cells were then lysed and total cell lysates were used for western blot with β -catenin antibodies as described above.

4.2.8. Luciferase reporter assay

To measure β -catenin-driven transactivation, parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants in confluent 35 mm cultures were co-transfected with 5 µg of pTOPFLASH plasmid [49] and 3 µg of Renilla luciferase plasmid (pRL-TK) serving as a control for transfection efficiency [50]. Forty-eight-hour post-transfection, luciferase activities were measured and normalized to Renilla activities. Each experiment was repeated 4 times and the mean and standard errors were calculated.

4.2.9. In vitro migration and invasion assays

For cell migration assays, 2×10^5 cells were resuspended in 0.5 ml serum-free media and plated in the upper chamber of transwell inserts (3 µm pore, 6.5 mm diameter; BD Biosciences). Normal media containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber and cultures were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Inserts were then transferred into new dishes, rinsed with PBS to remove unattached cells, fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde for 2 minutes, permeabilized with 100% methanol for 20 minutes and stained with Giemsa stain for 15 minutes at room temperature. Following staining, membranes were viewed under an inverted microscope using a 20X objective lens and photographed.

For Matrigel invasion assays, cells were starved in serum-free media for 24 hours prior to the assay. For each cell line, 5×10^4 cells in 0.2 ml serum-free media were plated in the top compartment of Matrigel-coated invasion chambers (8 µm pore PETE membrane; BD Biosciences). Fibroblast conditioned media (0.8 ml) was added to the bottom chambers and plates were incubated overnight at 37°C. After 24 hours, membranes were recovered and processed as described for the migration assay.

The migrated/invaded cells were counted in 5 random fields for each membrane using the NIH ImageJ Cell Counter program. Numbers for each cell line were averaged and normalized to those of the parental untransfected cells and histograms constructed. Histograms represent the average \pm standard deviation of 3-6 independent assays for each cell line.

4.2.10. Statistical analysis

Values are presented as means \pm standard deviation. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by Student's t-tests. *P*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Plakoglobin interacted with $p53^{R175H}$ and decreased β -catenin protein levels

We first validated the expression of plakoglobin, p53 and p53^{R175H} in single and double H1299 transfectants by processing total cell extracts from all transfectants for western blots with plakoglobin and p53 antibodies (Figure 4.1A).

Previously, we have shown that plakoglobin interacted with p53 and several mp53 proteins using different carcinoma cell lines [16-19]. To verify plakoglobin interaction with p53^{R175H}, we processed H1299 transfectants co-expressing plakoglobin and p53^{R175H} for reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting with plakoglobin and p53 antibodies (Figure 4.1B). Immunoprecipitation of the double transfectants total cell extracts with p53 antibodies precipitated p53 (Figure 4.1B, lane 2; IP: p53, IB: p53) and co-precipitated PG (Figure 4.1B, lane 6, IP: p53, IB: PG). The reciprocal co-immunoprecipitation using PG antibodies confirmed this finding, as PG antibodies co-precipitated p53 (Figure 4.1B, lane 3, IP: PG, IB: p53) and pulled down PG lane 6, IP: PG, IB: PG) from cells co-expressing both proteins.

Figure 4.1C shows plakoglobin and β -catenin protein expression in H1299 transfectants expressing p53 or p53^{R175H} with or without plakoglobin. Relative to H1299 cells, β -catenin levels were decreased in p53 expressing H1299 cells (Figure 4.1C, β -catenin, lane 2), whereas it was increased when p53^{R175H} was expressed (Figure 4.1C, β -catenin, lane 3). Plakoglobin expression significantly reduced β -catenin levels in parental as well as p53 or p53^{R175H} expressing H1299 transfectants (Figure 4.1C, β -catenin, lanes 4-6).



Figure 4.1. Plakoglobin interacts with the mutant $p53^{R175H}$ and decreases β -catenin levels.

processed for immunoblot using plakoglobin and β -catenin antibodies. β -actin levels were used as loading control. Histograms represent the average \pm $(PG- p53^{R175H})$ were processed for immunoblot using plakoglobin and p53 antibodies. β -actin levels in the same extracts was used as an internal control. PG, plakoglobin; UT, untransfected. (B) Total cell extracts from H1299 cells co-expressing **plakoglobin** and **p53**^{R175H} were processed for (A) Total cell extracts from untransfected H1299 cells and H1299 cells transfected with p53, p53^{R175H}, PG, PG and p53 (PG-p53) or PG and p53^{R175H} cell extracts. (C) Total cell extracts from parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants expressing p53 or p53^{R175H} with or without plakoglobin were standard deviation of four separate experiments. All values are normalized to H1299 untransfected cells. PG, plakoglobin; UT, untrasfected. P values reciprocal and sequential co-immunoprecipitation (IP) and immunoblotting (IB) using p53 and plakoglobin antibodies. PG, plakoglobin, TCE, total * <0.05 ** <0.001.

4.3.2. Expression of plakoglobin decreased β-catenin protein levels by promoting its proteasomal degradation

Western blot analysis of the nuclear extracts from parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants was used to examine the cytoplasmic and nuclear levels of plakoglobin and β -catenin (Figure 4.2A, B). The highest level of nuclear and cytoplasmic β -catenin was detected in H1299-p53^{R175H} transfectants (Figure 4.2A, B, β -catenin (N, C) lane 3). In contrast, significantly lower amounts of β -catenin was co-expressed (Figure 4.2A, B, β -catenin (N) and (C) lanes 4-6).

Examination of β -catenin's mRNA levels in various transfects showed no difference (Figure 4.2C) suggesting that changes in β -catenin levels in plakoglobin expressing cells occurs post-transcriptionally. This led us to assess whether downregulation of β -catenin is due to the increased proteasomal degradation upon plakoglobin expression. To address this possibility, we used MG132, which inhibits 20S proteasome activity and degradation of ubiquitinated proteins [29]. Replicate cultures of H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants remained untreated or were treated with 1 μ M MG132 for 16 hours and processed for western blot using β -catenin antibodies. As shown in Figure 4.2D, β -catenin was detected as multiple bands in MG132 treated cultures, which was consistent with the inhibition of degradation of the ubiquitinated protein. The quantitation of the β -catenin protein levels in untreated and treated cell lines showed that in untreated cultures, plakoglobin expression increased β -catenin degradation by ~ 5.5-, 3- and 4.6fold in H1299, H1299-p53 and H1299-p53^{R175H} cells, respectively (Figure 4.2E). MG132 treatment decreased β -catenin degradation by >2- fold in the absence of plakoglobin, whereas this reduction was significantly higher (up to 7-fold) in plakoglobin expressing transfectants (Figure 4.2E). These results suggested that plakoglobin decreased β -catenin levels by promoting its proteasomal degradation.

We also examined the subcellular distribution of β -catenin in H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants by confocal double immunofluorescence microscopy (Figure 4.3). Confluent cultures of various cell lines were fixed with formaldehyde, extracted with CSK buffer and processed for double immunofluorescence staining with plakoglobin and β -catenin antibodies [48]. There was no detectable plakoglobin staining in H1299, H1299-p53 and H1299-p53^{R175H} cells whereas it was distributed throughout the cytoplasm and at the membrane in H1299-PG, -PGp53 and -PG-p53^{R175H} transfectants. β-catenin was expressed in all cell lines, although with different intensity. Relative to H1299 cells, β-catenin staining was significantly reduced in H1299-p53 transfectants, whereas it was significantly increased in H1299-p53^{R175H} cells. Plakoglobin co/expression dramatically reduced β-catenin's staining (nuclear and cytoplasmic) in all transfectants, particularly in H1299-p53^{R175H} cells (Figure 4.3, H1299-PG-p53^{R175H}). These results were consistent with the western blot studies and further confirmed that plakoglobin expression reduced β -catenin levels in both cytoplasmic and nuclear pools.



Figure 4.2. Plakoglobin expression decreases cytoplasmic and nuclear β-catenin levels by promoting its proteasomal degradation in H1299-p53^{R175H} cells. (A) Equal amounts of nuclear (N) and cytoplasmic (C) extracts from parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants (p53, PG, p53^{R175H}, PG-p53, PG- p53^{R175H}) were processed for immunoblot using plakoglobin and β -catenin antibodies. Lamin-B and actin levels were probed from the nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts of different transfectants, respectively, to confirm equal loadings. (B) Nuclear β -catenin blots in A were quantitated by NIH ImageJ software. Histograms represent the average \pm standard deviation of four experiments. All values were normalized to untransfected H1299 cells. PG, plakoglobin; N, nuclear; C, cytoplasmic; β -cat, β -catenin. P values * <0.05. (C) Total RNA was extracted from parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants and subjected to reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) using specific primers for CTNNB1 (β-catenin). GAPDH expression levels were used as an internal control. (D) Replicate cultures of H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants (p53, p53^{R175H}, PG, PG-p53, PG- p53^{R175H}) remained untreated or were treated with 1µM MG132 for 16 hours. Total cell extracts from the untreated and treated cells were processed for immunoblot using β -catenin antibodies. Blots were also probed with β -actin antibodies to confirm equal protein loadings. UT, untransfected; PG, plakoglobin. (E) Blots in (C) were quantitated and histograms were generated that represent the average ± standard deviation of four separate experiments. All values are normalized to the untreated cells for untransfected and transfected cells. PG, plakoglobin; UT, untrasfected. P values * <0.05 ** < 0.001.





4.3.3. Plakoglobin expression decreased β -catenin interaction with TCF-4, reduced β -catenin/TCF-4 reporter activity and down-regulated target gene expression

So far, the results showed that plakoglobin expression decreased the nuclear pool of β -catenin, which may influence the interaction between β -catenin and its cognate transcription factor TCF. Therefore, we used co-immunoprecipitation experiments to examine the interactions between plakoglobin and β -catenin with TCF in parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants. In Figure 4.4A, equal amounts of total cellular protein from parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants were processed for sequential co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting with β catenin, plakoglobin and TCF antibodies. TCF was co-precipitated with β-catenin in H1299, H1299-p53 and H1299-p53^{R175H} cells and its level was significantly lower in H1299-p53 transfectants (Figure 4.4A, IP: β-cat, IB: TCF). Interestingly, very little/no TCF was detected in β -catenin precipitates from the plakoglobin expressing transfectants. In these cells, TCF was only detected in association with plakoglobin (Figure 4.4A, H1299-PG, -p53, -p53^{R175H}; IP: PG, IB: TCF). Consistent with the earlier results, β -catenin levels were decreased in p53 and in all plakoglobin expressing transfectants (H1299-p53, -PG, -PG-p53, -PG-p53^{R175H}) relative to parental H1299 cells (Figure 4.4A; TCE, β -catenin). In contrast, TCF level was not notably different among various cell lines (Figure 4.4A; TCE, IB: TCF). These results indicated that plakoglobin co-expression significantly reduced the interactions between β-catenin and TCF in H1299, H1299-p53 and H1299p53^{R175H} transfectants.

We next assessed if decreased β -catenin/TCF association was reflected in β catenin-dependent TCF reporter activity (Figure 4.4B). Parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants were transiently transfected with pTOPFLASH and pRL-TK Renilla reporter constructs and luciferase activities were measured in all cell lines. As a positive control, SW620, a colon carcinoma cell line expressing mutant APC and signaling-competent β -catenin [51] was included in these studies (Figure 4.4B). The luciferase activities of all cell lines were normalized to that of parental H1299 cells. The results showed no significant differences in the luciferase activity among H1299, H1299-p53 and H1299-PG cells (Figure 4.4B). In contrast, relative to parental H1299 cells, H1299-p53^{R175H} transfectants showed over 60% higher luciferase activity (Figure 4.4B), which was significantly reduced when plakoglobin was co-expressed in these cells (Figure 4.4B, H1299-PG-p53^{R175H}). Based on these observations, we reasoned that decreased β -catenin/TCF transactivation should result in decreased expression of their target genes. Specifically, we focused on *c-MYC* and *S100A4*, two β -catenin/TCF target genes that are known to participate in tumorigenesis and metastasis [41-43, 52-54]. RTqPCR experiments showed that the levels of *c-MYC* and *S100A4* mRNA were significantly increased in H1299-p53^{R175H} transfectants compared to H1299 cells (Figure 4.4C). Co-expression of plakoglobin in these cells (H1299-PG-p53^{R175H}) led to over 3- and 5-fold decrease in the *c-MYC* and *S100A4* mRNA levels, respectively (Figure 4.4C). Together, the results of the experiments in Figure 4.4 suggested that plakoglobin expression in $p53^{R175H}$ cell reduced β -catenin/TCF association and the activation of at least two of their target genes involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis.



(A) Equal amounts of total cellular extracts (TCE) from H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants were processed for sequential immunoprecipitation (IP) and immunoblotting (IB) using plakoglobin, β-catenin (β-cat) and TCF-4 (TCF) antibodies. Equal loadings were confirmed by processing total cell extracts from hour post-transfection. The levels of luciferase activities from pTOPFLASH were normalized to those of Renilla plasmid. Four independent experiments were PG-p53^{R175H}), reverse transcribed and processed for real-time PCR for C-MYC (top) and S100A4 (bottom) using specific primers (Table 4.2). Expression levels all cell lines for immunoblotting using β -actin antibodies. (B) Untransfected H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants (p53, p53^{R175H}, PG, PG-p53, PG-p were co-transfected with pTOPFLASH β-catenin/TCF reporter construct and p-RK-TK Renilla reporter plasmid and luciferase activities were measured 48performed and the results were normalized to H1299 parental cells. SW620 cells were included as a positive control. RLU, relative light unit. UT, untrasfected; were first normalized to the amount of ACTB in the same cell line and then to H1299 untransfected cells. The histograms were constructed based on the average Figure 4.4. Plakoglobin expression reduces β-catenin interaction with TCF 4, decreases β-catenin/TCF-4 reporter activity and target gene expression. PG, plakoglobin. P values * < 0.05, ** < 0.001. (C) Total cellular RNA was extracted from untransfected H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants (PG, p53^{R175H}) \pm standard deviations. UT, untransfected; PG, plakoglobin. P values * <0.05, ** <0.001.

4.3.4. Plakoglobin expression decreased migratory and invasive properties of p53^{R175H} expressing H1299 cells

To assess the biological significance of decreased β -catenin/TCF transactivation, we examined the *in vitro* migration and invasion of parental H1299 cells and H1299 transfectants.

As demonstrated in Figure 4.5, p53 and plakoglobin expression decreased migration by 45% and 34% relative to H1299 cells, respectively, whereas coexpression of both proteins reduced migration by 73% (Figure 4.5, migration; H1299-p53, H1299-PG and H1299-PG-p53; also see [18]). In contrast, expression of p53^{R175H} increased the migration of H1299 cells by ~ 20% (Figure 4.5, migration, H1299- p53^{R175H}), which was reduced by >40% when plakoglobin was coexpressed (Figure 4.5, H1299-PG-p53^{R175H}).

Similarly, the invasiveness of H1299-p53 and H1299-PG cells was decreased by 60% and 33% respectively, whereas the invasiveness of H1299-PG-p53 cells was decreased by 68% relative to parental H1299 cells (Figure 4.5, invasion; H1299-p53, H1299-PG and H1299-PG-p53, also see [18]). In contrast, p53^{R175H} expression in H1299 cells increased their invasiveness by 30%, and the co-expression of plakoglobin in these cells reduced their invasiveness by >60% (Figure 4.5, invasion, H1299-p53^{R175H} and H1299-PG-p53^{R175H}). These results indicated that plakoglobin acted synergistically with p53 to decrease migration and invasion and significantly reduced the migration and invasion promoting effects of p53^{R175H}.



Figure 4.5. Plakoglobin reduced *in vitro* migration and invasion of p53R175H expressing H1299 cells. H1299 and H1299 transfectants (p53, p53^{R175H}, PG, PG-p53, PG-p53^{R175H}) were processed for 24-hour experiments were performed for each cell line and the histograms represent the average \pm standard deviation of Transwell migration and invasion assays as described in Materials and Methods. The number of migrated/invaded cells in five random fields were counted using ImageJ cell counter program. Four separate the number of the migrated/invaded cells for each cell line. All values were normalized to H1299 untransfected cells. UT, untransfected; PG, plakoglobin. P values * < 0.05, ** < 0.001.

4.4. Discussion

p53^{R175H} is one of the most common hot spot mutations that are frequently expressed in many cancers [13,14]. p53^{R175H} expression has been shown to increase genomic instability [55], induce the expression of oncogenic miRNAs [56,57] and promote the expansion of cancer stem cell population [58], epithelial to mesenchymal transition [59-61] and drug resistance [62-64]. Furthermore, p53^{R175H} mice models exhibit tumor formation and metastasis characteristics of the inherited Li-Fraumeni syndrome, the disease that is associated with the germline mutations in the *TP53* gene [65,66].

In the present study, we used the invasive and metastatic H1299 cells with activated Wnt/ β -catenin pathway [67]. This cell line is plakoglobin deficient and p53 null and has been extensively used to assess the function of p53 and p53 mutants. We showed that the expression of p53^{R175H} increased β -catenin levels, its interaction with TCF and activation of *c-MYC* and *S100A4*, two known β -catenin/TCF target genes [41-43, 52-54]. Increased β -catenin levels and activation were concurrent with increased migration and invasion of p53^{R175H} expressing cells. We further demonstrated that the oncogenic effects of p53^{R175H} were counteracted by the co-expression of plakoglobin in these cells. Plakoglobin interacted with p53^{R175H} and reduced β -catenin level, its interaction with TCF and the expression of these transfectants and are consistent with the previously reported activated Wnt/ β -catenin pathway in these cells [67].

β-catenin is the main downstream effector of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway [38-45]. In the absence of Wnt signal, Axin/APC/GSK3β/CKI form the destruction complex that recruits and phosphorylates the excessive cytoplasmic β-catenin, which is subsequently ubiquitinated and degraded by the proteasome pathway [38-40]. In the presence of Wnt, the destruction complex becomes dissociated and the stabilized β-catenin translocates into the nucleus, binds to TCF/LEF transcription factors and induces the expression of Wnt target genes involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis [38,39]. β-catenin can also be activated independent of the Wnt signal. Mutations that interfere with β-catenin's interaction with the components of the destruction complex or with the phosphorylation of its N-terminal serine/threonine residues (S33, S37, S45, T41] that are required for degradation also activate β-catenin in the absence of the Wnt signal [68,69].

In agreement with previous reports, we showed that wild type p53 expression in H1299 cells reduced the total and nuclear β -catenin levels and its transcriptional activity. There are several mechanisms by which p53 reduces β -catenin protein levels and activation. p53 interacts with and activates GSK3 β and/or accelerates the movement of the scaffolding protein, Axin, into the destruction complex both of which lead to increased phosphorylation of β -catenin and its subsequent degradation [70,71]. p53 also inhibits the activity of CK2, which phosphorylates and protects β -catenin from proteasomal degradation [72]. Furthermore, p53 can inhibit Wnt pathway by inducing the expression of the Wnt antagonizer, Dickkopf-1 [73] and the E3 ubiquitin ligase Siah-1 that mediates the degradation of β -catenin independent of the GSK3 β [74-76]. In contrast GOF mutant p53s have been shown

to inhibit β -catenin degradation and promote its oncogenic activities in various tumor cell lines and tissues [35-37,77]. Here, we showed that p53^{R175H} expression significantly reduced β -catenin degradation via the proteasome pathway. p53^{R175H} expressing cells had increased total and nuclear β -catenin and β -catenin/TCF reporter activity and showed upregulation of the Wnt target genes [41-43, 52-54, 78-80].

Previously, we have shown that plakoglobin interacted with both wild type and a number of mutant p53 proteins and this interaction was direct (data not shown) and mediated by the DNA binding domain of p53 and the C-terminal transactivation domain of plakoglobin [16-19]. We showed that plakoglobin and p53 associated with promoters of a number of p53 target genes including tumor suppressors SFN $(14-3-3\delta)$ and *NME1* and the oncogenic genome organizer *SATB1* [16-19]. Furthermore, plakoglobin expression in plakoglobin deficient and mp53 expressing cells reduced the *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion of these cells [16,17,19]. Plakoglobin has also been shown to regulate the expression of HAI-1 and to reduce migration in a p53 dependent manner in NSCLC cells [27]. Coimmunoprecipitation experiments revealed that plakoglobin interacted with p53^{R175H}. Furthermore, expression of plakoglobin in p53^{R175H} cells promoted β catenin's proteasomal degradation and significantly reduced its total and nuclear levels, as had been reported previously [81]. Plakoglobin expression also reduced β -catenin/TCF-4 interaction, and the expression of c-MYC and S100A4. These observations are supported by our previous microarray studies, which identified p44 and p65 subunits of the 26S proteasome and S100A4 as transcripts that were upregulated and downregulated, respectively, in plakoglobin expressing cells relative to their plakoglobin deficient and mutant p53 expressing parental cells [29]. S100A4, a recently identified target of β -catenin/TCF [82] was shown to be an early factor in EMT and its elevated level in various carcinoma cells and cancers was correlated with poor prognosis [83,84].

Apart from increasing β -catenin's proteasomal degradation, plakoglobin may inhibit β -catenin's transcriptional activity. β -catenin and plakoglobin interact with two sequential and non-overlapping domains in the N-terminus of TCF [32]. However, whereas binding of the β -catenin/TCF complex to DNA is highly efficient; plakoglobin/TCF binding to DNA is inefficient with significantly weaker transcriptional activities [85-87]. Our co-immunoprecipitation studies showed significant reduction in β -catenin-TCF association in plakoglobin expressing cells. These results further support the decreased c-Myc and S100A4 expression in H1299-PG- p53^{R175H} transfectants and are consistent with our previous observations in another mutant p53 expressing carcinoma cell line [29]. Studies from other groups have also demonstrated that transcriptional activity of β -catenin downstream of the Wnt signaling was significantly reduced upon increased accumulation of plakoglobin in the nucleus [32,33]. Plakoglobin also repressed the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling and target genes expression (*DICER* and *AXIN2*) via its assocoation with the transcription factor SOX4 and inhibition of β -catenin-SOX4 interaction [26].

In addition to upregulating the Wnt pathway, $p53^{R175H}$ has been shown to activate other signaling pathways including EGFR/PI3K/AKT, TGF- β and c-Met leading to

enhanced migratory and invasiveness of cancer cells [88-92]. Our results also showed increased migration and invasion of H1299 cells expressing p53^{R175H} and their significant decrease when plakoglobin was co-expressed in these cells. While the effects of mp53s on enhancing migratory and invasive properties of cancer cells has been studied extensively, the effects of plakoglobin on hindering the *in vitro* metastatic features of p53^{R175H} is novel and has not been previously reported.

In conclusion, our data suggest plakoglobin promoted β -catenin's proteasomal degradation and reduced its transcriptional activation independent of p53 status. Furthermore, its co-expression with p53^{R175H} clearly counteracted the gain of function activities of this mutant, which is mediated, at least in part, by activating the oncogenic function of β -catenin. These observations together with our previous studies suggest that plakoglobin may counteract oncogenic functions of mutant p53 by at least two different mechanisms: plakoglobin augments β -catenin proteasomal degradation and reduces Wnt pathway activation and, it associates with mutant p53s and may either interfere with the expression of mutant p53 target genes and/or enable them to interact with and regulate wild type p53 target genes (Figure 4.6). The latter possibility is supported by our previous studies that have shown activation of p53 target genes in plakoglobin deficient and mutant p53 expressing cell lines upon plakoglobin expression as well as our microarray experiments that have identified a number of growth/metastasis inhibiting and oncogenic promoting targets that are up- and down regulated, respectively, in mutant p53 expressing cells when plakoglobin is expressed [16,17]. Overall, these results suggest that plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein in mutant p53

expressing cells by down-regulating Wnt/ β -catenin axis and oncogenic activation of mutant p53s, two pathways that are known to be frequently dysregulated in many cancers. These findings provide insight into the possibility of developing therapeutic drugs that can mimic plakoglobin to concurrently inhibit the oncogenic effects of β -catenin and restore wild type tumor suppressor activities of mutant p53s in cancer.



of Siah-1, whereas mp53s inhibit β-catenin degradation (see the text for details). This would lead to the increased stability and translocation of β -catenin to the nucleus and transactivation of target genes in mp53 expressing cells. Based on the current study and our previous findings, plakoglobin may counteract oncogenic function of mutant p53s by increasing β -catenin's proteasomal degradation and by restoring tumor suppressor activities of mutants p53 via enabling their interaction with Figure 4.6. Potential model for restoration of tumor suppressor activity of mutant p53 by plakoglobin. p53 enhances β-catenin's proteasomal degradation by increasing the assembly of the destruction complex and/or inducing the expression promoters of wild type p53 target genes [16,17] or modifying mutant p53s target genes expression [16]. PG, plakoglobin.

4.5. References

- 1- Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH. p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2015;16(7):393-405.
- 2- Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature. 1992;358(6381):15-6.
- 3- Olivier M, Hollstein M, Hainaut P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;2(1):a001008.
- 4- Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(1):2-8.
- 5- Maddocks OD, Vousden KH. Metabolic regulation by p53. J Mol Med (Berl). 2011;89(3):237-45. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0735-5. Review. Erratum in: J Mol Med. 2011;89(5):531.
- 6- Cicalese A, Bonizzi G, Pasi CE, Faretta M, Ronzoni S, Giulini B, Brisken C, Minucci S, Di Fiore PP, Pelicci PG. The tumor suppressor p53 regulates polarity of self-renewing divisions in mammary stem cells. Cell. 2009;138(6):1083-95.
- 7- Golubovskaya VM, Cance W. Focal adhesion kinase and p53 signal transduction pathways in cancer. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2010;15:901-12.
- 8- Mukhopadhyay UK, Mak AS. p53: is the guardian of the genome also a suppressor of cell invasion? Cell Cycle. 2009;8(16):2481.
- 9- Goldstein I, Marcel V, Olivier M, Oren M, Rotter V, Hainaut P. Understanding wild-type and mutant p53 activities in human cancer: new landmarks on the way to targeted therapies. Cancer Gene Ther. 2011;18(1):2-11.
- 10- Collavin L, Lunardi A, Del Sal G. p53-family proteins and their regulators: hubs and spokes in tumor suppression. Cell Death Differ. 2010;17(6):901-11.
- 11-<u>http://p53.iarc.fr/</u>
- 12- Mello SS, Attardi LD. Not all p53 gain-of-function mutants are created equal. Cell Death Differ. 2013;20(7):855-7.
- 13-<u>http://p53.free.fr/</u>
- 14- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. Genes Dev. 2012;26(12):1268-86.
- 15-Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell. 2009;137(4):609-22.
- 16- Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of 14-3-3σ. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 14):3031-42.
- 17- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e78388.
- 18- Alaee M, Padda A, Mehrabani V, Churchill L, Pasdar M. The physical interaction of p53 and plakoglobin is necessary for their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion. Oncotarget. 2016;7(18):26898-915.
- 19- Alaee M, Danesh G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin Reduces the in vitro Growth, Migration and Invasion of Ovarian Cancer Cells Expressing N-Cadherin and Mutant p53. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154323.
- 20- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Int J Cell Biol. 2012;2012:189521.

- 21- Aktary Z, Alaee M, Pasdar M. Beyond cell-cell adhesion: Plakoglobin and the regulation of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):32270-32291.
- 22-Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Beta-catenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signaling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013;116:387-407.
- 23- Kim W, Kim M, Jho EH. Wnt/β-catenin signalling: from plasma membrane to nucleus. Biochem J. 2013;450(1):9-21.
- 24- Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. J Cell Biol. 1992;118(3):681-91.
- 25- Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, et al. Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. Oncogene. 2010;29(14):2118-29.
- 26-Lai YH, Cheng J, Cheng D, Feasel ME, Beste KD, Peng J, Nusrat A, Moreno CS. SOX4 interacts with plakoglobin in a Wnt3a-dependent manner in prostate cancer cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2011; 2011, 12:50.
- 27- Sechler M, Borowicz S, Van Scoyk M, Avasarala S, Zerayesus S, Edwards MG, Kumar Karuppusamy Rathinam M, Zhao X, Wu PY, Tang K, Bikkavilli RK, Winn RA. Novel Role for γ-Catenin in the Regulation of Cancer Cell Migration via the Induction of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (HAI-1). J Biol Chem. 2015; 290, 15610-20.
- 28- Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. Oncogenesis. 2012;1:e4.
- 29-Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007 Oct;46(10):824-38.
- 30- Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Plakoglobin and beta-catenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. J Cell Sci. 2000; 113:3127-39.
- 31-Williams BO, Barish GD, Klymkowsky MW, Varmus HE. A comparative evaluation of beta-catenin and plakoglobin signaling activity. Oncogene. 2000; 19:5720-8.
- 32- Miravet, S., Piedra, J., Miro, F., Itarte, E., Garcia de Herreros, A., and Dunach, M. The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for betacatenin and plakoglobin. J. Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 1884-91.
- 33- Chen YJ, Lee LY, Chao YK, Chang JT, Lu YC, Li HF, Chiu CC, Li YC, Li YL, Chiou JF, Cheng AJ. DSG3 facilitates cancer cell growth and invasion through the DSG3-plakoglobin-TCF/LEF-Myc/cyclin D1/MMP signaling pathway. PLoS One. 2013; 8:e64088.
- 34- Lombardi R, da Graca Cabreira-Hansen M, Bell A, Fromm RR, Willerson JT, Marian AJ. Nuclear plakoglobin is essential for differentiation of cardiac progenitor cells to adipocytes in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. 2011;109(12):1342-53.

- 35-Cagatay T, Ozturk M. P53 mutation as a source of aberrant beta-catenin accumulation in cancer cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(52):7971-80.
- 36- Sadot E, Geiger B, Oren M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Down-regulation of beta-catenin by activated p53. Mol Cell Biol. 2001;21(20):6768-81.
- 37- Prowald A, Cronauer MV, von Klot C, Eilers T, Rinnab L, Herrmann T, Spindler KD, Montenarh M, Jonas U, Burchardt M. Modulation of betacatenin-mediated TCF-signalling in prostate cancer cell lines by wild-type and mutant p53. Prostate. 2007;67(16):1751-60.
- 38-Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/β-catenin signaling and disease. Cell. 2012;149(6):1192-205.
- 39-Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13(12):767-79.
- 40-Kretzschmar K, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in adult mammalian epithelial stem cells. Dev Biol. 2017;428(2):273-282.
- 41- Tarabykina S, Griffiths TR, Tulchinsky E, Mellon JK, Bronstein IB, Kriajevska M. Metastasis-associated protein S100A4: spotlight on its role in cell migration. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2007;7(3):217-28.
- 42- Stein U, Arlt F, Smith J, Sack U, Herrmann P, Walther W, Lemm M, Fichtner I, Shoemaker RH, Schlag PM. Intervening in β-catenin signaling by sulindac inhibits S100A4-dependent colon cancer metastasis. Neoplasia. 2011;13(2):131-44.
- 43- Sack U, Walther W, Scudiero D, Selby M, Aumann J, Lemos C, Fichtner I, Schlag PM, Shoemaker RH, Stein U. S100A4-induced cell motility and metastasis is restricted by the Wnt/β-catenin pathway inhibitor calcimycin in colon cancer cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2011;22(18):3344-54.
- 44- Liu J, Stevens J, Rote CA, Yost HJ, Hu Y, Neufeld KL, White RL, Matsunami N. Siah-1 mediates a novel beta-catenin degradation pathway linking p53 to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):927-36.
- 45- Matsuzawa SI, Reed JC. Siah-1, SIP, and Ebi collaborate in a novel pathway for beta-catenin degradation linked to p53 responses. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):915-26.
- 46- Abou Zeinab R, Wu H, Sergi C, Leng RP. Residues 240-250 in the C-terminus of the Pirh2 protein complement the function of the RING domain in self-ubiquitination of the Pirh2 protein. PLoS One. 2013; 8, e82803.
- 47-Valenti F, Ganci F, Fontemaggi G, Sacconi A, Strano S, Blandino G, Di Agostino S. Gain of function mutant p53 proteins cooperate with E2F4 to transcriptionally downregulate RAD17 and BRCA1 gene expression. Oncotarget. 2015;6(8):5547-66.
- 48- Pasdar M, Nelson WJ. Kinetics of desmosome assembly in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells: temporal and spatial regulation of desmoplakin organization and stabilization upon cell-cell contact. II. Morphological analysis. J Cell Biol. 1988;106(3):687-95.
- 49- Molenaar M, van de Wetering M, Oosterwegel M, Peterson-Maduro J, Godsave S, Korinek V, Roose J, Destrée O, Clevers H. XTcf-3 transcription factor mediates beta-catenin-induced axis formation in Xenopus embryos. Cell. 1996;86(3):391-9.

- 50-Baker JM, Boyce FM. High-throughput functional screening using a homemade dual-glow luciferase assay. J Vis Exp. 2014 Jun 1;(88).
- 51-Ilyas M, Tomlinson IP, Rowan A, Pignatelli M, Bodmer WF. Beta-catenin mutations in cell lines established from human colorectal cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Sep 16;94(19):10330-4.
- 52- Yochum GS, Cleland R, Goodman RH. A genome-wide screen for beta-catenin binding sites identifies a downstream enhancer element that controls c-Myc gene expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(24):7368-79.
- 53-Herbst A, Jurinovic V, Krebs S, Thieme SE, Blum H, Göke B, Kolligs FT. Comprehensive analysis of β-catenin target genes in colorectal carcinoma cell lines with deregulated Wnt/β-catenin signaling. BMC Genomics. 2014;15:74.
- 54- Rennoll S, Yochum G. Regulation of MYC gene expression by aberrant Wnt/βcatenin signaling in colorectal cancer. World J Biol Chem. 2015;6(4):290-300.
- 55-Samassekou O, Bastien N, Lichtensztejn D, Yan J, Mai S, Drouin R. Different TP53 mutations are associated with specific chromosomal rearrangements, telomere length changes, and remodeling of the nuclear architecture of telomeres. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2014;53(11):934-50.
- 56-Donzelli S, Fontemaggi G, Fazi F, Di Agostino S, Padula F, Biagioni F, Muti P, Strano S, Blandino G. MicroRNA-128-2 targets the transcriptional repressor E2F5 enhancing mutant p53 gain of function. Cell Death Differ. 2012;19(6):1038-48.
- 57-Masciarelli S, Fontemaggi G, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Carcarino E, Strano S, Blandino G. Gain-of-function mutant p53 downregulates miR-223 contributing to chemoresistance of cultured tumor cells. Oncogene. 2014;33(12):1601-8.
- 58-Lu X, Liu DP, Xu Y. The gain of function of p53 cancer mutant in promoting mammary tumorigenesis. Oncogene. 2013;32(23):2900-6.
- 59- Rieber M, Strasberg Rieber M. DN-R175H p53 mutation is more effective than p53 interference in inducing epithelial disorganization and activation of proliferation signals in human carcinoma cells: role of E-cadherin. Int J Cancer. 2009;125(7):1604-12.
- 60- Kogan-Sakin I, Tabach Y, Buganim Y, Molchadsky A, Solomon H, Madar S, Kamer I, Stambolsky P, Shelly A, Goldfinger N, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Puisieux A, Zundelevich A, Gal-Yam EN, Avivi C, Barshack I, Brait M, Sidransky D, Domany E, Rotter V. Mutant p53(R175H) upregulates Twist1 expression and promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in immortalized prostate cells. Cell Death Differ. 2011;18(2):271-81.
- 61- Zhang Y, Yan W, Chen X. Mutant p53 disrupts MCF-10A cell polarity in threedimensional culture via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(18):16218-28.
- 62- Tsang WP, Chau SP, Fung KP, Kong SK, Kwok TT. Modulation of multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1) by p53 mutant in Saos-2 cells. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2003;51(2):161-6.
- 63- Tsang WP, Ho FY, Fung KP, Kong SK, Kwok TT. p53-R175H mutant gains new function in regulation of doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. Int J Cancer. 2005;114(3):331-6.

- 64- Capponcelli S, Pedrini E, Cerone MA, Corti V, Fontanesi S, Alessio M, Bachi A, Soddu S, Ribatti D, Picci P, Helman LJ, Cantelli-Forti G, Sangiorgi L. Evaluation of the molecular mechanisms involved in the gain of function of a Li-Fraumeni TP53 mutation. Hum Mutat. 2005;26(2):94-103.
- 65- Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, Valentin-Vega YA, Terzian T, Caldwell LC, Strong LC, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell. 2004;119(6):861-72.
- 66- Liu G, McDonnell TJ, Montes de Oca Luna R, Kapoor M, Mims B, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. High metastatic potential in mice inheriting a targeted p53 missense mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(8):4174-9.
- 67- Qu J, Li M, An J, Zhao B, Zhong W, Gu Q, Cao L, Yang H, Hu C. MicroRNA-33b inhibits lung adenocarcinoma cell growth, invasion, and epithelialmesenchymal transition by suppressing Wnt/β-catenin/ZEB1 signaling. Int J Oncol. 2015;47(6):2141-52.
- 68- Cui J, Zhou X, Liu Y, Tang Z, Romeih M. Wnt signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma: analysis of mutation and expression of beta-catenin, T-cell factor-4 and glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta genes. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18(3):280-7.
- 69- Provost E, Yamamoto Y, Lizardi I, Stern J, D'Aquila TG, Gaynor RB, Rimm DL. Functional correlates of mutations in beta-catenin exon 3 phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(34):31781-9.
- 70- Watcharasit P, Bijur GN, Zmijewski JW, Song L, Zmijewska A, Chen X, Johnson GV, Jope RS. Direct, activating interaction between glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and p53 after DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(12):7951-5.
- 71-Levina E, Oren M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Downregulation of beta-catenin by p53 involves changes in the rate of beta-catenin phosphorylation and Axin dynamics. Oncogene. 2004 May 27;23(25):4444-53.
- 72- Schuster N, Götz C, Faust M, Schneider E, Prowald A, Jungbluth A, Montenarh M. Wild-type p53 inhibits protein kinase CK2 activity. J Cell Biochem. 2001;81(1):172-83.
- 73-Wang J, Shou J, Chen X. Dickkopf-1, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway, is induced by p53. Oncogene. 2000;19(14):1843-8.
- 74- Liu J, Stevens J, Rote CA, Yost HJ, Hu Y, Neufeld KL, White RL, Matsunami N. Siah-1 mediates a novel beta-catenin degradation pathway linking p53 to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):927-36.
- 75- Matsuzawa SI, Reed JC. Siah-1, SIP, and Ebi collaborate in a novel pathway for beta-catenin degradation linked to p53 responses. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):915-26.
- 76-Iwai A, Marusawa H, Matsuzawa S, Fukushima T, Hijikata M, Reed JC, Shimotohno K, Chiba T. Siah-1L, a novel transcript variant belonging to the human Siah family of proteins, regulates beta-catenin activity in a p53-dependent manner. Oncogene. 2004;23(45):7593-600.
- 77-Hosain SB, Khiste SK, Uddin MB, Vorubindi V, Ingram C, Zhang S, Hill RA, Gu X, Liu YY. Inhibition of glucosylceramide synthase eliminates the

oncogenic function of p53 R273H mutant in the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and induced pluripotency of colon cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(37):60575-60592.

- 78- Yochum GS, Cleland R, Goodman RH. A genome-wide screen for beta-catenin binding sites identifies a downstream enhancer element that controls c-Myc gene expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(24):7368-79.
- 79- Herbst A, Jurinovic V, Krebs S, Thieme SE, Blum H, Göke B, Kolligs FT. Comprehensive analysis of β-catenin target genes in colorectal carcinoma cell lines with deregulated Wnt/β-catenin signaling. BMC Genomics. 2014;15:74.
- 80- Rennoll S, Yochum G. Regulation of MYC gene expression by aberrant Wnt/βcatenin signaling in colorectal cancer. World J Biol Chem. 2015;6(4):290-300.
- 81- Salomon D, Sacco PA, Roy SG, Simcha I, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ, Ben-Ze'ev A. Regulation of beta-catenin levels and localization by overexpression of plakoglobin and inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Cell Biol. 1997; 139:1325–35.
- 82-Stein U, Arlt F, Walther W, Smith J, Waldman T, Harris ED, Mertins SD, Heizmann CW, Allard D, Birchmeier W, Schlag PM, Shoemaker RH. The metastasis-associated gene S100A4 is a novel target of beta-catenin/T-cell factor signaling in colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 2006;131(5):1486-500.
- 83- Okada H, Danoff TM, Kalluri R, Neilson EG. Early role of Fsp1 in epithelialmesenchymal transformation. Am J Physiol. 1997;273(4 Pt 2):F563-74.
- 84- Dahlmann M, Kobelt D, Walther W, Mudduluru G, Stein U. S100A4 in Cancer Metastasis: Wnt Signaling-Driven Interventions for Metastasis Restriction. Cancers (Basel). 2016;8(6). pii: E59.
- 85- Simcha I, Shtutman M, Salomon D, Zhurinsky J, Sadot E, Geiger B, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of betacatenin and plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1998; 141:1433–48.
- 86- Kim YM, Ma H, Oehler VG, Gang EJ, Nguyen C, Masiello D, et al. The gamma catenin/CBP complex maintains survivin transcription in β-catenin deficient/depleted cancer cells. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2011;11(2):213–25.
- 87-Maeda O, Usami N, Kondo M, Takahashi M, Goto H, Shimokata K, et al. Plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) has TCF/LEF family-dependent transcriptional activity in beta-catenin-deficient cell line. Oncogene. 2004;23(4):964–72.
- 88-Boudreau HE, Casterline BW, Burke DJ, Leto TL. Wild-type and mutant p53 differentially regulate NADPH oxidase 4 in TGF-β-mediated migration of human lung and breast epithelial cells. Br J Cancer. 2014;110(10):2569-82.
- 89- Dong P, Xu Z, Jia N, Li D, Feng Y. Elevated expression of p53 gain-of-function mutation R175H in endometrial cancer cells can increase the migratory and invasive phenotypes by activation of the EGFR/PI3K/AKT pathway. Mol Cancer. 2009;8:103.
- 90-Gurtner A, Starace G, Norelli G, Piaggio G, Sacchi A, Bossi G. Mutant p53induced up-regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 3 contributes to gain of function. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(19):14160-9.
- 91-Grugan KD, Vega ME, Wong GS, Diehl JA, Bass AJ, Wong KK, Nakagawa H, Rustgi AK. A common p53 mutation (R175H) activates c-Met receptor

tyrosine kinase to enhance tumor cell invasion. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14(9):853-9.

92- Dong P, Xu Z, Jia N, Li D, Feng Y. Elevated expression of p53 gain-of-function mutation R175H in endometrial cancer cells can increase the invasive phenotypes by activation of the EGFR/PI3K/AKT pathway. Mol Cancer. 2009;8:103.

Chapter five

Conclusion and future directions

5.1. Thesis overview

Plakoglobin was initially discovered as a junctional protein with essential roles in regulating cell-cell adhesion [1-3]. Further studies suggested that plakoglobin may participate in various signaling pathways [4,5]. While many studies focused on deciphering the role of other catenin proteins in tumor development and cancer progression, little was known on how plakoglobin regulated malignant transformation of cells.

The earliest clue as to the tumor suppressor activity of plakoglobin came from a study that demonstrated its loss of heterozygosity and low frequency mutations in sporadic breast and ovarian cancers [6]. Following this initial study, it was shown that combinatory loss of plakoglobin and other junctional proteins promoted tumor development, cancer metastasis, and resulted in poor clinical outcome [7-14]. Further investigations have demonstrated that the sole loss of plakoglobin also triggers tumor formation and cancer progression [15-20]. In esophageal cancer, concurrent decrease in the expression of E-cadherin and plakoglobin led to poor differentiation and decreased survival rate, whereas reduced plakoglobin expression promoted lymph node metastasis [21]. Decreased expression levels of plakoglobin has also been correlated with poor survival rate and metastasis in renal carcinomas [15], lymph node metastasis in oral squamous carcinomas [20] and bladder cancer [22], pulmonary metastasis in Wilms' tumor [19] and soft tissue sarcomas [18] as well as myometrial metastasis in endometrial cancer [23]. Furthermore, in prostate tumors plakoglobin expression was lost due to the hypermethylation of its gene [24]. Reduced expression of plakoglobin and its

altered cellular distribution were detected in thyroid tumors [25] and oropharynx squamous cell carcinomas [17].

Taken together, while loss or decreased expression of plakoglobin and/or altered cellular distribution of this protein have been identified as one of the contributing factors to tumor development and metastatic progression of different cancers. However, very little was known about the mechanisms underlying these effects of plakoglobin. Work from our lab has provided experimental evidence that suggest three mechanisms by which plakoglobin may exert its tumor and metastasis suppressor functions: sequestration of β -catenin oncogenic function, regulation of levels and localization of growth regulating molecules and interaction with transcription factors involved in regulation of cell growth and metastasis. Our laboratory has shown that tumor and metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin may, at least partially, be mediated by its interaction with mutant p53 proteins. In this thesis, I have examined plakoglobin interaction with wild type and several mutant p53s and investigated the molecular and functional significance of this interaction.

5.1.1. Tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin in ovarian cancer cell lines

The ovarian high grade serous carcinoma is the most common and aggressive form of ovarian tumors with epithelial origin [26,27]. Unlike the low grade serous carcinoma, more than 80% of ovarian high grade serous tumors harbor mutations in *TP53* [26,27]. In general, inactivation of *TP53* occurs at later stages in tumor

progression, however in these tumors *TP53* mutations occur at early stages of cancer development and contribute to both initiation and metastatic progression of this cancer [28-30].

Like any other carcinoma, loss of cell-cell adhesion and aberrant expression of cadherins and catenins are critical steps during the development of ovarian tumors [31-35]. Disruption of cadherin-catenin complexes leads not only to the loss of cellcell adhesion but also the liberation of catenins and their subsequent interaction with other cellular proteins and activation of signaling pathways involved in tumorigenesis and metastasis [36,37]. In this context, β -catenin has oncogenic function, whereas plakoglobin acts as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein [36,37]. The oncogenic activation of β -catenin is well documented in ovarian cancer [38]. In contrast, very little is known about the functional significance plakoglobin in this cancer. However, the loss of heterozygosity of the plakoglobin gene has been reported in sporadic ovarian cancer, whereas its nuclear accumulation was correlated with better survival rate in ovarian cancer patients [6, 39]. In the second chapter, we have investigated the tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin in epithelial ovarian cancer cell lines with mutant p53 expression and different adhesion profiles.

We showed that plakoglobin-deficient ovarian cancer cells that express N-cadherin and mutant p53 were highly migratory and invasive, whereas those that express mutant p53 and plakoglobin were not. The exogenous expression of plakoglobin or knockdown of N-cadherin significantly reduced migration and invasion. Plakoglobin interacted with wild type and mutant p53 proteins and associated with
E- or N-cadherins in adhesion complexes. N-cadherin is a mesenchymal marker that promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis. Our laboratory has shown that plakoglobin was able to induce a mesenchymal to epithelial phenotypic transition by sequestering and stabilizing N-cadherin at the membrane (40). Consistent with these studies, we detected a significant reduction in growth, migration and invasion of plakoglobin expressing and N-cadherin knockdown cells (41). Our data suggested that plakoglobin induced growth and metastasis inhibitory effects in ovarian cancer cells expressing N-cadherin and mutant p53.

5.1.2. Functional significance of plakoglobin and p53 interaction

Previous work form our laboratory has demonstrated that plakoglobin interacted with wild type and a number of mutant p53s in both the cytoplasm and nucleus and this interaction enhanced wild type p53's transcriptional activity and restored mutant p53s tumor suppressor function. These experimental evidence suggested that plakoglobin mediated its tumor and metastasis suppressor functions, at least partially, by interacting with mutant p53 proteins and changing their target genes [42,43]. In Chapter 4, we showed that the individual expression of wild type p53 and plakoglobin in p53 null and plakoglobin deficient H1299 cells significantly decreased their growth, migration and invasion *in vitro*. Furthermore, this inhibitory effect was significantly augmented when the two proteins were co-expressed. These observations strongly suggested that p53 and plakoglobin cooperated to promote a non-transformed and non-invasive phenotype *in vitro*.

In this Chapter, we mapped the interacting domain of p53 and plakoglobin. H1299 cells were co-transfected with a combination of constructs encoding wild type plakoglobin with wild type or various fragments of p53. Reciprocal co-transfectants, were generated expressing wild type p53 with wild type or different deletions of plakoglobin. Characterization of transfectants using confocal immunofluorescence microscopy and co-immunoprecipitation showed that: 1) p53 and plakoglobin interaction was mediated by the DNA binding domain of p53 and the C-terminal transactivation domain of plakoglobin, and 2) p53 and plakoglobin cooperatively decreased growth whereas they acted synergistically to significantly reduce *in vitro* migration and invasion and 3) the C-terminal domain of PG was important for its invasion inhibitory function via its interaction with p53.

5.1.3. Plakoglobin counteracts mutant p53 tumor promoting activity by suppressing β-catenin's oncogenic potential

Work from our laboratory and other researchers have shown that one way that plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein is by changing β -catenin levels/subcellular localization and/or its oncogenic potential [44-47]. p53 GOF mutants have been shown to activate β -catenin oncogenic function [48-50].

In Chapter 4, we examined the effects of $p53^{R175H}$, one of the most frequently expressed p53 mutations [51], on β -catenin accumulation and transcriptional activation and their modification by plakoglobin expression. Our results showed that $p53^{R175H}$ expression in H1299 cells increased total and nuclear levels of β catenin and its transcriptional activity concurrent with increased *in vitro* migration and invasion of the transfectants. Co-expression of plakoglobin in p53^{R175H} cells promoted β -catenin's proteasomal degradation, decreased its total and nuclear levels and its transactivation activity. β -catenin target genes, *Myc* and *S100A4* were upregulated in p53^{R175H} expressing cells suggesting that the oncogenic function of this mutant is, at least in part, mediated by β -catenin activation. Co-expression of plakoglobin in p53^{R175H} transfectants significantly decreased the expression of *MYC* and *S100A4* concurrent with a significant reduction in their migration and invasion *in vitro*. Together, these results suggest that plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein by down-regulating the oncogenic effects of p53^{R175H} and Wnt/ β -catenin axis, two pathways that are known to be frequently dysregulated in many cancers.

5.2. Potential model for the tumor and metastasis suppressor functions of plakoglobin

Experimental findings from this thesis and the previous work in our laboratory and other research groups suggest that plakoglobin may act as a tumor and metastasis suppressor protein by several mechanisms (Figure 5-1). First, plakoglobin participates in the formation of adhesive junctions that are necessary for the maintenance of tissue integrity and induction of contact inhibition of growth and motility [52,53]. Second, plakoglobin interacts with various cellular protein partners and regulates their levels, subcellular localization and functions [54,55]. Our laboratory has shown that plakoglobin expression in plakoglobin deficient carcinoma cells increased the metastasis suppressor protein Nm23 protein levels [54]. Plakoglobin interacted with Nm23 and increased its stability by sequestering

it at the membrane [54]. Plakoglobin interacted with the dual tumor suppressor and oncogene NPM, promoting its tumor suppressor function [55]. Third, plakoglobin may regulate gene expression via its interaction with transcription factor p53 [56]. The focus of our laboratory is to study the functional significance of plakoglobin and p53 interaction. We showed that plakoglobin interacted with wild type and a number of mutant p53 proteins, which led to the induction of a less proliferative, migratory and invasive phenotype [41-43,56]. This phenotypic transition may be partially mediated by regulation of wild type p53 target genes by mutant p53s and/or transcriptional repression of mutant p53 targets when plakoglobin is expressed. Lastly, plakoglobin may sequester oncogenic functions of β -catenin by increasing its proteasomal degradation and decreasing its transcriptional activity [44,57,58 and Chapter 4] (Figure 5-1).



Figure 5.1. A potential model for tumor and metastasis suppressor activities of plakoglobin. (1) Upon synthesis both plakoglobin and β-catenin participate in the formation of junctional complexes at the membrane. (2) Excessive cytoplasmic pool of β-catenin gets Plakoglobin enhances proteasomal degradation of β -catenin. (3) Plakoglobin interacts with β -catenin/TCF complexes and inhibits their interaction with DNA. (4) Plakoglobin may also interact with transcription factors in the nucleus to regulate the expression of target genes. (5) Furthermore, plakoglobin interacts with protein partners and regulates their levels, localization and therefore their tumor suppressive or promoting functions. a-cat, a-catenin; β-cat, β-catenin; APC, Adenomatous polyposis coli; CKI, Casein kinase I; GSK3β, Glycogen synthase kinase 3 β; PG, plakoglobin; TCF, T-cell factor; TF, transcription factor; TS, tumor suppressor; TP, tumor phosphorylated by the destruction complex (Axin, APC, GSK3B, CKI) and subsequently is degraded via the proteasomal pathway. promoting

Modified from Pasdar, M.

5.3. Future directions

5.3.1. Identifying the exact amino acids involved in plakoglobin/p53 interaction

Previously, we performed *in vitro* pull down assays and confirmed that plakoglobin directly interacted with wild type p53. We successfully mapped the interacting domains of plakoglobin and p53. Subsequently, our collaborators in Dr. Jack Tuszynski group (Department of Oncology, University of Alberta), performed 3D modeling of PG and p53 interaction interface and tentatively identified the amino acids involved in this interaction. To verify the results of computational modeling, site-directed mutagenesis should be used to mutate each identified amino acid in wild type plakoglobin and p53. To verify the results of computational modeling, site-directed mutagenesis should be used to mutate each identified amino acid in wild type plakoglobin and p53 and subsequently *in vitro* pull down assay will need to be carried out to examine plakoglobin/p53 interaction.

Furthermore, similar 3-dimensional modeling experiments followed by sitedirected mutagenesis and *in vitro* pull down assays should be used to identify the amino acid sequences involved in plakoglobin and mutant p53 proteins interaction.

The results from the *in vitro* pull down assays should be further validated by expressing the mutant plakoglobin and p53 constructs in human cell lines and confirming their interaction by co-immunoprecipitation studies.

5.3.2. Identifying mutant p53 target genes regulated by Plakoglobin

In this study, we have shown that plakoglobin down-modulates the oncogenic function of $p53^{R175H}$ by inhibiting tumorigenic effects of β -catenin. However, plakoglobin may also regulate the expression of mutant p53 target genes independent of the Wnt pathway. As a starting point to identify mutant p53 target genes that are regulated by plakoglobin, microarray analyses should be performed using H1299 cells expressing p53^{R175H} with or without plakoglobin. The results of microarray studies should be further validated by performing biochemical assays including quantitative RT-PCR and western blot.

ChIP experiments should be carried out to assess the association of p53^{R175H} with the promoter of the identified target genes in the presence or absence of plakoglobin expression. Luciferase reporter assays can be performed to further validate the effects of plakoglobin on the transcriptional activity of p53^{R175H}.

5.3.3. Investigating the role of plakoglobin in modulating the oncogenic effects of p53 contact mutations

Here, we have looked at the effects of structural mutant $p53^{R175H}$ on modulating the oncogenic potential of β -catenin in the presence and absence of plakoglobin expression. Future studies can focus on determining whether contact p53 mutants (R273H, R248Q and R248W) may induce oncogenic functions of β -catenin and if plakoglobin may inhibit their tumor growth and metastasis by inhibiting β -catenin's oncogenic activity. These studies can be performed as described in Chapter 5 and section 5.3.2. of this chapter.

5.3.4. Assessing the role of plakoglobin in regulating mutant p53 interaction with p63 and p73

As described in Chapter 1 (section 1.7.2), one mechanism by which GOF mutant p53 proteins act as oncogenes is by interacting with and inhibiting tumor suppressor activities of p63 and p73 [59-61]. As a future direction, the effects of plakoglobin expression on the mutant p53 proteins interaction with p63 or p73 can be assessed. Co-immunoprecipitation studies should be performed to assess the association of mutant p53 with p63 or p73 in the presence or absence of plakoglobin. ChIP experiments can be performed to examine the association of p63 with the promoter of its target genes in cells expressing mutant p53 proteins and plakoglobin individually or in pair. Transcriptional activity of p63 and p73 can be assessed using luciferase reporter in cells expressing mutant p53 proteins with or without plakoglobin.

5.3.5. Assessing the effects of plakoglobin/p53 interaction on *in vivo* tumorigenesis and metastasis

The studies presented in this thesis and previous work from our laboratory have shown plakoglobin expression significantly reduced *in vitro* tumorigenesis and metastasis in breast, ovarian, squamous cell, and non-small cell lung carcinoma cell lines expressing mutant p53 proteins. To validate the functional significance of these observations *in vivo*, potential tumor and metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin should be further assessed using xenograft animal models. Plakoglobin and p53 deficient cancer cell lines expressing plakoglobin, wild type and mutant p53s individually or in pair can be used to inject immunodeficient mice models to assess *in vivo* tumor growth and metastasis.

5.4. Concluding remarks

In summary, my thesis further supports the earlier findings that have shown plakoglobin interacts with wild type and mutant p53 proteins to regulate tumorigenesis and metastasis. Here, for the first time we identified the interacting domains of plakoglobin and p53 and showed their cooperation in reducing *in vitro* growth, migration and invasion of cancer cells. Furthermore, we showed that plakoglobin down-regulated the oncogenic functions of p53^{R175H} structural mutant at least partially by sequestering the oncogenic effects of β -catenin.

Experimental evidence from this work elucidated some of the underlying mechanisms involved in tumor and metastasis suppressor effects of plakoglobin via its interaction with wild type and mutant p53s and modulation of Wnt/ β -catenin axis, two pathways that are known to be frequently dysregulated in many cancers. The larger implication of these studies is the potential for the development of therapeutic drugs that can mimic plakoglobin in order to simultaneously target the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway and restoring wild type activities of mutant p53 proteins. Designing drugs based on the plakoglobin/p53 interaction has the advantage of mimicking the interaction of an endogenous cellular protein that normally interacts with p53 and therefore, may have less toxicity and side effects.

5.5. References

- 1- Franke WW, Mueller H, Mittnacht S, Kapprell HP, Jorcano JL. Significance of two desmosome plaque-associated polypeptides of molecular weights 75 000 and 83 000. EMBO J. 1983;2(12):2211-5.
- 2- Cowin P, Kapprell HP, Franke WW, Tamkun J, Hynes RO. Plakoglobin: a protein common to different kinds of intercellular adhering junctions. Cell. 1986;46(7):1063-73.
- 3- Korman NJ, Eyre RW, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR. Demonstration of an adhering-junction molecule (plakoglobin) in the autoantigens of pemphigus foliaceus and pemphigus vulgaris. N Engl J Med. 1989;321(10):631-5.
- 4- Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. J Cell Biol. 1992; 118, 681-91.
- 5- Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Betacatenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signalling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013; 116, 387-407.
- 6- Aberle H, Bierkamp C, Torchard D, Serova O, Wagner T, Natt E, Wirsching J, Heidkämper C, Montagna M, Lynch HT, et al. The human plakoglobin gene localizes on chromosome 17q21 and is subjected to loss of heterozygosity in breast and ovarian cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(14):6384-8.
- 7- Syrigos KN, Harrington K, Waxman J, Krausz T, Pignatelli M. Altered gammacatenin expression correlates with poor survival in patients with bladder cancer. J Urol. 1998;160(5):1889-93.
- 8- Depondt J, Shabana AH, Florescu-Zorila S, Gehanno P, Forest N. Down-regulation of desmosomal molecules in oral and pharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas as a marker for tumour growth and distant metastasis. Eur J Oral Sci. 1999;107(3):183-93.
- 9- Morita N, Uemura H, Tsumatani K, Cho M, Hirao Y, Okajima E, Konishi N, Hiasa Y. E-cadherin and alpha-, beta- and gamma-catenin expression in prostate cancers: correlation with tumour invasion. Br J Cancer. 1999;79(11-12):1879-83.
- 10- Lo Muzio L, Staibano S, Pannone G, Grieco M, Mignogna MD, Cerrato A, Testa NF, De Rosa G. Beta- and gamma-catenin expression in oral squamous cell carcinomas. Anticancer Res. 1999;19(5B):3817-26.
- 11- Tada H, Hatoko M, Tanaka A, Kuwahara M, Muramatsu T. Expression of desmoglein I and plakoglobin in skin carcinomas. J Cutan Pathol. 2000;27(1):24-9.
- 12-Tziortzioti V, Ruebel KH, Kuroki T, Jin L, Scheithauer BW, Lloyd RV. Analysis of beta-catenin mutations and alpha-, beta-, and gamma-catenin expression in normal and neoplastic human pituitary tissues. Endocr Pathol. 2001;12(2):125-36.
- 13- Ueda G, Sunakawa H, Nakamori K, Shinya T, Tsuhako W, Tamura Y, Kosugi T, Sato N, Ogi K, Hiratsuka H. Aberrant expression of beta- and gamma-catenin is an independent prognostic marker in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35(4):356-61.

- 14- Clairotte A, Lascombe I, Fauconnet S, Mauny F, Félix S, Algros MP, Bittard H, Kantelip B. Expression of E-cadherin and alpha-, beta-, gamma-catenins in patients with bladder cancer: identification of gamma-catenin as a new prognostic marker of neoplastic progression in T1 superficial urothelial tumors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2006;125(1):119-26.
- 15-Buchner A, Oberneder R, Riesenberg R, Keiditsch E, Hofstetter A. Expression of plakoglobin in renal cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 1998;18(6A):4231-5.
- 16-Lifschitz-Mercer B, Amitai R, Maymon BB, Shechtman L, Czernobilsky B, Leider-Trejo L, Ben-Ze'ev A, Geiger B. Nuclear localization of beta-catenin and plakoglobin in primary and metastatic human colonic carcinomas, colonic adenomas, and normal colon. Int J Surg Pathol. 2001;9(4):273-9.
- 17- Papagerakis S, Shabana AH, Depondt J, Pibouin L, Blin-Wakkach C, Berdal A. Altered plakoglobin expression at mRNA and protein levels correlates with clinical outcome in patients with oropharynx squamous carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2004;35(1):75-85.
- 18-Kanazawa Y, Ueda Y, Shimasaki M, Katsuda S, Yamamoto N, Tomita K, Tsuchiya H. Down-regulation of plakoglobin in soft tissue sarcoma is associated with a higher risk of pulmonary metastasis. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(2A):655-64.
- 19-Basta-Jovanovic G, Gvozdenovic E, Dimitrijevic I, Brasanac D, Jovanovic M, Kalezic N, Baralic I, Radojevic-Skodric S, Arsic D. Immunohistochemical analysis of gamma catenin in Wilms' tumors. Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2008;27(2):63-70.
- 20- Närkiö-Mäkelä M, Pukkila M, Lagerstedt E, Virtaniemi J, Pirinen R, Johansson R, Kosunen A, Lappalainen K, Hämäläinen K, Kosma VM. Reduced gamma-catenin expression and poor survival in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2009;135(10):1035-40.
- 21-Lin YC, Wu MY, Li DR, Wu XY, Zheng RM. Prognostic and clinicopathological features of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin, beta-catenin, gamma-catenin and cyclin D1 expression in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2004;10(22):3235-9.
- 22-Baumgart E, Cohen MS, Silva Neto B, Jacobs MA, Wotkowicz C, Rieger-Christ KM, Biolo A, Zeheb R, Loda M, Libertino JA, Summerhayes IC. Identification and prognostic significance of an epithelial-mesenchymal transition expression profile in human bladder tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(6):1685-94.
- 23-Kim YT, Choi EK, Kim JW, Kim DK, Kim SH, Yang WI. Expression of Ecadherin and alpha-, beta-, gamma-catenin proteins in endometrial carcinoma. Yonsei Med J. 2002;43(6):701-11.
- 24- Shiina H, Breault JE, Basset WW, Enokida H, Urakami S, Li LC, Okino ST, Deguchi M, Kaneuchi M, Terashima M, Yoneda T, Shigeno K, Carroll PR, Igawa M, Dahiya R. Functional Loss of the gamma-catenin gene through epigenetic and genetic pathways in human prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65(6):2130-8.

- 25- Cerrato A, Fulciniti F, Avallone A, Benincasa G, Palombini L, Grieco M. Betaand gamma-catenin expression in thyroid carcinomas. J Pathol. 1998;185(3):267-72.
- 26-Vang R, Shih IeM, Kurman RJ. Ovarian low-grade and high-grade serous carcinoma: pathogenesis, clinicopathologic and molecular biologic features, and diagnostic problems. Adv Anat Pathol. 2009;16(5):267-82.
- 27- Kurman RJ. Origin and molecular pathogenesis of ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2013;24 Suppl 10:x16-21.
- 28-George SH, Shaw P. BRCA and Early Events in the Development of Serous Ovarian Cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:5.
- 29-Corney DC, Flesken-Nikitin A, Choi J, Nikitin AY. Role of p53 and Rb in ovarian cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2008;622:99-117.
- 30-Landen CN Jr, Birrer MJ, Sood AK. Early events in the pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(6):995-1005.
- 31-Campo L, Zhang C, Breuer EK. EMT-Inducing Molecular Factors in Gynecological Cancers. Biomed Res Int. 2015; 2015:420891.
- 32- Hudson LG, Zeineldin R, Stack MS. Phenotypic plasticity of neoplastic ovarian epithelium: unique cadherin profiles in tumor progression. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2008; 25(6):643–55.
- 33- Sawada K, Mitra AK, Radjabi AR, Bhaskar V, Kistner EO, Tretiakova M, Jagadeeswaran S, Montag A, Becker A, Kenny HA, Peter ME, Ramakrishnan V, Yamada SD, Lengyel E. Loss of E-cadherin promotes ovarian cancer metastasis via alpha 5-integrin, which is a therapeutic target. Cancer Res. 2008;68(7):2329-39.
- 34- Cho EY, Choi Y, Chae SW, Sohn JH, Ahn GH. Immunohistochemical study of the expression of adhesion molecules in ovarian serous neoplasms. Pathol Int. 2006; 56(2):62–70.
- 35-Faleiro-Rodrigues C, Macedo-Pinto I, Pereira D, Ferreira VM, Lopes CS. Association of E-cadherin and beta-catenin immunoexpression with clinicopathologic features in primary ovarian carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2004; 35(6):663–9.
- 36- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Int J Cell Biol. 2012; 2012, 189521.
- 37- Aktary Z, Alaee M, Pasdar M. Beyond cell-cell adhesion: Plakoglobin and the regulation of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):32270-32291.
- 38- Arend RC, Londoño-Joshi AI, Straughn JM Jr, Buchsbaum DJ. The Wnt/βcatenin pathway in ovarian cancer: a review. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131(3):772-9.
- 39- Voutilainen KA, Anttila MA, Sillanpää SM, Ropponen KM, Saarikoski SV, Juhola MT, Kosma VM. Prognostic significance of E-cadherin-catenin complex in epithelial ovarian cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2006;59(5):460-7.
- 40-Parker HR, Li Z, Sheinin H, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1998;40(1):87-100.

- 41-Alaee M, Danesh G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin Reduces the in vitro Growth, Migration and Invasion of Ovarian Cancer Cells Expressing N-Cadherin and Mutant p53. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154323.
- 42- Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of 14-3-3σ. *J Cell Sci.* 2013;126(Pt 14):3031-42.
- 43- Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):e78388.
- 44-Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007;46(10):824-38.
- 45- Shibata T, Gotoh M, Ochiai A, Hirohashi S. Association of plakoglobin with APC, a tumor suppressor gene product, and its regulation by tyrosine phosphorylation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1994; 203:519-22.
- 46-Kodama S, Ikeda S, Asahara T, Kishida M, Kikuchi A. Axin directly interacts with plakoglobin and regulates its stability. J Biol Chem. 1999; 274:27682-8.
- 47- Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Plakoglobin and beta-catenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. J Cell Sci. 2000; 113:3127-39.
- 48-Cagatay T, Ozturk M. P53 mutation as a source of aberrant beta-catenin accumulation in cancer cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(52):7971-80.
- 49- Sadot E, Geiger B, Oren M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Down-regulation of beta-catenin by activated p53. Mol Cell Biol. 2001;21(20):6768-81.
- 50-Prowald A, Cronauer MV, von Klot C, Eilers T, Rinnab L, Herrmann T, Spindler KD, Montenarh M, Jonas U, Burchardt M. Modulation of betacatenin-mediated TCF-signalling in prostate cancer cell lines by wild-type and mutant p53. Prostate. 2007;67(16):1751-60.
- 51- Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. Genes Dev. 2012;26(12):1268-86.
- 52-Andl CD, Al Moustafa AE, Deramaudt TB, O'Neill GM. Cell adhesion signaling and its impact on tumorigenesis. J Oncol. 2010;2010:257809.
- 53-Dusek RL, Attardi LD. Desmosomes: new perpetrators in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(5):317-23.
- 54- Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, *et al.* Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. *Oncogene*. 2010;29(14):2118-29.
- 55-Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. Oncogenesis. 2012;1:e4.
- 56-Alaee M, Padda A, Mehrabani V, Churchill L, Pasdar M. The physical interaction of p53 and plakoglobin is necessary for their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion. Oncotarget. 2016;7(18):26898-915.
- 57- Simcha I, Shtutman M, Salomon D, Zhurinsky J, Sadot E, Geiger B, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of beta-catenin and plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1998;141(6):1433-48.

- 58-Salomon D, Sacco PA, Roy SG, Simcha I, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ, Ben-Ze'ev A. Regulation of beta-catenin levels and localization by overexpression of plakoglobin and inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Cell Biol. 1997;139(5):1325-35.
- 59- Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, Del Sal G, Levrero M, Sacchi A, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. J Biol Chem. 2002; 24;277(21):18817-26.
- 60- Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, Levine AJ, Sacchi A, Cesareni G, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. J Biol Chem. 2000; 22;275(38):29503-12.
- 61- Strano S, Blandino G. p73-mediated chemosensitivity: a preferential target of oncogenic mutant p53. Cell Cycle. 2003; 2(4):348-9.

Bibliography

Aberle H, Bierkamp C, Torchard D, Serova O, Wagner T, Natt E, Wirsching J, Heidkämper C, Montagna M, Lynch HT, et al. The human plakoglobin gene localizes on chromosome 17q21 and is subjected to loss of heterozygosity in breast and ovarian cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(14):6384-8.

Abou Zeinab R, Wu H, Sergi C, Leng RP. Residues 240-250 in the C-terminus of the Pirh2 protein complement the function of the RING domain in self-ubiquitination of the Pirh2 protein. PLoS One. 2013; 8, e82803.

Acehan D, Petzold C, Gumper I, Sabatini DD, Müller EJ, Cowin P, Stokes DL. Plakoglobin is required for effective intermediate filament anchorage to desmosomes. J Invest Dermatol. 2008;128(11):2665-75.

Ahmed AA, Etemadmoghadam D, Temple J, Lynch AG, Riad M, Sharma R, Stewart C, Fereday S, Caldas C, Defazio A, Bowtell D, Brenton JD. Driver mutations in TP53 are ubiquitous in high grade serous carcinoma of the ovary. J Pathol. 2010;221(1):49-56.

Ahmed N, Thompson EW, Quinn MA. Epithelial-mesenchymal interconversions in normal ovarian surface epithelium and ovarian carcinomas: an exception to the norm. J Cell Physiol. 2007;213(3):581-8.

Ahn J, Prives C. The C-terminus of p53: the more you learn the less you know. Nat Struct Biol. 2001; 8, 730-2.

Aktary Z, Alaee M, Pasdar M. Beyond cell-cell adhesion: Plakoglobin and the regulation of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):32270-32291.

Aktary Z, Alaee M, Pasdar M. Beyond cell-cell adhesion: Plakoglobin and the regulation

Aktary Z, Chapman K, Lam L, Lo A, Ji C, Graham K, Cook L, Li L, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with and increases the protein levels of metastasis suppressor Nm23-H2 and regulates the expression of Nm23-H1. Oncogene. 2010;29, 2118-29.

Aktary Z, Kulak S, Mackey J, Jahroudi N, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin interacts with the transcription factor p53 and regulates the expression of $14-3-3\sigma$. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 14):3031-42.

Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin represses SATB1 expression and decreases in vitro proliferation, migration and invasion. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e78388.

Aktary Z, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin: role in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Int J Cell Biol. 2012;2012:189521.

Alaee M, Danesh G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin Reduces the invitro Growth, Migration and Invasion of Ovarian Cancer Cells Expressing N-Cadherin and Mutant p53. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0154323.

Alaee M, Padda A, Mehrabani V, Churchill L, Pasdar M. The physical interaction of p53 and plakoglobin is necessary for their synergistic inhibition of migration and invasion. Oncotarget. 2016;7(18):26898-915.

Al-Amoudi A, Castaño-Diez D, Devos DP, Russell RB, Johnson GT, Frangakis AS. The three-dimensional molecular structure of the desmosomal plaque. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(16):6480-5.

Andl CD, Al Moustafa AE, Deramaudt TB, O'Neill GM. Cell adhesion signaling and its impact on tumorigenesis. J Oncol. 2010;2010:257809.

Ando K, Ozaki T, Yamamoto H, Furuya K, Hosoda M, Hayashi S, Fukuzawa M, Nakagawara A. Polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1) inhibits p53 function by physical interaction and phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279, 25549-61.

Araki K, Ebata T, Guo AK, Tobiume K, Wolf SJ, Kawauchi K. p53 regulates cytoskeleton remodeling to suppress tumor progression. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2015; 72, 4077-94.

Arend RC, Londoño-Joshi AI, Straughn JM Jr, Buchsbaum DJ. The Wnt/β-catenin pathway in ovarian cancer: a review. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131(3):772-9.

Auersperg N, Wong AS, Choi KC, Kang SK, Leung PC. Ovarian surface epithelium: biology, endocrinology, and pathology. Endocr Rev. 2001;22(2):255-88.

Aylon Y, Oren M. New plays in the p53 theater. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2011; 21, 86-92.

Baker JM, Boyce FM. High-throughput functional screening using a homemade dual-glow luciferase assay. J Vis Exp. 2014 Jun 1;(88).

Baptiste N, Friedlander P, Chen X, Prives C. The proline-rich domain of p53 is required for cooperation with anti-neoplastic agents to promote apoptosis of tumor cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(1):9-21.

Bast RC Jr, Jacobs I, Berchuck A. Malignant transformation of ovarian epithelium. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1992;84(8):556-8.

Basta-Jovanovic G, Gvozdenovic E, Dimitrijevic I, Brasanac D, Jovanovic M, Kalezic N, Baralic I, Radojevic-Skodric S, Arsic D. Immunohistochemical analysis of gamma catenin in Wilms' tumors. Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2008;27(2):63-70.

Bates S, Vousden KH. p53 in signalling checkpoint arrest or apoptosis. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1996; 6, 12-8.

Baumgart E, Cohen MS, Silva Neto B, Jacobs MA, Wotkowicz C, Rieger-Christ KM, Biolo A, Zeheb R, Loda M, Libertino JA, Summerhayes IC. Identification and prognostic significance of an epithelial-mesenchymal transition expression profile in human bladder tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(6):1685-94.

Bernardini MQ, Baba T, Lee PS, Barnett JC, Sfakianos GP, Secord AA, Murphy SK, Iversen E, Marks JR, Berchuck A. Expression signatures of TP53 mutations in serous ovarian cancers. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:237.

Besnier LS, Cardot P, Da Rocha B, Simon A, Loew D, Klein C, Riveau B, Lacasa M, Clair C, Rousset M, Thenet S. The cellular prion protein PrPc is a partner of the Wnt pathway in intestinal epithelial cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2015;26(18):3313-28.

Bevilacqua G, Sobel ME, Liotta LA, Steeg PS. Association of low nm23 RNA levels in human primary infiltrating ductal breast carcinomas with lymph node involvement and other histopathological indicators of high metastatic potential. Cancer Res. 1989;49(18):5185-90.

Bierkamp C, Mclaughlin KJ, Schwarz H, Huber O, Kemler R. Embryonic heart and skin defects in mice lacking plakoglobin. Dev Biol. 1996;180(2):780-5.

Boissan M, De Wever O, Lizarraga F, Wendum D, Poincloux R, Chignard N, Desbois-Mouthon C, Dufour S, Nawrocki-Raby B, Birembaut P, Bracke M, Chavrier P, Gespach C, Lacombe ML. Implication of metastasis suppressor NM23-H1 in maintaining adherens junctions and limiting the invasive potential of human cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2010;70(19):7710-22.

Boudreau HE, Casterline BW, Burke DJ, Leto TL. Wild-type and mutant p53 differentially regulate NADPH oxidase 4 in TGF- β -mediated migration of human lung and breast epithelial cells. Br J Cancer. 2014;110(10):2569-82.

Bradley RS, Cowin P, Brown AM. Expression of Wnt-1 in PC12 cells results in modulation of plakoglobin and E-cadherin and increased cellular adhesion. J Cell Biol. 1993;123(6 Pt 2):1857-65.

Brady CA, Jiang D, Mello SS, Johnson TM, Jarvis LA, Kozak MM, Kenzelmann Broz D, Basak S, Park EJ, McLaughlin ME, Karnezis AN, Attardi LD. Distinct p53 transcriptional programs dictate acute DNA-damage responses and tumor suppression. Cell. 2011; 145, 571-83.

Brieher WM, Yap AS. Cadherin junctions and their cytoskeleton(s). Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2013;25(1):39-46.

Buchner A, Oberneder R, Riesenberg R, Keiditsch E, Hofstetter A. Expression of plakoglobin in renal cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 1998;18(6A):4231-5.

Cagatay T, Ozturk M. P53 mutation as a source of aberrant beta-catenin accumulation in cancer cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(52):7971-80.

Campo L, Zhang C, Breuer EK. EMT-Inducing Molecular Factors in Gynecological Cancers. Biomed Res Int. 2015; 2015:420891.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature. 2011; 474:609–615.

Cancer Society. [Internet]. Cancer statistics at a glance Canadian; [Cited 2018 January 16]; Available from: <u>http://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-101/cancer-statistics-at-a-glance/?region=on</u>

Cano A, Gamallo C, Kemp CJ, Benito N, Palacios J, Quintanilla M, Balmain A. Expression pattern of the cell adhesion molecules. E-cadherin, P-cadherin and alpha 6 beta 4 intergrin is altered in pre-malignant skin tumors of p53-deficient mice. Int J Cancer. 1996; 65, 254-62.

Capponcelli S, Pedrini E, Cerone MA, Corti V, Fontanesi S, Alessio M, Bachi A, Soddu S, Ribatti D, Picci P, Helman LJ, Cantelli-Forti G, Sangiorgi L. Evaluation of the molecular mechanisms involved in the gain of function of a Li-Fraumeni TP53 mutation. Hum Mutat. 2005;26(2):94-103.

Cerrato A, Fulciniti F, Avallone A, Benincasa G, Palombini L, Grieco M. Beta- and gamma-catenin expression in thyroid carcinomas. J Pathol. 1998;185(3):267-72.

Charpentier E, Lavker RM, Acquista E, Cowin P. Plakoglobin suppresses epithelial proliferation and hair growth in vivo. J Cell Biol. 2000; 149, 503-20.

Chen J. The Cell-Cycle Arrest and Apoptotic Functions of p53 in Tumor Initiation and Progression. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2016 Mar 1;6(3):a026104.

Chen SN, Gurha P, Lombardi R, Ruggiero A, Willerson JT, Marian AJ. The hippo pathway is activated and is a causal mechanism for adipogenesis in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. 2014;114(3):454-68.

Chen YJ, Lee LY, Chao YK, Chang JT, Lu YC, Li HF, Chiu CC, Li YC, Li YL, Chiou JF, Cheng AJ. DSG3 facilitates cancer cell growth and invasion through the DSG3-plakoglobin-TCF/LEF-Myc/cyclin D1/MMP signaling pathway. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e64088.

Chicas A, Molina P, Bargonetti J. Mutant p53 forms a complex with Sp1 on HIV-LTR DNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000; 20;279(2):383-90.

Childs BG, Baker DJ, Kirkland JL, Campisi J, van Deursen JM. Senescence and apoptosis: dueling or complementary cell fates? EMBO Rep. 2014; 15, 1139-53.

Cho EY, Choi Y, Chae SW, Sohn JH, Ahn GH. Immunohistochemical study of the expression of adhesion molecules in ovarian serous neoplasms. Pathol Int. 2006;56(2):62-70.

Chow AY. Cell Cycle Control by Oncogenes and Tumor Suppressors: Driving the Transformation of Normal Cells into Cancerous Cells. Nature Education. 2010; 3(9):7.

Chua KN, Kong LR, Sim WJ, Ng HC, Ong WR, Thiery JP, Huynh H, Goh BC. Combinatorial treatment using targeted MEK and SRC inhibitors synergistically abrogates tumor cell growth and induces mesenchymal-epithelial transition in nonsmall-cell lung carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2015;6(30):29991-30005.

Cicalese A, Bonizzi G, Pasi CE, Faretta M, Ronzoni S, Giulini B, Brisken C, Minucci S, Di Fiore PP, Pelicci PG. The tumor suppressor p53 regulates polarity of self-renewing divisions in mammary stem cells. Cell. 2009;138(6):1083-95.

Clairotte A, Lascombe I, Fauconnet S, Mauny F, Félix S, Algros MP, Bittard H, Kantelip B. Expression of E-cadherin and alpha-, beta-, gamma-catenins in patients with bladder cancer: identification of gamma-catenin as a new prognostic marker of neoplastic progression in T1 superficial urothelial tumors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2006;125(1):119-26.

Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/β-catenin signaling and disease. Cell. 2012;149(6):1192-205.

Collavin L, Lunardi A, Del Sal G. p53-family proteins and their regulators: hubs and spokes in tumor suppression. Cell Death Differ. 2010;17(6):901-11.

Comel A, Sorrentino G, Capaci V, Del Sal G. The cytoplasmic side of p53's oncosuppressive activities. FEBS Lett. 2014; 588, 2600-9.

Concin N, Stimpfl M, Zeillinger C, Wolff U, Hefler L, Sedlak J, Leodolter S, Zeillinger R. Role of p53 in G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in response to gamma-irradiation in ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Int J Oncol. 2003;22(1):51-7.

Corney DC, Flesken-Nikitin A, Choi J, Nikitin AY. Role of p53 and Rb in ovarian cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2008;622:99-117.

Cowin P, Kapprell HP, Franke WW, Tamkun J, Hynes RO. Plakoglobin: a protein common to different kinds of intercellular adhering junctions. Cell. 1986;46(7):1063-73.

Cui J, Zhou X, Liu Y, Tang Z, Romeih M. Wnt signaling in hepatocellular carcinoma: analysis of mutation and expression of beta-catenin, T-cell factor-4 and glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta genes. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18(3):280-7.

Dahlmann M, Kobelt D, Walther W, Mudduluru G, Stein U. S100A4 in Cancer Metastasis: Wnt Signaling-Driven Interventions for Metastasis Restriction. Cancers (Basel). 2016;8(6). pii: E59.

Daraï E, Scoazec JY, Walker-Combrouze F, Mlika-Cabanne N, Feldmann G, Madelenat P, Potet F. Expression of cadherins in benign, borderline, and malignant ovarian epithelial tumors: a clinicopathologic study of 60 cases. Hum Pathol. 1997;28(8):922-8.

Davidson B, Berner A, Nesland JM, Risberg B, Berner HS, Tropè CG, Kristensen GB, Bryne M, Ann Florenes V. E-cadherin and alpha-, beta-, and gamma-catenin protein expression is up-regulated in ovarian carcinoma cells in serous effusions. J Pathol. 2000;192(4):460-9.

Davidson B, Holth A, Hellesylt E, Tan TZ, Huang RY, Tropé C, Nesland JM, Thiery JP. The clinical role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell markers in advanced-stage ovarian serous carcinoma effusions. Hum Pathol. 2015;46(1):1-8.

Davies BR, Worsley SD, Ponder BA. Expression of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin and beta-catenin in normal ovarian surface epithelium and epithelial ovarian cancers. Histopathology. 1998;32(1):69-80.

Depondt J, Shabana AH, Florescu-Zorila S, Gehanno P, Forest N. Down-regulation of desmosomal molecules in oral and pharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas as a marker for tumour growth and distant metastasis. Eur J Oral Sci. 1999;107(3):183-93.

Derycke LD, Bracke ME. N-cadherin in the spotlight of cell-cell adhesion, differentiation, embryogenesis, invasion and signalling. Int J Dev Biol. 2004;48(5-6):463-76.

Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, Zerbini V, Mottolese M, Sacchi A, Blandino G, Piaggio G. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. Cancer Cell. 2006; 10(3):191-202.

Dong P, Xu Z, Jia N, Li D, Feng Y. Elevated expression of p53 gain-of-function mutation R175H in endometrial cancer cells can increase the invasive phenotypes by activation of the EGFR/PI3K/AKT pathway. Mol Cancer. 2009;8:103.

Donzelli S, Fontemaggi G, Fazi F, Di Agostino S, Padula F, Biagioni F, Muti P, Strano S, Blandino G. MicroRNA-128-2 targets the transcriptional repressor E2F5 enhancing mutant p53 gain of function. Cell Death Differ. 2012;19(6):1038-48.

Dusek RL, Attardi LD. Desmosomes: new perpetrators in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(5):317-23.

Dusek RL, Godsel LM, Chen F, Strohecker AM, Getsios S, Harmon R, Müller EJ, Caldelari R, Cryns VL, Green KJ. Plakoglobin deficiency protects keratinocytes from apoptosis. J Invest Dermatol. 2007; 127, 792-801.

Erez N, Bershadsky A, Geiger B. Signaling from adherens-type junctions. Eur J Cell Biol. 2005;84(2-3):235-44.

Espinosa JM, Emerson BM. Transcriptional regulation by p53 through intrinsic DNA/chromatin binding and site-directed cofactor recruitment. Mol Cell. 2001; 8, 57-69.

Faleiro-Rodrigues C, Macedo-Pinto I, Pereira D, Ferreira VM, Lopes CS. Association of E-cadherin and beta-catenin immunoexpression with clinicopathologic features in primary ovarian carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2004;35(6):663-9.

Falini B, Martelli MP, Mecucci C, Liso A, Bolli N, Bigerna B, Pucciarini A, Pileri S, Meloni G, Martelli MF, Haferlach T, Schnittger S. Cytoplasmic mutated nucleophosmin is stable in primary leukemic cells and in a xenotransplant model of NPMc+ acute myeloid leukemia in SCID mice. Haematologica. 2008;93(5):775-9.

Follis AV, Llambi F, Ou L, Baran K, Green DR, Kriwacki RW. The DNA-binding domain mediates both nuclear and cytosolic functions of p53. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2014; 21, 535-43.

Franke WW, Mueller H, Mittnacht S, Kapprell HP, Jorcano JL. Significance of two desmosome plaque-associated polypeptides of molecular weights 75 000 and 83 000. EMBO J. 1983;2(12):2211-5.

Franzen CA, Todorović V, Desai BV, Mirzoeva S, Yang XJ, Green KJ, Pelling JC. The desmosomal armadillo protein plakoglobin regulates prostate cancer cell adhesion and motility through vitronectin-dependent Src signaling. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e42132.

Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. Genes Dev. 2012;26(12):1268-86.

Fridman JS, Lowe SW. Control of apoptosis by p53. Oncogene. 2003; 22, 9030-40.

Frixen UH, Behrens J, Sachs M, Eberle G, Voss B, Warda A, Löchner D, Birchmeier W. E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion prevents invasiveness of human carcinoma cells. J Cell Biol. 1991;113(1):173-85.

Fuchs SY, Adler V, Buschmann T, Yin Z, Wu X, Jones SN, Ronai Z. JNK targets p53 ubiquitination and degradation in nonstressed cells. Genes Dev. 1998; 12, 2658-63.

Fujioka T, Takebayashi Y, Kihana T, Kusanagi Y, Hamada K, Ochi H, Uchida T, Fukumoto M, Ito M. Expression of E-cadherin and beta-catenin in primary and peritoneal metastatic ovarian carcinoma. Oncol Rep. 2001;8(2):249-55.

Gang EJ, Hsieh YT, Pham J, Zhao Y, Nguyen C, Huantes S, Park E, Naing K, Klemm L, Swaminathan S, et al. (2014) Small-molecule inhibition of CBP/catenin interactions eliminates drug-resistant clones in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncogene. 2014; 33, 2169-78.

Garcia PB, Attardi LD. Illuminating p53 function in cancer with genetically engineered mouse models. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2014;27:74-85.

George SH, Shaw P. BRCA and Early Events in the Development of Serous Ovarian Cancer. Front Oncol. 2014;4:5.

Gheldof A, Berx G. Cadherins and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013;116:317-36.

Göhler T, Reimann M, Cherny D, Walter K, Warnecke G, Kim E, Deppert W. Specific interaction of p53 with target binding sites is determined by DNA conformation and is regulated by the C-terminal domain. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 41192-203.

Goldstein I, Marcel V, Olivier M, Oren M, Rotter V, Hainaut P. Understanding wild-type and mutant p53 activities in human cancer: new landmarks on the way to targeted therapies. Cancer Gene Ther. 2011;18(1):2-11.

Golubovskaya VM, Cance W. Focal adhesion kinase and p53 signal transduction pathways in cancer. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2010;15:901-12.

Golubovskaya VM, Cance WG. FAK and p53 protein interactions. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 2011; 11(7):617-9.

Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Cance WG. Direct interaction of the N-terminal domain of focal adhesion kinase with the N-terminal transactivation domain of p53. J Biol Chem. 2005; 280, 25008-21.

Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Kweh F, Massoll NA, Campbell-Thompson M, Wallace MR, Cance WG. p53 regulates FAK expression in human tumor cells. Mol Carcinog. 2008; 47, 373-82.

Golubovskaya VM, Finch R, Zheng M, Kurenova EV, Cance WG. The 7-aminoacid site in the proline-rich region of the N-terminal domain of p53 is involved in the interaction with FAK and is critical for p53 functioning. Biochem J. 2008; 411, 151-60. Gosavi P, Kundu ST, Khapare N, Sehgal L, Karkhanis MS, Dalal SN. E-cadherin and plakoglobin recruit plakophilin3 to the cell border to initiate desmosome assembly. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2011;68(8):1439-54.

Green DR, Kroemer G. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature. 2009; 458, 1127-30.

Grisendi S, Mecucci C, Falini B, Pandolfi PP. Nucleophosmin and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006 Jul;6(7):493-505.

Grugan KD, Vega ME, Wong GS, Diehl JA, Bass AJ, Wong KK, Nakagawa H, Rustgi AK. A common p53 mutation (R175H) activates c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase to enhance tumor cell invasion. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14(9):853-9.

Gu B, Zhu WG. Surf the post-translational modification network of p53 regulation. Int J Biol Sci. 2012;8(5):672-84.

Gurtner A, Starace G, Norelli G, Piaggio G, Sacchi A, Bossi G. Mutant p53-induced up-regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 3 contributes to gain of function. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(19):14160-9.

Ha JH, Shin JS, Yoon MK, Lee MS, He F, Bae KH, Yoon HS, Lee CK, Park SG, Muto Y, Chi SW. Dual-site interactions of p53 protein transactivation domain with anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins reveal a highly convergent mechanism of divergent p53 pathways. J Biol Chem. 2013; 288, 7387-98.

Hakimelahi S, Parker HR, Gilchrist AJ, Barry M, Li Z, Bleackley RC, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin regulates the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL-2. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(15):10905-11.

Hamard PJ, Lukin DJ, Manfredi JJ. p53 basic C terminus regulates p53 functions through DNA binding modulation of subset of target genes. J Biol Chem. 2012; 287, 22397-407.

Han DP, Zhu QL, Cui JT, Wang PX, Qu S, Cao QF, Zong YP, Feng B, Zheng MH, Lu AG. Polo-like kinase 1 is overexpressed in colorectal cancer and participates in the migration and invasion of colorectal cancer cells. Med Sci Monit. 2012; 18, BR237-46.

Harrington KJ, Syrigos KN. The role of E-cadherin-catenin complex: more than an intercellular glue? Ann Surg Oncol. 2000 Dec;7(10):783-8. Review. Erratum in: Ann Surg Oncol 2001;8(2):186.

Harris TJ, Tepass U. Adherens junctions: from molecules to morphogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(7):502-14.

Hatzfeld M. Plakophilins: Multifunctional proteins or just regulators of desmosomal adhesion? Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1773(1):69-77.

Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature. 1997; 387, 296-9.

Hegland DD, Sullivan DM, Rovira II, Li A, Kovesdi I, Bruder JT, Finkel T. Regulation of endothelial cell adherens junctions by a Ras-dependent signal transduction pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;260(2):371-6.

Herbst A, Jurinovic V, Krebs S, Thieme SE, Blum H, Göke B, Kolligs FT. Comprehensive analysis of β -catenin target genes in colorectal carcinoma cell lines with deregulated Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. BMC Genomics. 2014;15:74.

Hermeking H. MicroRNAs in the p53 network: micromanagement of tumour suppression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012; 12, 613-26.

Hoffman AG, Burghardt RC, Tilley R, Auersperg N. An in vitro model of ovarian epithelial carcinogenesis: changes in cell-cell communication and adhesion occurring during neoplastic progression. Int J Cancer. 1993;54(5):828-38.

Hosain SB, Khiste SK, Uddin MB, Vorubindi V, Ingram C, Zhang S, Hill RA, Gu X, Liu YY. Inhibition of glucosylceramide synthase eliminates the oncogenic function of p53 R273H mutant in the epithelial-mesenchymal transition and induced pluripotency of colon cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(37):60575-60592.

Hosono S, Kajiyama H, Terauchi M, Shibata K, Ino K, Nawa A, Kikkawa F. Expression of Twist increases the risk for recurrence and for poor survival in epithelial ovarian carcinoma patients. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(2):314-20.

http://p53.free.fr/

http://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/ovarian-cancer/statistics

Hudson LG, Zeineldin R, Stack MS. Phenotypic plasticity of neoplastic ovarian epithelium: unique cadherin profiles in tumor progression. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2008;25(6):643-55.

Hupp TR, Meek DW, Midgley CA, Lane DP. Regulation of the specific DNA binding function of p53. Cell. 1992;71(5):875-86.

Ilyas M, Tomlinson IP, Rowan A, Pignatelli M, Bodmer WF. Beta-catenin mutations in cell lines established from human colorectal cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997 Sep 16;94(19):10330-4.

Iwai A, Marusawa H, Matsuzawa S, Fukushima T, Hijikata M, Reed JC, Shimotohno K, Chiba T. Siah-1L, a novel transcript variant belonging to the human Siah family of proteins, regulates beta-catenin activity in a p53-dependent manner. Oncogene. 2004;23(45):7593-600.

Jannesari-Ladani F, Hossein G, Monhasery N, Shahoei SH, Izadi Mood N. Wnt5a influences viability, migration, adhesion, colony formation, E- and N-cadherin expression of human ovarian cancer cell line SKOV-3. Folia Biol (Praha). 2014;60(2):57-67.

Jenkins LM, Durell SR, Mazur SJ, Appella E. p53 N-terminal phosphorylation: a defining layer of complex regulation. Carcinogenesis. 2012;33(8):1441-9.

Johnson JL, Najor NA, Green KJ. Desmosomes: regulators of cellular signaling and adhesion in epidermal health and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2014;4(11):a015297.

Kajiyama H, Hosono S, Terauchi M, Shibata K, Ino K, Yamamoto E, Nomura S, Nawa A, Kikkawa F. Twist expression predicts poor clinical outcome of patients with clear cell carcinoma of the ovary. Oncology. 2006;71(5-6):394-401.

Kanazawa Y, Ueda Y, Shimasaki M, Katsuda S, Yamamoto N, Tomita K, Tsuchiya H. Down-regulation of plakoglobin in soft tissue sarcoma is associated with a higher risk of pulmonary metastasis. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(2A):655-64.

Karnovsky A, Klymkowsky MW. Anterior axis duplication in Xenopus induced by the over-expression of the cadherin-binding protein plakoglobin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(10):4522-6.

Kim H, Kim K, Choi J, Heo K, Baek HJ, Roeder RG, An W. p53 requires an intact C-terminal domain for DNA binding and transactivation. J Mol Biol. 2012; 415, 843-54.

Kim K, Park EY, Yoon MS, Suh DS, Kim KH, Lee JH, Shin DH, Kim JY, Sol MY, Choi KU. The Role of TWIST in Ovarian Epithelial Cancers. Korean J Pathol. 2014;48(4):283-91.

Kim NG, Koh E, Chen X, Gumbiner BM. E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(29):11930-5.

Kim W, Kim M, Jho EH. Wnt/ β -catenin signalling: from plasma membrane to nucleus. Biochem J. 2013;450(1):9-21.

Kim YM, Ma H, Oehler VG, Gang EJ, Nguyen C, Masiello D, Liu H, Zhao Y, Radich J, Kahn M. The gamma catenin/CBP complex maintains survivin transcription in β -catenin deficient/depleted cancer cells. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2011;11(2):213-25.

Kim YT, Choi EK, Kim JW, Kim DK, Kim SH, Yang WI. Expression of Ecadherin and alpha-, beta-, gamma-catenin proteins in endometrial carcinoma. Yonsei Med J. 2002;43(6):701-11. Klymkowsky MW, Williams BO, Barish GD, Varmus HE, Vourgourakis YE. Membrane-anchored plakoglobins have multiple mechanisms of action in Wnt signaling. Mol Biol Cell. 1999;10(10):3151-69.

Kodama S, Ikeda S, Asahara T, Kishida M, Kikuchi A. Axin directly interacts with plakoglobin and regulates its stability. J Biol Chem. 1999; 274:27682-8.

Kogan-Sakin I, Tabach Y, Buganim Y, Molchadsky A, Solomon H, Madar S, Kamer I, Stambolsky P, Shelly A, Goldfinger N, Valsesia-Wittmann S, Puisieux A, Zundelevich A, Gal-Yam EN, Avivi C, Barshack I, Brait M, Sidransky D, Domany E, Rotter V. Mutant p53(R175H) upregulates Twist1 expression and promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in immortalized prostate cells. Cell Death Differ. 2011;18(2):271-81.

Kokenyesi R, Murray KP, Benshushan A, Huntley ED, Kao MS. Invasion of interstitial matrix by a novel cell line from primary peritoneal carcinosarcoma, and by established ovarian carcinoma cell lines: role of cell-matrix adhesion molecules, proteinases, and E-cadherin expression. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89(1):60-72.

Kong XT, Gao H, Stanbridge EJ. Mechanisms of differential activation of target gene promoters by p53 hinge domain mutants with impaired apoptotic function. J Biol Chem. 2001; 276, 32990-3000.

Korman NJ, Eyre RW, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR. Demonstration of an adheringjunction molecule (plakoglobin) in the autoantigens of pemphigus foliaceus and pemphigus vulgaris. N Engl J Med. 1989;321(10):631-5.

Kowalczyk AP, Green KJ. Structure, function, and regulation of desmosomes. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013;116:95-118.

Kretzschmar K, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in adult mammalian epithelial stem cells. Dev Biol. 2017;428(2):273-282.

Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH. p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2015;16(7):393-405.

Kruse JP, Gu W. Modes of p53 regulation. Cell. 2009;137(4):609-22.

Kuhn E, Kurman RJ, Shih IM. Ovarian Cancer Is an Imported Disease: Fact or Fiction? Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep. 2012;1(1):1-9.

Kuo KT, Guan B, Feng Y, Mao TL, Chen X, Jinawath N, Wang Y, Kurman RJ, Shih IeM, Wang TL. Analysis of DNA copy number alterations in ovarian serous tumors identifies new molecular genetic changes in low-grade and high-grade carcinomas. Cancer Res. 2009;69(9):4036-42.

Kurman RJ, Shih IeM. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34(3):433-43.

Kurman RJ, Visvanathan K, Roden R, Wu TC, Shih IeM. Early detection and treatment of ovarian cancer: shifting from early stage to minimal volume of disease based on a new model of carcinogenesis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(4):351-6.

Kurman RJ. Origin and molecular pathogenesis of ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. Ann Oncol. 2013;24 Suppl 10:x16-21.

Kurrey NK, K A, Bapat SA. Snail and Slug are major determinants of ovarian cancer invasiveness at the transcription level. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97(1):155-65.

Kyo S, Sakaguchi J, Ohno S, Mizumoto Y, Maida Y, Hashimoto M, Nakamura M, Takakura M, Nakajima M, Masutomi K, Inoue M. High Twist expression is involved in infiltrative endometrial cancer and affects patient survival. Hum Pathol. 2006;37(4):431-8.

Lai YH, Cheng J, Cheng D, Feasel ME, Beste KD, Peng J, Nusrat A, Moreno CS. SOX4 interacts with plakoglobin in a Wnt3a-dependent manner in prostate cancer cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2011; 2011, 12:50.

Lam L, Aktary Z, Bishay M, Werkman C, Kuo CY, Heacock M, Srivastava N, Mackey JR, Pasdar M. Regulation of subcellular distribution and oncogenic potential of nucleophosmin by plakoglobin. Oncogenesis. 2012;1:e4.

Lambert AW, Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis. Cell. 2017;168(4):670-691.

Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R. Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2014;15(3):178-96.

Landen CN Jr, Birrer MJ, Sood AK. Early events in the pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(6):995-1005.

Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature. 1992;358(6381):15-6.

Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature. 1992;358(6381):15-6.

Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA, Liu G, Rao VA, Parant JM, Valentin-Vega YA, Terzian T, Caldwell LC, Strong LC, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell. 2004;119(6):861-72.

Laptenko O, Shiff I, Freed-Pastor W, Zupnick A, Mattia M, Freulich E, Shamir I, Kadouri N, Kahan T, Manfredi J, Simon I, Prives C. The p53 C terminus controls

site-specific DNA binding and promotes structural changes within the central DNA binding domain. Mol Cell. 2015;57(6):1034-46.

Lau MT, Klausen C, Leung PC. E-cadherin inhibits tumor cell growth by suppressing PI3K/Akt signaling via β -catenin-Egr1-mediated PTEN expression. Oncogene. 2011;30(24):2753-66.

Lee DH, Ha JH, Kim Y, Jang M, Park SJ, Yoon HS, Kim EH, Bae KH, Park BC, Park SG, Yi GS, Chi SW. A conserved mechanism for binding of p53 DNA-binding domain and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Mol Cells. 2014; 37, 264-9.

Lee MS, Ha JH, Yoon HS, Lee CK, Chi SW. Structural basis for the conserved binding mechanism of MDM2-inhibiting peptides and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2014; 445, 120-5.

Levav-Cohen Y, Goldberg Z, Tan KH, Alsheich-Bartok O, Zuckerman V, Haupt S, Haupt Y. The p53-Mdm2 loop: a critical juncture of stress response. Subcell Biochem. 2014; 85, 161-86.

Levina E, Oren M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Downregulation of beta-catenin by p53 involves changes in the rate of beta-catenin phosphorylation and Axin dynamics. Oncogene. 2004 May 27;23(25):4444-53.

Levine AJ, Oren M. The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(10):749-58.

Lewis JE, Wahl JK 3rd, Sass KM, Jensen PJ, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ. Crosstalk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1997;136(4):919-34.

Li J, Yu H, Xi M, Ma D, Lu X. The SNAI1 3'UTR functions as a sponge for multiple migration-invasion-related microRNAs. Tumour Biol. 2015;36(2):1067-72.

Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007;46(10):824-38.

Li L, Chapman K, Hu X, Wong A, Pasdar M. Modulation of the oncogenic potential of beta-catenin by the subcellular distribution of plakoglobin. Mol Carcinog. 2007;46(10):824-38.

Li M, Luo J, Brooks CL, Gu W. Acetylation of p53 inhibits its ubiquitination by Mdm2. J Biol Chem.2002; 277, 50607-11.

Li Z, Gallin WJ, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. L-CAM expression induces fibroblastepidermoid transition in squamous carcinoma cells and down-regulates the endogenous N-cadherin. J Cell Sci. 1998;111 (Pt 7):1005-19. Lifschitz-Mercer B, Amitai R, Maymon BB, Shechtman L, Czernobilsky B, Leider-Trejo L, Ben-Ze'ev A, Geiger B. Nuclear localization of beta-catenin and plakoglobin in primary and metastatic human colonic carcinomas, colonic adenomas, and normal colon. Int J Surg Pathol. 2001;9(4):273-9.

Lim SO, Kim H, Jung G. p53 inhibits tumor cell invasion via the degradation of snail protein in hepatocellular carcinoma. FEBS Lett. 2010;584(11):2231-6.

Lin YC, Wu MY, Li DR, Wu XY, Zheng RM. Prognostic and clinicopathological features of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin, beta-catenin, gamma-catenin and cyclin D1 expression in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2004;10(22):3235-9.

Liu G, McDonnell TJ, Montes de Oca Luna R, Kapoor M, Mims B, El-Naggar AK, Lozano G. High metastatic potential in mice inheriting a targeted p53 missense mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(8):4174-9.

Liu J, Stevens J, Rote CA, Yost HJ, Hu Y, Neufeld KL, White RL, Matsunami N. Siah-1 mediates a novel beta-catenin degradation pathway linking p53 to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):927-36.

Lo Muzio L, Staibano S, Pannone G, Grieco M, Mignogna MD, Cerrato A, Testa NF, De Rosa G. Beta- and gamma-catenin expression in oral squamous cell carcinomas. Anticancer Res. 1999;19(5B):3817-26.

Lombardi R, da Graca Cabreira-Hansen M, Bell A, Fromm RR, Willerson JT, Marian AJ. Nuclear plakoglobin is essential for differentiation of cardiac progenitor cells to adipocytes in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. 2011;109(12):1342-53.

Lu S, Jang H, Gu S, Zhang J, Nussinov R. Drugging Ras GTPase: a comprehensive mechanistic and signaling structural view. Chem Soc Rev. 2016;45(18):4929-52.

Lu X, Liu DP, Xu Y. The gain of function of p53 cancer mutant in promoting mammary tumorigenesis. Oncogene. 2013;32(23):2900-6.

Lu YM, Shang C, Ou YL, Yin D, Li YN, Li X, Wang N, Zhang SL. miR-200c modulates ovarian cancer cell metastasis potential by targeting zinc finger E-boxbinding homeobox 2 (ZEB2) expression. Med Oncol. 2014;31(8):134.

Lu ZY, Dong R, Li D, Li WB, Xu FQ, Geng Y, Zhang YS. SNAI1 overexpression induces stemness and promotes ovarian cancer cell invasion and metastasis. Oncol Rep. 2012;27(5):1587-91.

Maddocks OD, Vousden KH. Metabolic regulation by p53. J Mol Med (Berl). 2011;89(3):237-45. doi: 10.1007/s00109-011-0735-5. Review. Erratum in: J Mol Med. 2011;89(5):531.

Maeda O, Usami N, Kondo M, Takahashi M, Goto H, Shimokata K, Kusugami K, Sekido Y. Plakoglobin (gamma-catenin) has TCF/LEF family-dependent transcriptional activity in beta-catenin-deficient cell line. Oncogene. 2004; 23, 964-72.

Masciarelli S, Fontemaggi G, Di Agostino S, Donzelli S, Carcarino E, Strano S, Blandino G. Gain-of-function mutant p53 downregulates miR-223 contributing to chemoresistance of cultured tumor cells. Oncogene. 2014;33(12):1601-8.

Matissek KJ, Mossalam M, Okal A, Lim CS. The DNA binding domain of p53 is sufficient to trigger a potent apoptotic response at the mitochondria. Mol Pharm. 2013; 10, 3592-602.

Matsuzawa SI, Reed JC. Siah-1, SIP, and Ebi collaborate in a novel pathway for beta-catenin degradation linked to p53 responses. Mol Cell. 2001;7(5):915-26.

McCaffrey LM, Macara IG. Epithelial organization, cell polarity and tumorigenesis. Trends Cell Biol. 2011;21(12):727-35.

McEwen AE, Escobar DE, Gottardi CJ. Signaling from the adherens junction. Subcell Biochem. 2012;60:171-96.

McKinney K, Mattia M, Gottifredi V, Prives C. p53 linear diffusion along DNA requires its C terminus. Mol Cell. 2004; 16, 413-24.

Mege RM, Matsuzaki F, Gallin WJ, Goldberg JI, Cunningham BA, Edelman GM. Construction of epithelioid sheets by transfection of mouse sarcoma cells with cDNAs for chicken cell adhesion molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85(19):7274-8.

Mello SS, Attardi LD. Not all p53 gain-of-function mutants are created equal. Cell Death Differ. 2013;20(7):855-7.

Menendez D, Inga A, Resnick MA. The expanding universe of p53 targets. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9, 724-7237.

Merriam JM, Rubenstein AB, Klymkowsky MW. Cytoplasmically anchored plakoglobin induces a WNT-like phenotype in Xenopus. Dev Biol. 1997;185(1):67-81.

Miller RK, Hong JY, Muñoz WA, McCrea PD. Betacatenin versus the other armadillo catenins: assessing our current view of canonical Wnt signalling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2013; 116, 387-407.

Miravet, S., Piedra, J., Miro, F., Itarte, E., Garcia de Herreros, A., and Dunach, M. The transcriptional factor Tcf-4 contains different binding sites for beta-catenin and plakoglobin. J. Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 1884-91.

Molenaar M, van de Wetering M, Oosterwegel M, Peterson-Maduro J, Godsave S, Korinek V, Roose J, Destrée O, Clevers H. XTcf-3 transcription factor mediates beta-catenin-induced axis formation in Xenopus embryos. Cell. 1996;86(3):391-9.

Moll UM, Petrenko O. The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol Cancer Res. 2003;1(14):1001-8.

Moreno V, Gonzalo P, Gómez-Escudero J, Pollán Á, Acín-Pérez R, Breckenridge M, Yáñez-Mó M, Barreiro O, Orsenigo F, Kadomatsu K, Chen CS, Enríquez JA, Dejana E, Sánchez-Madrid F, Arroyo AG. An EMMPRIN-γ-catenin-Nm23 complex drives ATP production and actomyosin contractility at endothelial junctions. J Cell Sci. 2014;127(Pt 17):3768-81.

Morita N, Uemura H, Tsumatani K, Cho M, Hirao Y, Okajima E, Konishi N, Hiasa Y. E-cadherin and alpha-, beta- and gamma-catenin expression in prostate cancers: correlation with tumour invasion. Br J Cancer. 1999;79(11-12):1879-83.

Mukhina S, Mertani HC, Guo K, Lee KO, Gluckman PD, Lobie PE. Phenotypic conversion of human mammary carcinoma cells by autocrine human growth hormone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2004; 101, 15166-71.

Mukhopadhyay UK, Eves R, Jia L, Mooney P, Mak AS. p53 suppresses Srcinduced podosome and rosette formation and cellular invasiveness through the upregulation of caldesmon. Mol Cell Biol. 2009; 29, 3088-98.

Mukhopadhyay UK, Mak AS. p53: is the guardian of the genome also a suppressor of cell invasion? Cell Cycle. 2009;8(16):2481.

Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(1):2-8.

Muller PA, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(1):2-8.

Nagafuchi A, Shirayoshi Y, Okazaki K, Yasuda K, Takeichi M. Transformation of cell adhesion properties by exogenously introduced E-cadherin cDNA. Nature. 1987;329(6137):341-3.

Nagashima H, Okada M, Hidai C, Hosoda S, Kasanuki H, Kawana M. The role of cadherin-catenin-cytoskeleton complex in angiogenesis: antisense oligonucleotide of plakoglobin promotes angiogenesis in vitro, and protein kinase C (PKC) enhances angiogenesis through the plakoglobin signalling pathway. Heart Vessels. 1997; Suppl 12, 110-2.

Nakamura S, Roth JA, Mukhopadhyay T. Multiple lysine mutations in the C-terminal domain of p53 interfere with MDM2-dependent protein degradation and ubiquitination. Mol Cell Biol. 2000; 20, 9391-8.

Nam JS, Ino Y, Sakamoto M, Hirohashi S. Ras farnesylation inhibitor FTI-277 restores the E-cadherin/catenin cell adhesion system in human cancer cells and reduces cancer metastasis. Jpn J Cancer Res. 2002;93(9):1020-8.

Närkiö-Mäkelä M, Pukkila M, Lagerstedt E, Virtaniemi J, Pirinen R, Johansson R, Kosunen A, Lappalainen K, Hämäläinen K, Kosma VM. Reduced gamma-catenin expression and poor survival in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2009;135(10):1035-40.

Navarro P, Lozano E, Cano A. Expression of E- or P-cadherin is not sufficient to modify the morphology and the tumorigenic behavior of murine spindle carcinoma cells. Possible involvement of plakoglobin. J Cell Sci. 1993;105 (Pt 4):923-34.

Nguyen TA, Menendez D, Resnick MA, Anderson CW. Mutant TP53 posttranslational modifications: challenges and opportunities. Hum Mutat. 2014; 35:738-55.

Nie L, Sasaki M, Maki CG. Regulation of p53 nuclear export through sequential changes in conformation and ubiquitination. J Biol Chem. 2007; 282,14616-25.

Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13(12):767-79.

Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling, Disease, and Emerging Therapeutic Modalities. Cell. 2017;169(6):985-999.

Okada H, Danoff TM, Kalluri R, Neilson EG. Early role of Fsp1 in epithelialmesenchymal transformation. Am J Physiol. 1997;273(4 Pt 2):F563-74.

Okegawa T, Li Y, Pong RC, Hsieh JT. Cell adhesion proteins as tumor suppressors. J Urol. 2002;167(4):1836-43.

Okegawa T, Pong RC, Li Y, Hsieh JT. The role of cell adhesion molecule in cancer progression and its application in cancer therapy. Acta Biochim Pol. 2004;51(2):445-57.

Olivier M, Hollstein M, Hainaut P. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;2(1):a001008.

Ozawa M, Kemler R. Molecular organization of the uvomorulin-catenin complex. J Cell Biol. 1992;116(4):989-96.

Papagerakis S, Shabana AH, Depondt J, Pibouin L, Blin-Wakkach C, Berdal A. Altered plakoglobin expression at mRNA and protein levels correlates with clinical outcome in patients with oropharynx squamous carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2004;35(1):75-85.

Parker HR, Li Z, Sheinin H, Lauzon G, Pasdar M. Plakoglobin induces desmosome formation and epidermoid phenotype in N-cadherin-expressing squamous carcinoma cells deficient in plakoglobin and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1998;40(1):87-100.

Pasdar M, Li Z, Chlumecky V. Plakoglobin: kinetics of synthesis, phosphorylation, stability, and interactions with desmoglein and E-cadherin. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton. 1995;32(4):258-72.

Pasdar M, Nelson WJ. Kinetics of desmosome assembly in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells: temporal and spatial regulation of desmoplakin organization and stabilization upon cell-cell contact. II. Morphological analysis. J Cell Biol. 1988;106(3):687-95.

Pećina-Slaus N. Tumor suppressor gene E-cadherin and its role in normal and malignant cells. Cancer Cell Int. 2003;3(1):17.

Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM. The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. J Cell Biol. 1992; 118, 681-91.

Peralta Soler A, Knudsen KA, Tecson-Miguel A, McBrearty FX, Han AC, Salazar H. Expression of E-cadherin and N-cadherin in surface epithelial-stromal tumors of the ovary distinguishes mucinous from serous and endometrioid tumors. Hum Pathol. 1997;28(6):734-9.

Perfettini JL, Kroemer RT, Kroemer G. (2004) Fatal liaisons of p53 with Bax and Bak. Nat Cell Biol. 2004; 6, 386-8.

Perotti A, Sessa C, Mancuso A, Noberasco C, Cresta S, Locatelli A, Carcangiu ML, Passera K, Braghetti A, Scaramuzza D, Zanaboni F, Fasolo A, Capri G, Miani M, Peters WP, Gianni L. Clinical and pharmacological phase I evaluation of Exherin (ADH-1), a selective anti-N-cadherin peptide in patients with N-cadherin-expressing solid tumours. Ann Oncol. 2009;20(4):741-5.

Petitjean A, Mathe E, Kato S, Ishioka C, Tavtigian SV, Hainaut P, Olivier M. Impact of mutant p53 functional properties on TP53 mutation patterns and tumor phenotype: lessons from recent developments in the IARC TP53 database. Hum Mutat. 2007;28: 622-629.

Pfister NT, Fomin V, Regunath K, Zhou JY, Zhou W, Silwal-Pandit L, Freed-Pastor WA, Laptenko O, Neo SP, Bargonetti J, Hoque M, Tian B, Gunaratne J, Engebraaten O, Manley JL, Børresen-Dale AL, Neilsen PM, Prives C. Mutant p53 cooperates with the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex to regulate VEGFR2 in breast cancer cells. Genes Dev. 2015; 15;29(12):1298-315.

Pham N, Lucumi A, Cheung, K and Viadiu H. The Tetramer of p53 in absence of DNA forms a relaxed quaternary structure. Biochemistry. 2012; 51, 8053-55.

Piepenhagen PA, Nelson WJ. Defining E-cadherin-associated protein complexes in epithelial cells: plakoglobin, beta- and gamma-catenin are distinct components. J Cell Sci. 1993;104 (Pt 3):751-62.

Ponnusamy MP, Lakshmanan I, Jain M, Das S, Chakraborty S, Dey P, Batra SK. MUC4 mucin-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition: a novel mechanism for metastasis of human ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene. 2010 Oct 21;29(42):5741-54. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.309. Epub 2010 Aug 9. Erratum in: Oncogene. 2010;29(45):6084.

Provost E, Yamamoto Y, Lizardi I, Stern J, D'Aquila TG, Gaynor RB, Rimm DL. Functional correlates of mutations in beta-catenin exon 3 phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(34):31781-9.

Prowald A, Cronauer MV, von Klot C, Eilers T, Rinnab L, Herrmann T, Spindler KD, Montenarh M, Jonas U, Burchardt M. Modulation of beta-catenin-mediated TCF-signalling in prostate cancer cell lines by wild-type and mutant p53. Prostate. 2007;67(16):1751-60.

Qu J, Li M, An J, Zhao B, Zhong W, Gu Q, Cao L, Yang H, Hu C. MicroRNA-33b inhibits lung adenocarcinoma cell growth, invasion, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition by suppressing Wnt/ β -catenin/ZEB1 signaling. Int J Oncol. 2015;47(6):2141-52.

Quintavalle M, Elia L, Condorelli G, Courtneidge SA. (2010) MicroRNA control of podosome formation in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo and in vitro. J Cell Biol. 2010; 189, 13-22.

Raj N, Attardi LD. The Transactivation Domains of the p53 Protein. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2017;7(1).

Raurell I, Castaño J, Francí C, García de Herreros A, Duñach M. Presenilin-1 interacts with plakoglobin and enhances plakoglobin-Tcf-4 association. Implications for the regulation of beta-catenin/Tcf-4-dependent transcription. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(3):1401-11.

Rennoll S, Yochum G. Regulation of MYC gene expression by aberrant Wnt/β -catenin signaling in colorectal cancer. World J Biol Chem. 2015;6(4):290-300.

Rieber M, Strasberg Rieber M. DN-R175H p53 mutation is more effective than p53 interference in inducing epithelial disorganization and activation of proliferation signals in human carcinoma cells: role of E-cadherin. Int J Cancer. 2009;125(7):1604-12.

Rieger-Christ KM, Ng L, Hanley RS, Durrani O, Ma H, Yee AS, Libertino JA, Summerhayes IC. Restoration of plakoglobin expression in bladder carcinoma cell lines suppresses cell migration and tumorigenic potential. Br J Cancer. 2005; 92, 2153-9.

Roskoski R Jr. Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure, mechanism, and small molecule inhibitors. Pharmacol Res. 2015;94:9-25.

Rousset M, Leturque A, Thenet S. The nucleo-junctional interplay of the cellular prion protein: A new partner in cancer-related signaling pathways? Prion. 2016;10(2):143-52.

Ruiz P, Brinkmann V, Ledermann B, Behrend M, Grund C, Thalhammer C, Vogel F, Birchmeier C, Günthert U, Franke WW, Birchmeier W. Targeted mutation of plakoglobin in mice reveals essential functions of desmosomes in the embryonic heart. J Cell Biol. 1996;135(1):215-25.

Sack U, Walther W, Scudiero D, Selby M, Aumann J, Lemos C, Fichtner I, Schlag PM, Shoemaker RH, Stein U. S100A4-induced cell motility and metastasis is restricted by the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway inhibitor calcimycin in colon cancer cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2011;22(18):3344-54.

Sadot E, Geiger B, Oren M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Down-regulation of beta-catenin by activated p53. Mol Cell Biol. 2001;21(20):6768-81.

Saha T, Kar RK, Sa G. Structural and sequential context of p53: A review of experimental and theoretical evidence. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2015 Mar;117(2-3):250-63.

Saito M, Tucker DK, Kohlhorst D, Niessen CM, Kowalczyk AP. Classical and desmosomal cadherins at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 11):2547-52.

Salani R, Kurman RJ, Giuntoli R 2nd, Gardner G, Bristow R, Wang TL, Shih IM. Assessment of TP53 mutation using purified tissue samples of ovarian serous carcinomas reveals a higher mutation rate than previously reported and does not correlate with drug resistance. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18(3):487-91.

Salomon D, Ayalon O, Patel-King R, Hynes RO, Geiger B. Extrajunctional distribution of N-cadherin in cultured human endothelial cells. J Cell Sci. 1992;102 (Pt 1):7-17.

Salomon D, Sacco PA, Roy SG, Simcha I, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ, Ben-Ze'ev A. Regulation of beta-catenin levels and localization by overexpression of plakoglobin and inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. J Cell Biol. 1997;139(5):1325-35.

Samassekou O, Bastien N, Lichtensztejn D, Yan J, Mai S, Drouin R. Different TP53 mutations are associated with specific chromosomal rearrangements, telomere

length changes, and remodeling of the nuclear architecture of telomeres. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2014;53(11):934-50.

Sampath J, Sun D, Kidd VJ, Grenet J, Gandhi A, Shapiro LH, Wang Q, Zambetti GP, Schuetz JD. Mutant p53 cooperates with ETS and selectively up-regulates human MDR1 not MRP1. J Biol Chem. 2001; 19;276(42):39359-67.

Sawada K, Mitra AK, Radjabi AR, Bhaskar V, Kistner EO, Tretiakova M, Jagadeeswaran S, Montag A, Becker A, Kenny HA, Peter ME, Ramakrishnan V, Yamada SD, Lengyel E. Loss of E-cadherin promotes ovarian cancer metastasis via alpha 5-integrin, which is a therapeutic target. Cancer Res. 2008;68(7):2329-39.

Schackmann RC, Tenhagen M, van de Ven RA, Derksen PW. p120-catenin in cancer - mechanisms, models and opportunities for intervention. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 16):3515-25.

Schäfer G, Narasimha M, Vogelsang E, Leptin M. Cadherin switching during the formation and differentiation of the Drosophila mesoderm - implications for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. J Cell Sci. 2014;127(Pt 7):1511-22.

Schuster N, Götz C, Faust M, Schneider E, Prowald A, Jungbluth A, Montenarh M. Wild-type p53 inhibits protein kinase CK2 activity. J Cell Biochem. 2001;81(1):172-83.

Sechler M, Borowicz S, Van Scoyk M, Avasarala S, Zerayesus S, Edwards MG, Kumar Karuppusamy Rathinam M, Zhao X, Wu PY, Tang K, Bikkavilli RK, Winn RA. Novel Role for γ -Catenin in the Regulation of Cancer Cell Migration via the Induction of Hepatocyte Growth Factor Activator Inhibitor Type 1 (HAI-1). J Biol Chem. 2015;290(25):15610-20.

Shafiei F, Rahnama F, Pawella L, Mitchell MD, Gluckman PD, Lobie PE. DNMT3A and DNMT3B mediate autocrine hGH repression of plakoglobin gene transcription and consequent phenotypic conversion of mammary carcinoma cells. Oncogene. 2008;27(18):2602-12.

Shandilya J, Swaminathan V, Gadad SS, Choudhari R, Kodaganur GS, Kundu TK. Acetylated NPM1 localizes in the nucleoplasm and regulates transcriptional activation of genes implicated in oral cancer manifestation. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29(18):5115-27.

Sharma AK, Ali A, Gogna R, Singh AK, Pati U. p53 Amino-terminus region (1-125) stabilizes and restores heat denatured p53 wild phenotype. PLoS One. 2009; 4, e7159.

Shi D, Gu W. Dual Roles of MDM2 in the Regulation of p53: Ubiquitination Dependent and Ubiquitination Independent Mechanisms of MDM2 Repression of p53 Activity. Genes Cancer. 2012;3(3-4):240-8.

Shibata T, Gotoh M, Ochiai A, Hirohashi S. Association of plakoglobin with APC, a tumor suppressor gene product, and its regulation by tyrosine phosphorylation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1994; 203:519-22.

Shih W, Yamada S. N-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion promotes cell migration in a three-dimensional matrix. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 15):3661-70.

Shiina H, Breault JE, Basset WW, Enokida H, Urakami S, Li LC, Okino ST, Deguchi M, Kaneuchi M, Terashima M, Yoneda T, Shigeno K, Carroll PR, Igawa M, Dahiya R. Functional Loss of the gamma-catenin gene through epigenetic and genetic pathways in human prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65(6):2130-8.

Shimizu H, Burch LR, Smith AJ, Dornan D, Wallace M, Ball KL, Hupp TR. The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2002; 277, 28446-58.

Shiozaki H, Oka H, Inoue M, Tamura S, Monden M. E-cadherin mediated adhesion system in cancer cells. Cancer. 1996;77(8 Suppl):1605-13.

Shtutman M, Zhurinsky J, Oren M, Levina E, Ben-Ze'ev A. PML is a target gene of beta-catenin and plakoglobin, and coactivates beta-catenin-mediated transcription. Cancer Res. 2002;62(20):5947-54.

Silvis MR, Kreger BT, Lien WH, Klezovitch O, Rudakova GM, Camargo FD, Lantz DM, Seykora JT, Vasioukhin V. α -catenin is a tumor suppressor that controls cell accumulation by regulating the localization and activity of the transcriptional coactivator Yap1. Sci Signal. 2011;4(174):ra33.

Simcha I, Geiger B, Yehuda-Levenberg S, Salomon D, Ben-Ze'ev A. Suppression of tumorigenicity by plakoglobin: an augmenting effect of N-cadherin. J Cell Biol. 1996;133(1):199-209.

Simcha I, Shtutman M, Salomon D, Zhurinsky J, Sadot E, Geiger B, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of beta-catenin and plakoglobin. J Cell Biol. 1998;141(6):1433-48.

Slee EA, O'Connor DJ, Lu X. To die or not to die: how does p53 decide? Oncogene. 2004;23(16):2809-18.

So WK, Cheng JC, Fan Q, Wong AS, Huntsman DG, Gilks CB, Leung PC. Loss of Sprouty2 in human high-grade serous ovarian carcinomas promotes EGF-induced E-cadherin down-regulation and cell invasion. FEBS Lett. 2015;589(3):302-9.

Štajduhar E, Sedić M, Leniček T, Radulović P, Kerenji A, Krušlin B, Pavelić K, Kraljević Pavelić S. Expression of growth hormone receptor, plakoglobin and

NEDD9 protein in association with tumour progression and metastasis in human breast cancer. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(7):6425-34.

Stasinopoulos IA, Mironchik Y, Raman A, Wildes F, Winnard P Jr, Raman V. HOXA5-twist interaction alters p53 homeostasis in breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 2294-9.

Stein U, Arlt F, Smith J, Sack U, Herrmann P, Walther W, Lemm M, Fichtner I, Shoemaker RH, Schlag PM. Intervening in β -catenin signaling by sulindac inhibits S100A4-dependent colon cancer metastasis. Neoplasia. 2011;13(2):131-44.

Stein U, Arlt F, Walther W, Smith J, Waldman T, Harris ED, Mertins SD, Heizmann CW, Allard D, Birchmeier W, Schlag PM, Shoemaker RH. The metastasis-associated gene S100A4 is a novel target of beta-catenin/T-cell factor signaling in colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 2006;131(5):1486-500.

Stommel JM, Marchenko ND, Jimenez GS, Moll UM, Hope TJ, Wahl GM. A leucine-rich nuclear export signal in the p53 tetramerization domain: regulation of subcellular localization and p53 activity by NES masking. EMBO J. 1999; 18, 1660-72.

Strano S, Blandino G. p73-mediated chemosensitivity: a preferential target of oncogenic mutant p53. Cell Cycle. 2003; 2(4):348-9.

Strano S, Fontemaggi G, Costanzo A, Rizzo MG, Monti O, Baccarini A, Del Sal G, Levrero M, Sacchi A, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. J Biol Chem. 2002; 24;277(21):18817-26.

Strano S, Munarriz E, Rossi M, Cristofanelli B, Shaul Y, Castagnoli L, Levine AJ, Sacchi A, Cesareni G, Oren M, Blandino G. Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. J Biol Chem. 2000; 22;275(38):29503-12.

Sun Y, Zhang J, Ma L. α-catenin. A tumor suppressor beyond adherens junctions. Cell Cycle. 2014;13(15):2334-9.

Sundfeldt K. Cell-cell adhesion in the normal ovary and ovarian tumors of epithelial origin; an exception to the rule. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2003;202(1-2):89-96.

Suyama K, Shapiro I, Guttman M, Hazan RB. A signaling pathway leading to metastasis is controlled by N-cadherin and the FGF receptor. Cancer Cell. 2002;2(4):301-14.

Sykes SM, Stanek TJ, Frank A, Murphy ME, McMahon SB. Acetylation of the DNA binding domain regulates transcription-independent apoptosis by p53. J Biol Chem. 2009; 284, 20197-205.

Syrigos KN, Harrington K, Waxman J, Krausz T, Pignatelli M. Altered gammacatenin expression correlates with poor survival in patients with bladder cancer. J Urol. 1998;160(5):1889-93.

Tada H, Hatoko M, Tanaka A, Kuwahara M, Muramatsu T. Expression of desmoglein I and plakoglobin in skin carcinomas. J Cutan Pathol. 2000;27(1):24-9.

Tafvizi A, Huang F, Fersht AR, Mirny LA, van Oijen AM. A single-molecule characterization of p53 search on DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2011; 108, 563-8.

Tafvizi A, Huang F, Leith JS, Fersht AR, Mirny LA, van Oijen AM. Tumor suppressor p53 slides on DNA with low friction and high stability. Biophys J. 2008;95(1):L01-3.

Tarabykina S, Griffiths TR, Tulchinsky E, Mellon JK, Bronstein IB, Kriajevska M. Metastasis-associated protein S100A4: spotlight on its role in cell migration. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2007;7(3):217-28.

Tavassoli FA, Devilee P. Tumors of the ovary and peritoneum. Kleihues P, Sobin L, editors. Lyon: France, IARC Press,; Tumors of the Breast and Female Genital Organs. 2003:pp. 113–203.

Terauchi M, Kajiyama H, Yamashita M, Kato M, Tsukamoto H, Umezu T, Hosono S, Yamamoto E, Shibata K, Ino K, Nawa A, Nagasaka T, Kikkawa F. Possible involvement of TWIST in enhanced peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Clin Exp Metastasis 2007; 24: 329-39.

Todorović V, Desai BV, Patterson MJ, Amargo EV, Dubash AD, Yin T, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin regulates cell motility through Rho- and fibronectindependent Src signaling. J Cell Sci. 2010;123(Pt 20):3576-86.

Tokonzaba E, Chen J, Cheng X, Den Z, Ganeshan R, Müller EJ, Koch PJ. Plakoglobin as a regulator of desmocollin gene expression. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(12):2732-2740.

Tsang WP, Ho FY, Fung KP, Kong SK, Kwok TT. p53-R175H mutant gains new function in regulation of doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. Int J Cancer. 2005;114(3):331-6.

Tziortzioti V, Ruebel KH, Kuroki T, Jin L, Scheithauer BW, Lloyd RV. Analysis of beta-catenin mutations and alpha-, beta-, and gamma-catenin expression in normal and neoplastic human pituitary tissues. Endocr Pathol. 2001;12(2):125-36.

Ueda G, Sunakawa H, Nakamori K, Shinya T, Tsuhako W, Tamura Y, Kosugi T, Sato N, Ogi K, Hiratsuka H. Aberrant expression of beta- and gamma-catenin is an

independent prognostic marker in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2006;35(4):356-61.

Valenti F, Ganci F, Fontemaggi G, Sacconi A, Strano S, Blandino G, Di Agostino S. Gain of function mutant p53 proteins cooperate with E2F4 to transcriptionally downregulate RAD17 and BRCA1 gene expression. Oncotarget. 2015;6(8):5547-66.

Vang R, Shih IeM, Kurman RJ. Ovarian low-grade and high-grade serous carcinoma: pathogenesis, clinicopathologic and molecular biologic features, and diagnostic problems. Adv Anat Pathol. 2009;16(5):267-82.

Varelas X. The Hippo pathway effectors TAZ and YAP in development, homeostasis and disease. Development. 2014;141(8):1614-26.

Vaseva AV, Marchenko ND, Moll UM. The transcription-independent mitochondrial p53 program is a major contributor to nutlin-induced apoptosis in tumor cells. Cell Cycle. 2009; 8, 1711-9.

Vestweber D, Kemler R. Some structural and functional aspects of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin. Cell Differ. 1984;15(2-4):269-73.

Vleminckx K, Vakaet L Jr, Mareel M, Fiers W, van Roy F. Genetic manipulation of E-cadherin expression by epithelial tumor cells reveals an invasion suppressor role. Cell. 1991;66(1):107-19.

Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. Cell. 2009;137(3):413-31.

Voutilainen KA, Anttila MA, Sillanpää SM, Ropponen KM, Saarikoski SV, Juhola MT, Kosma VM. Prognostic significance of E-cadherin-catenin complex in epithelial ovarian cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2006;59(5):460-7.

Wagner EF, Nebreda AR. Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009; 9, 537-49.

Wang J, Shou J, Chen X. Dickkopf-1, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway, is induced by p53. Oncogene. 2000;19(14):1843-8.

Wang SP, Wang WL, Chang YL, Wu CT, Chao YC, Kao SH, Yuan A, Lin CW, Yang SC, Chan WK, Li KC, Hong TM, Yang PC. p53 controls cancer cell invasion by inducing the MDM2-mediated degradation of Slug. Nat Cell Biol. 2009; 11, 694-704.

Wang X, Ling MT, Guan XY, Tsao SW, Cheung HW, Lee DT, Wong YC. Identification of a novel function of TWIST, a bHLH protein, in the development of acquired taxol resistance in human cancer cells. Oncogene. 2004;23(2):474-82.

Wang Y, Jin G, Miao H, Li JY, Usami S, Chien S. Integrins regulate VE-cadherin and catenins: dependence of this regulation on Src, but not on Ras. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(6):1774-9.

Wang Y, Yu A, Yu FX. The Hippo pathway in tissue homeostasis and regeneration. Protein Cell. 2017;8(5):349-359.

Wang YL, Zhao XM, Shuai ZF, Li CY, Bai QY, Yu XW, Wen QT. Snail promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and invasiveness in human ovarian cancer cells. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(5):7388-93.

Watcharasit P, Bijur GN, Song L, Zhu J, Chen X, Jope RS. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK3beta) binds to and promotes the actions of p53. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278, 48872-9.

Watcharasit P, Bijur GN, Zmijewski JW, Song L, Zmijewska A, Chen X, Johnson GV, Jope RS. Direct, activating interaction between glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and p53 after DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(12):7951-5.

Wei G, Liu G, Liu X. Identification of two serine residues important for p53 DNA binding and protein stability. FEBS Lett. 003; 543, 16-20.

Weinberg RA. Tumor suppressor genes. Science. 1991;254(5035):1138-46.

Wheelock MJ, Shintani Y, Maeda M, Fukumoto Y, Johnson KR. Cadherin switching. J Cell Sci. 2008;121(Pt 6):727-35.

White P, Aberle H, Vincent JP. Signaling and adhesion activities of mammalian beta-catenin and plakoglobin in Drosophila. J Cell Biol. 1998;140(1):183-95.

Williams BO, Barish GD, Klymkowsky MW, Varmus HE. A comparative evaluation of beta-catenin and plakoglobin signaling activity. Oncogene. 2000; 19:5720-8.

Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Müller EJ. Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. EMBO J. 2006;25(14):3298-309.

Willis A, Jung EJ, Wakefield T, Chen X. Mutant p53 exerts a dominant negative effect by preventing wild-type p53 from binding to the promoter of its target genes. Oncogene. 2004 Mar 25;23(13):2330-8.

Wolff S, Erster S, Palacios G, Moll UM. p53's mitochondrial translocation and MOMP action is independent of Puma and Bax and severely disrupts mitochondrial membrane integrity. Cell Res. 2008;18(7):733-44.

Yi BR, Kim TH, Kim YS, Choi KC. Alteration of epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers in human normal ovaries and neoplastic ovarian cancers. Int J Oncol. 2015;46(1):272-80.

Yim JH, Baek JH, Lee CW, Kim MJ, Yun HS, Hong EH, Lee SJ, Park JK, Um HD, Hwang SG. Identification of HDAC4 as a target of γ -catenin that regulates the oncogenic K-Ras-mediated malignant phenotype of Rat2 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013;436(3):436-42.

Yin T, Getsios S, Caldelari R, Kowalczyk AP, Müller EJ, Jones JC, Green KJ. Plakoglobin suppresses keratinocyte motility through both cell-cell adhesiondependent and -independent mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2005; 102, 5420-5.

Yochum GS, Cleland R, Goodman RH. A genome-wide screen for beta-catenin binding sites identifies a downstream enhancer element that controls c-Myc gene expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2008;28(24):7368-79.

Yonemura S. Cadherin-actin interactions at adherens junctions. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2011;23(5):515-22.

Yu FX, Zhao B, Guan KL. Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer. Cell. 2015;163(4):811-28.

Yuecheng Y, Hongmei L, Xiaoyan X. Clinical evaluation of E-cadherin expression and its regulation mechanism in epithelial ovarian cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2006;23(1):65-74.

Yuli C, Shao N, Rao R, Aysola P, Reddy V, Oprea-Ilies G, Lee L, Okoli J, Partridge E, Reddy ES, Rao VN. BRCA1a has antitumor activity in TN breast, ovarian and prostate cancers. Oncogene. 2007;26(41):6031-7.

Zanconato F, Battilana G, Cordenonsi M, Piccolo S. YAP/TAZ as therapeutic targets in cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2016;29:26-33.

Zeineldin R, Rosenberg M, Ortega D, Buhr C, Chavez MG, Stack MS, Kusewitt DF, Hudson LG. Mesenchymal transformation in epithelial ovarian tumor cells expressing epidermal growth factor receptor variant III. Mol Carcinog. 2006;45(11):851-60.

Zeng J, Liu D, Qiu Z, Huang Y, Chen B, Wang L, Xu H, Huang N, Liu L, Li W. GSK3 β overexpression indicates poor prognosis and its inhibition reduces cell proliferation and survival of non-small cell lung cancer cells. PLoS One. 2014; 9, e91231.

Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(11):1461-1473.

Zhang J, Sun Q, Zhang Z, Ge S, Han ZG, Chen WT. Loss of microRNA-143/145 disturbs cellular growth and apoptosis of human epithelial cancers by impairing the MDM2-p53 feedback loop. Oncogene. 2013; 32, 61-9.

Zhang XP, Liu F, Wang W. Regulation of the DNA damage response by p53 cofactors. Biophys J. 2012;102(10):2251-60.

Zhang Y, Fan N, Yang J. Expression and clinical significance of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α , Snail and E-cadherin in human ovarian cancer cell lines. Mol Med Rep. 2015;12(3):3393-9.

Zhang Y, Yan W, Chen X. Mutant p53 disrupts MCF-10A cell polarity in threedimensional culture via epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(18):16218-28.

Zhao X, Guan JL. Focal adhesion kinase and its signalling pathways in cell migration and angiogenesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2011; 63, 610-5.

Zhu J, Sammons MA, Donahue G, Dou Z, Vedadi M, Getlik M, Barsyte-Lovejoy D, Al-awar R, Katona BW, Shilatifard A, Huang J, Hua X, Arrowsmith CH, Berger SL. Gain-of-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. Nature. 2015 Sep 10;525(7568):206-11.

Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Differential mechanisms of LEF/TCF family-dependent transcriptional activation by beta-catenin and plakoglobin. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(12):4238-52.

Zhurinsky J, Shtutman M, Ben-Ze'ev A. Plakoglobin and beta-catenin: protein interactions, regulation and biological roles. J Cell Sci. 2000; 113:3127-39.